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Our highlights

+ 7.4 million DTH subscribers at 30 June 2004
+ Total revenues increase by 15% to £3,656 million

+ Operating profit before goodwill and exceptional items increases by
65% to £600 million

+ Profit after tax increases by 75% to £322 million

+ Earnings per share before goodwill and exceptional items of
18.3 pence, up 8.1 pence on last year

+ Proposed final dividend payment of 3.25 pence per share, generating
a full year total dividend of 6.0 pence per share

+ Free cashflow of £676 million reduces net debt to £429 million




Chairman’s Statement

“SKY CONTINUES TO DELIVER EXCELLENT OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE. THE RESULTS FOR 2004 SHOWED STRONG GROWTH
IN PROFITABILITY AS A RESULT OF THE GROUP’S HIGHLY SUCCESSFUL
BUSINESS MODEL. WE CONTINUE TO FOCUS ON BUILDING ON OUR
MARKET LEADERSHIP, WHILST ENSURING THAT WE ACHIEVE
ATTRACTIVE RETURNS FOR OUR SHAREHOLDERS.”

@J Lo ki,

Rupert Murdoch, Chairman

Sky had 7.4 million direct-to-home
(“DTH”) subscribers at the end of
June 2004, and continues to attract
new customers to its wide range of
subscription packages. Sky’s DTH
subscribers are highly satisfied with
the breadth and depth of programming
and interactive services on our
platform. The relaunch of the Group’s
brand and a series of new advertising
campaigns are raising awareness of
our products and introducing Sky to

a wider audience. With its high quality
product range, Sky is well positioned
to benefit from the future growth of
multichannel television in the UK

and Ireland.

Sky+ is our most significant new
product since the launch of digital

and its adoption continues to grow.
At the end of June 2004, 397,000 DTH
subscribers had access to the enhanced
control that Sky+ provides over the
television viewing experience. By
increasing customer satisfaction and
providing new revenue streams, our
new products’ strategy is delivering
incremental profitability and new
opportunities for growth. We will
continue to lead the market to provide
the best for our customers.

Offering the best programming is
fundamental to attracting and retaining
subscribers. Through Sky’s own
channels, we are able to invest in the
best sport, movies and entertainment,
reinforcing the message that pay
television offers the best selection and
widest choice of programming available.

During the year, there were a number
of changes to the Company’s Board of
Directors. Tony Ball left his post as Chief
Executive in November 2003. | would
like to thank Tony for the outstanding
performance Sky achieved under his
leadership. James Murdoch was
appointed Chief Executive on 4 November
2003. James was previously Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of Star, News
Corporation’s Asian satellite television
and multi-media service.

In February 2004, Martin Stewart
announced that he would step down as
Chief Financial Officer by &4 August 2004.
Martin joined the Board in 1998 and was
closely involved in the key strategic
decisions taken during Sky’s transition to
digital. On behalf of the Board, | would
like to thank him for his contribution to
Sky and wish him well for the future. On
16 August 2004, Jeremy Darroch will

join the Group as Chief Financial Officer
from Dixons Group plc, where he was
Group Finance Director.

On 14 November 2003, the Company
announced that it had established an

ad hoc committee of the Board chaired
by Lord Wilson of Dinton to examine all
relevant corporate governance codes and
statutory obligations, and their impact
on the processes of the Board and
composition of its Committees. Following
the conclusion of the Committee’s review,
all of its recommendations were
approved by the Board unanimously on
15 June 2004. The recommendations
approved by the Board included an
increase in the number of independent
Non-Executive Directors, who will

form a majority of the Board, and
changes to the composition of Board
committees, including the Audit and
Remuneration Committees, which are
now composed entirely of independent
Non-Executive Directors.

Lord Jacob Rothschild was appointed
to the new position of Non-Executive
Deputy Chairman and Senior
Independent Director on 17 November
2003. Following Philip Bowman'’s
retirement from the Board, Allan

Leighton replaced him as Chairman of
the Audit Committee. John Thornton
resigned as a Non-Executive Director
of the Company on 11 May 2004.
Nicholas Ferguson was appointed as
an independent Non-Executive Director
of the Company with effect from 15 June
2004. Andy Higginson will also join

the Board as an independent Non-
Executive Director with effect from

1 September 2004.

These appointments and the
implementation of the Committee’s
recommendations represent a clear
strengthening of the Board and its
committees, demonstrating Sky’s
commitment to embrace best practice
in corporate governance.

In a year of change, it is testament

to the strength and depth of Sky’s
management that the progress towards
achieving the Group’s targets has
continued unabated. | would like to
thank all of our staff for their continued
support in building long-term value

for shareholders.

3 August 2004
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BECOMING A LEADING PLAYER IN DIGITAL TELEVISION IN THE UK HAS REQUIRED
SUBSTANTIAL INVESTMENT FROM OUR SHAREHOLDERS. IT°S NOW TIME TO BUILD
ON OUR CURRENT POSITION AND PROVE THE SAYING THAT “THE MORE YOU PUT

IN, THE MORE YOU GET OUT.”

200%™

INCREASE IN SKY+ SUBSCRIBERS SINCE RELAUNCH

INNOVATE/OUTCLASS

16.4%

OPERATING MARGIN BEFORE GOODWILL AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

ur products and s s the driving force behind Sky’s growth. New technology
hIp g subscribers to gtth b st value from our pr gammlgnewc ustomer service
fault ing that we can continue to outclass our competitors and innovative
programming continues to set Sky’s channels apart. We set ourselves tough targets, but, as a
= result of our innovation and drive, we continue to meet them. In March 2004, we reached the
- . l:-': L -_—_l_ Sky+ target we had set for the end of the financial year and, at the end of June 2004, we had
LT o I‘ —— | reached 397,000 Sky+ subscribers.
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450+

CHANNELS

INSPIRE/OUTSHINE

Sky’s programming is fast-paced, topical and popular. We are always looking to acquire the
best for our subscribers to reward their loyalty. Sky delivers the best in sport; the widest
choice of movies; entertainment shows that break new ground; and it puts viewers on the front
line for breaking news. As a result of this we are now outshining the competition on all fronts.
Sky News is acknowledged as the leader in 24-hour news coverage. The Sky Sports channels
have seen a significant increase in their viewing share, and Sky One is consistently the most
popular non-terrestrial channel in the UK.

10,000,000

SUBSCRIBER TARGET IN 2010

INVEST/OUTPERFORM

We continue to invest across our business to reach our full potential. We are the leading digital

television service in the UK and Ireland and we continue to outperform against expectations.
We have laid the foundations to grow an even bigger, even better Sky. We still have a long way
to go and we’re looking forward to the journey.
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Operating and Financial Review

“SKY IS BRITAIN’S LEADING ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY. ALTHOUGH
STILL YOUNG, REACHING ONLY ITS FIFTEENTH BIRTHDAY IN FEBRUARY
THIS YEAR, IT HAS GROWN FROM SMALL BEGINNINGS TO BECOME
THE MOST POPULAR PROVIDER OF PAY TELEVISION SERVICES IN

BRITAIN AND IRELAND.”

TS

James Murdoch, Chief Executive Officer

The 2004 financial year has been another busy period at Sky.
The Company has reached a number of significant operational
and financial milestones, including the achievement in
September 2003 of our previous subscriber target of seven
million DTH customers, some three months early.

The Company has also now completed
its transition from the investment
phase that started when we launched
the digital service, to a new phase

of superior financial health, as
demonstrated by a second straight year
of profit on ordinary activities after
taxation, up 75% year-on-year.

Thanks to the hard work and dedication
of the executive management team and
all of Sky’s employees, the financial and
operational position of the business
today is extremely robust. Total revenues
for the twelve months ending 30 June
2004 increased by 15% year-on-year,
to £3,656 million. Meanwhile, total
operating costs before goodwill and
exceptional items increased by only
8% to £3,056 million, generating an
operating profit before goodwill and
exceptional items of £600 million. The
operating profit margin before goodwill
and exceptional items was 16.4%, up
from 11.4% in the comparable period,
and the Company generated free
cashflow of £676 million, reducing

net debt to £429 million.

The next phase of our growth will
capitalise on this extraordinary position.
We have now laid out a new strategy to
build on this robust foundation, which
will ensure the long-term durability

of the business, together with strong
growth and sustained cashflow
generation going forward.

In 2004 my colleagues and | have
focused our attention on the means by
which Sky can achieve its full potential,
and on the nature of that potential in a
changing and dynamic marketplace.

We believe that, in the long-term, pay
television penetration will reach around
80% of UK television households. With
pay television penetration of households
in the UK and Ireland at 43% at 30 June
2004, we believe that a further 10 million
homes will take pay television services
over time. This view of the market
potential is supported by evidence from

other television markets, particularly the
US; by the Government's stated intention to
“switch off” analogue terrestrial television
in the next six to eight years; by other
technological advances and enhancements,
such as the development of the Personal
Video Recorder (“PVR”) and high definition
television; and, importantly, by the
attractive profile of consumers who have
yet to switch to pay television in the UK.
We are very well placed to benefit from
this potential growth.

Given the size of the potential opportunity,
our focus will be on raising the rate of
subscriber growth by addressing the
key barriers to consumer take-up.

We have several initiatives in place to
address these barriers, including the
reintroduction of the Sky brand;
emphasising the broad range of entry
points to pay television; and continued
disciplined investment in “must-see”
programming. We are focused on both
new things to do, and on doing better
what we already do well.

We are confident that these initiatives
will deliver improved subscriber and
turnover growth, and will drive
shareholder value by creating a highly
profitable business with greater scale
in the longer term.

In addition, our financial strategy will be
consistent with our desire to maintain
an investment grade credit rating and
retain financial flexibility going forward.
We also expect the financial strategy to
include returns to shareholders in
addition to the ordinary dividend that
was resumed earlier this year.

Following the development of our
strategy, we have set out our new
targets for the business, and the vision
for the business that those targets will
help us achieve. We believe we can have
over 10 million DTH subscribers in
2010, six years out, and furthermore,
that the mix of our customers, in terms
of what they buy from us, will be
exceedingly attractive.
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Driven by innovation

Our Sky+ subscriber target

was reached three months

early and there are now

397,000 Sky+ subscribers.
Sy

The business, its objectives and its strategy

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc (the
“Company”, “BSkyB”) and its subsidiaries
(“Sky”, the “Group”) operate the leading
pay television broadcasting service in
the United Kingdom (“UK”) and Ireland,
deriving revenues from television
broadcasting services and certain
ancillary functions, which are provided

to both retail and wholesale customers.

Sky is an established and widely-
recognised brand, with a reputation for
offering choice, quality and innovation.
Sky operates and distributes 26 wholly-
owned channels via its digital service
and retails a further 104 third party
channels to DTH viewers. In addition

to this, Sky operates the Sky Box Office
service (“SB0”), which provides pay-per-
view services covering films, sporting
events and concerts.

Sky’s main objective is to maximise value
for shareholders by focusing on profitable
growth in subscribers to its digital pay

television services in the UK and Ireland.

Sky has established a series of key
operational and financial targets, which
ensure focus on certain priorities that will
drive the business to achieve its main
objective. These are as follows:

+ Continued expansion of the DTH

subscriber base

Sky looks to achieve this expansion in
two main ways: through the acquisition
of new DTH subscribers, and through
the maintenance of a low churn rate.
Sky is on track to reach its target of 8
million DTH subscribers by December
2005 and has announced a new target
of 10 million DTH subscribers in 2010.

Maintaining churn at a low rate is a key
component of maximising the return
Sky makes on its investment in customer
acquisition. Sky’s customer relationship
management (“CRM”) centres, principally
based in Scotland, play a key role in

One of the lowest rates of pay television churn
in the world demonstrates the customer loyalty
generated by Sky’s high quality products.

1%

Our rate of churn

achieving this priority. The CRM centres
deal with the handling of orders from
subscribers, the establishment and
maintenance of subscriber accounts,
the invoicing and collection of revenue,
and telemarketing and customer
services. These activities, together
with a high level of customer service,
allow the centres to play a key role,
both in customer acquisition and
customer retention.

Maintenance of subscriber quality

Sky continues to develop the
programming and other services

it offers on the Sky digital platform,
resulting in high satisfaction and
perception of “value for money”.

The financial return on an incremental
subscriber is a function of the revenue,
direct costs and expected duration of
the subscription. Sky manages its product
portfolio and supplier relationships to
ensure that it can achieve an attractive
return, regardless of the tier of
programming chosen. Sky expects

to continue to invest in subscriber
acquisition, including the cost of
subsidising set-top boxes, adjusting the
value of such subsidies according to the
profile of new groups of subscribers.

Investment in programming
Investment in attractive programming
is a key factor in generating the
subscription revenues that make up
79% (2003: 80%) of Sky’s total
revenue and, here, Sky’s strategy is to
acquire exclusive and premium pay
television rights for films, live sporting
events and for other general
entertainment programming.

Growing the popularity of Sky’s
channels

Sky’s channels generate significant
advertising revenues for the Group
and contribute to the appeal of the
Sky digital platform. Sky One remains
the UK’s most watched non-terrestrial

channel; together with Sky One Mix,
which was launched in December
2002, it has a viewing share of 1.7%.
Sky News has a reputation for
impartial, authoritative and up-to-the
minute coverage of breaking news.
As the universe of multichannel homes
has grown, Sky’s channels have been
able to grow their share of the UK
television advertising market, and Sky
expects this trend to continue.

Innovation in products and services
Sky has a strong track record of
innovation and operates in a highly
competitive environment, which is
reliant on technology that is subject
to rapid change and development.
Sky therefore looks to invest and
adapt in order to remain competitive,
and keeps under review emerging
technologies for the distribution of
entertainment content and for the
provision of new services to Sky’s
subscriber base.

Sky has successfully introduced new
products and services such as Sky+
and Multiroom subscriptions, which
continue to increase in popularity.
Sky will launch an enhanced version
of Sky+ in October 2004, offering
around 160GB of storage capacity
and extra connectivity through two
USB ports. This will further Sky’s

goal of introducing a wider range

of hardware and service options for
subscribers, tailored to different needs.
Sky has set targets for Multiroom
penetration of 30% of DTH subscribers
in 2010 and Sky+ penetration of 25%
of DTH subscribers in 2010.

Sky’s DTH customers also have access
to Sky Active and a range of other digital
interactive services. These services
include betting, games-playing,
shopping, interactive programming,
interactive advertising and telephony-
based services, such as voting.

+ Investment in infrastructure to support
subscriber growth
In order to support its growth strategy,
the Group intends to invest in the
following programmes:

CRM - The Group intends to continue
the programme of work started in
2002, to maintain its first-class customer
service which is fundamental to the
future of the business.

Property - The Group intends to invest
in a property programme to ensure
that its Osterley campus is a flexible,
efficient and environmentally-friendly
place to work, and fully scalable with
the long-term growth and expansion
of the business.

Advanced Technology Centre - The
Group is currently building this facility
as the final part of its business continuity
programme to mitigate further any
single points of failure in its Broadcast
Network.

Increased contact and training facilities
- The Group has identified the need
to increase capacity at its call centres
to service future subscriber growth.
The Group is also planning to build a
new training centre for its customer-
facing staff, that will help keep
customer service standards at the
forefront of the industry.

The capital expenditure on these
projects is expected to total £450
million, which will be incurred over
the next four years, in addition

to core capital expenditure which

is expected to remain at around
£100 million annually.
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Operating and Financial Review

continued

OVERVIEW Sky has delivered another year of strong
financial results, producing its second full year of positive
earnings since the launch of Sky digital. This has been driven
by double-digit revenue growth and strong operational
gearing. Total revenues for the twelve months ending 30 June
2004 (“the year”) increased by 15% over the twelve months
to 30 June 2003 (“the comparable period”) to £3,656 million.
Total operating costs before goodwill and exceptional items
increased by 8% to £3,056 million, generating an operating
profit before goodwill and exceptional items of £600 million.
The operating profit margin before goodwill and exceptional
items was 16.4%, up from 11.4% in the comparable period.

Profit after tax increased by £138 million to £322 million.
Earnings per share before goodwill and exceptional items
was 18.3 pence, representing an increase of 79% on the
comparable period.

Operating review

At 30 June 2004, the total number of
DTH digital satellite subscribers in the UK
and Ireland was 7,355,000, representing
a net increase of 510,000 subscribers

on the comparable period. The mix of
packages taken by subscribers continues
to be weighted towards premium
packages, with 52.4% of all DTH
subscribers taking the top tier Sky World
package at the end of the year, a decline
of just one percentage point from the
level of 53.4% at 30 June 2003.

The total number of households in the
UK and Ireland receiving one or more
Sky channels increased to over 14 million
in the year. This was driven by DTH
growth, a small increase in the number
of households subscribing to a television
service via cable, and an increase in the
number of households receiving the
Freeview, free-to-air (“FTA”) digital
terrestrial channels, as FTA-only homes
continued to replace analogue with
digital reception equipment.

Sky announced on 9 June 2004 that it
will be introducing a free satellite service
offering access to almost 200 television
and radio channels, and interactive
services, to be available later this year,
without a monthly subscription fee.
Consumers will be able to purchase

DTH SUBSCRIBERS
Million

02

TOTAL REVENUE
£ million

02

OPERATING MARGIN
Before goodwill and exceptional items

6.7%
11.4%

16.4%

a package of reception equipment,
including viewing card and professional
installation, directly from Sky for a cost
of approximately £150. This offers an
easy upgrade path to a Sky subscription
for viewers who choose subsequently to
add a pay television service to their
viewing options.

DTH churn for the year stands at 9.7%.
Annualised average revenue per DTH
subscriber (“ARPU”) was £380 in the
last quarter, an increase of £14 on the
same quarter last year. The Group
expects the next increase in ARPU to
take place during the second quarter of
the 2005 financial year as a result of the
recently announced changes in UK and
Ireland retail pricing, which start to
become effective from September 2004.

The number of Sky+ households
continued to grow strongly, increasing
by 292,000 to reach 397,000. Sky+
continues to drive new subscribers to
Sky, with 22% of new Sky+ customers
in the last quarter being new to Sky
digital. The growth in Sky+ penetration
continues to drive the uptake of the
Multiroom product, with the number
of households taking two or more
digiboxes increasing from 165,000 to
293,000 in the year.
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Top: Interior of Sky+ mobile service unit with people using
Sky+ terminals

Sky is promoting awareness of Sky+ through innovative
mobile showrooms featuring a rear walk-in section with
live Sky+ terminals. These tour the country at major
events and exhibitions, allowing consumers to experience
the benefits of Sky+ by sampling its features hands on.

Bottom: Sky News

Sky News was awarded the contract to produce five News
output from 2005. It was, for the third year running, the
RTS News Channel of the year, with a unanimous verdict
from RTS judges: “None of Britain‘s other 24 hour news
channels yet matched the winner, who had continued to
innovate in their coverage of the war and elsewhere and,
as a news channel, remains - simply the best”.

“Sky digital continues to offer the widest
choice in multichannel television in the

UK and Ireland.”

OPERATING PROFIT
Before goodwill and exceptional items (£ million)

CHURN RATE
Year to date

02 10.5%
03 9.4%
9.7%

Programming

Multichannel television’s combined
share of total television audience
continues to grow, increasing by 9%
over the previous year to 26% in the
last quarter and overtaking BBC1's
share (25%) for the first time ever,
according to viewing figures from

the Broadcasters’ Audience Research
Board (“BARB”) at 30 June 2004.
Despite the intense competition in the
last quarter from one-off events on
terrestrial channels, the viewing share
of Sky channels across all UK television
homes has been maintained comfortably
above 6%.

Sky Sports enjoyed another strong year,
with an 11% increase in viewing share
across UK television homes over the
comparable period.

The 2004/05 football season, which
starts in August 2004, will be the most
televised on Sky Sports, with viewers
offered over 450 live matches. With

the commencement of new Football
Association Premier League broadcast
contracts, Sky Sports will now show 88
live games from the Barclays Premiership,
up from 66, and an additional 50 live
Premiership games, up from 40, will

be offered on the pay-per-view service,
PRemPLUs. A new interactive service,
Football First, will offer one match per
week in full on a delayed basis plus
extended highlights of every match played
that day. Sky digital viewers can choose

9%

COVERAGE

which game they watch through the
interactive service, Sky Sports Active.

Sky Movies’ viewing share for the year
was 3.4% in multichannel homes. Over
the Easter weekend the multi-start
premiere of ‘Harry Potter and the
Chamber of Secrets’ achieved a total
audience of over 900,000 viewers.
Following the success of shows from the
US such as ‘Nip/Tuck’ and ‘24, Sky One
continues to add unique programming
with the HBO production, ‘Deadwood’,
to be launched exclusively on Sky One
in September 2004, and ‘Battlestar
Galactica’. Significant one-off events
continue to differentiate Sky One, with
‘Rebecca Loos - My Story’ attracting 1.7
million viewers in April; the climax of
David Blaine’s ‘Above the Below’, where
he was suspended over the River Thames
in a perspex box, attracting over 2 million
viewers in August; and an episode of
‘The Simpsons’ featuring Tony Blair also
attracting over 1 million viewers.

Sky was awarded the contract to supply
five with its news service in March 2004,
and Sky News launched a dedicated
news service for Ireland on 10 May
2004. At the Royal Television Society
Journalism Awards in February 2004,
Sky News was named News Channel of
the Year for the third successive year
and won an innovation award for its
coverage of the Hutton Inquiry and the
Soham trial.

SKY HAS COMPREHENSIVE REACH ACROSS THE UK AND
IRELAND. 99% OF HOUSEHOLDS FALL WITHIN THE
FOOTPRINT OF SKY’S DIGITAL SATELLITE SERVICES,
MORE THAN ANY OTHER DIGITAL TELEVISION SERVICE.
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Operating and Financial Review

continued

M Sheoe

Martin Stewart, Chief Financial Officer

“Total revenues grew by 15% on the
comparable period to £3,656 million.”

ANALYSIS OF TURNOVER
2004

DTH subscribers  73%
Advertising 9%
Interactive 8%
Cable subscribers 6%
Other 4%

ANALYSIS OF OPERATING EXPENSES, NET
2004

Programming 56%
Marketing 13%
Subscriber 12%
management

4 Administration 8%

5 Betting 6%

6 Transmission & 5%
related functions

Financial Review

Turnover Total revenues grew by 15%
on the comparable period to £3,656
million, reflecting continued growth in
the average number of DTH subscribers,
the second successive year of double-
digit advertising revenue growth, and
higher interactive revenues.

DTH revenues for the year increased
by 14% from £2,341 million for the
comparable period to £2,660 million.
This was principally due to the 10%
growth in the average number of DTH
subscribers and the 4% increase in
average DTH revenue per subscriber.

Advertising revenue continued to
outperform the advertising market,
increasing by 10% on the comparable
period to £312 million, principally due
to growth of 6% in the Group’s share of
total UK advertising revenue. The Group
remains confident of outperforming UK
advertising market growth for the
remainder of this calendar year.

Cable wholesale revenues increased to
£215 million for the year, an increase of
6% on the comparable period. This was
mainly attributable to the one-off receipt
of audit monies from ntl and increases
to the average revenue per subscriber
resulting from changes to wholesale
pricing from January 2004.

Total interactive revenues, which
includes both Sky Active revenues
and betting revenues, increased by
41% to £307 million.

Sky Active revenues increased by 15%
on the comparable period to £116 million.
This was due to a combination of increases
in retail revenues through SkyBuy, third
party betting, revenues from interactive
advertising, premium rate telephony
revenues and platform access fees paid
by third party broadcasters and interactive
service providers.

SkyBet revenues increased by 63% on
the comparable period to £191 million,
driven mainly by the 85% increase in
the total number of bets placed across
all platforms. Consequently, betting
costs, which include payouts, duty,
levies and taxes, increased by £67
million to £175 million.

Programming costs Programming costs
for the year increased by £107 million
on the comparable period to £1,711
million. Gross margin (total revenues
less total programming costs) for the
year increased to 53.2% from 49.7%
in the comparable period.

Sports costs, which accounted for 75%
of the total increase in programming
costs, grew by £80 million to £803
million, driven by contractual increases
in rights costs and the addition of UEFA
Champions League football this year.

A decrease in movie costs of £4 million
on the comparable period to £393 million
reflected continued weakness of the

US dollar and therefore a favourable
movement in the average rate at which
the Group was able to purchase dollars
versus the comparable period. These
savings were partially offset by increased
subscriber volumes and pricing increases
in certain studio contracts.

Third party channel costs increased by
£9 million on the comparable period
to £360 million. Increases due to the
10% increase in the volume of DTH
subscribers and new channels added
to the platform were partially offset
by savings resulting from contractual
renegotiations as the Group renewed
carriage deals with MTV, Nickelodeon,
Paramount, Music Choice, E4, Film Four
and Eurosport.

Entertainment and News costs increased
by £22 million on the comparable period
to £155 million. This was mainly due to
re-evaluation of entertainment programme
stock balances during the year, which
resulted in the acceleration of certain
amortisation charges totalling £17 million,
in accordance with the Group’s policy in
respect of programme stock accounting.
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Professional Installation

Sky’s professional installers carried out over
800,000 installations this financial year, with
each installation taking about two hours on
average. The average lead time between
booking and installation is nine days.

“Gross margin for the
year has increased
to 53.2%.”

%
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Other operating costs Marketing costs
for the year were £396 million, a decrease
of £4 million on the comparable period.
This decrease was predominantly driven
by a £22 million reduction in acquisition
marketing costs to £256 million, due to
lower set-top box unit prices and fewer
installations. Retention marketing also
decreased by £2 million on the comparable
period to £32 million. These decreases
were partly offset by increased above-
the-line expenditure, up £10 million on
the comparable period to £49 million,
and other marketing costs up £10 million
to £59 million, as a result of the Sky+
and programming campaigns which
have been run this year. Average
subscriber acquisition costs (“SAC”)
remained around £200 for the year.

Subscriber management costs, which
include CRM costs, supply chain costs,
and associated depreciation, increased
by £47 million on the comparable
period to £371 million. Supply chain
costs, including the cost of goods sold
in respect of Sky+ and Multiroom set-
top boxes, represent 70% of the increase,
reflecting the strong growth in Sky+
customers during the year. Also included
within supply chain costs is the cost

of stock for SkyBuy, the Group’s retail
operation, which increased by £12
million in the year. CRM costs represent
19% of the increase in subscriber
management costs, but the CRM cost
per subscriber has declined by 3%.
Depreciation costs increased by £5
million on the comparable period,
mainly due to increased depreciation

in respect of CRM assets.

Transmission and related costs increased
by £3 million on the comparable period
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to £146 million. Administration costs
before goodwill and exceptional items
increased by £14 million on the
comparable period to £257 million,
due mainly to increased technology and
facilities costs and costs resulting from
increased compliance obligations.

Goodwill Goodwill amortisation decreased
by £2 million on the comparable period
to £119 million. This was primarily due
to the £5 million provision made in the
comparable period against goodwill
which originally arose on the acquisition
of OPTA Index Limited.

Exceptional items Total exceptional items
for the year amounted to a net credit of
£75 million. This consists of a £49 million
profit on disposal of the Group’s 20%
shareholding in QVC (UK); a profit on
disposal of £2 million and a provision
release of £33 million relating to the
Group’s sale of its 9.9% shareholding in
Manchester United plc; partly offset by a
£9 million provision against the Group’s
remaining football club investments.

Joint ventures and associates The Group’s
share of the net operating losses of joint
ventures and associates before goodwill
increased to £5 million in the year. This
mainly reflects a one-off write down of
£11 million by attheraces (“ATR”) in
respect of capitalised infrastructure
costs and media rights prepayments.

On 30 April 2004, Sky and Arena Leisure
plc acquired Channel 4’s shares and loan
notes in ATR, increasing the Group’s
shareholding to 50%. At the same time,
the shareholder loans were capitalised,
giving rise to negative goodwill of £11
million which was immediately released

million

SKY’S DTH SUBSCRIBER BASE HAS GROWN
FROM 6.8 MILLION TO 7.4 MILLION IN THE
COURSE OF THE YEAR.

to the profit and loss account. The
remaining joint ventures’ goodwill
amortised during the year principally
relates to goodwill that arose from the
purchase of a 50% stake in Artsworld
in December 2003.

Interest Total net interest payable for
the year decreased by £33 million on the
comparable period to £81 million as

a result of the lower level of indebtedness.
On 29 June 2004, a £200 million tranche
of the Group’s revolving credit facility
(“RCF”) which was undrawn at this date,
matured in accordance with its terms,
leaving total available facilities going
forward of £600 million. This £600
million facility, which was also undrawn
as at 30 June 2004, is due to mature in
March 2008.

Taxation The total net tax charge for
the period of £158 million includes

a current tax charge of £127 million

and a deferred tax charge of £34 million,
offset by a £3 million net adjustment in
respect of prior years. Excluding the
effect of goodwill, joint ventures and
exceptional items, the Group’s underlying
effective tax rate on ordinary activities
was 30% during the period.

After removing the effect of deferred tax,
the Group’s share of joint ventures’ tax
and prior year adjustments, the mainstream
corporation tax liability for the period
was £124 million. After utilising all the
Group’s remaining Advanced Corporation
Tax, this was reduced to £70 million. At
30 June 2004, £35 million had been paid,
with the balance of £35 million due for
payment by 31 December 2004.
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Operating and Financial Review

continued

Left: Sky Talent Search

Sky Talent Search is Sky’s original initiative to develop internal
talent and discover future television presenters from its own
employees. From over 300 applicants, 12 were selected by a
panel of presenters and producers to go on a professional
four-day presenting course. Three of the Talent Search Stars
will win a one-off slot on a Sky programme.

Right: Sky’s training schemes

Sky is committed to the continuous development of its
employees so that everyone has the skills and knowledge
to undertake their current and future roles. This is achieved
through the provision of tailored training and personal
development opportunities for all employees at all stages
of their careers.

£600...

OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE GOODWILL
AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS INCREASES
BY 65% TO £600 MILLION.

Earnings The profit after tax for the
year was £322 million. Earnings per
share before goodwill and exceptional
items was 18.3 pence compared to 10.2
pence (restated for the application of
Urgent Issues Task Force abstract 38
“Accounting for ESOP trusts”) for the
comparable period. At 30 June 2004,
the total number of shares outstanding
was 1,941,712,786.

Cashflow Earnings before interest,

tax, depreciation and amortisation
(“EBITDA”) before exceptional items
increased by 52% on the comparable
period to £702 million. With an additional
£180 million of cash inflow, principally
from a £182 million movement in
working capital due to the unwinding
of programming prepayments, the
timing of DTH revenue collection and
the timing of payments to third party
channels and movie studios, the Group
generated an operating cash inflow

of £882 million. This represents the
conversion of 147% of operating profit
before goodwill and exceptional items
to operating cash inflow. After taking
into account cash outflows, principally
comprising capital expenditure of £132
million; net interest payments of £82
million; tax paid of £58 million (which
includes £20 million relating to the 2003
financial year and £3 million consortium
relief); dividends paid to shareholders in
April 2004 of £53 million; and one-off
receipts from the sale of the Group’s
shareholdings in QVC (UK) (£49 million),
Manchester United plc (£62 million) and
Chelsea Village plc (E6 million), the
Group reduced net debt by £676 million,
from £1,105 million at 30 June 2003 to
£429 million at 30 June 2004.

Dividend In light of the Group’s
continued strong cashflow generation,
the Board proposes a final dividend of
3.25 pence per share, payable on 19
November 2004 to shareholders on the
register on 29 October 2004, subject to
approval of shareholders at the Annual
General meeting in November 2004.
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6 PENCE PER SHARE

RESUMPTION OF DIVIDEND PAYMENTS

Balance sheet

Financing

The Group’s principal source of liquidity
is its operating cashflow. Long-term
funding comes primarily from its US
dollar and sterling-denominated public
bond debt, together with its £600 million
RCF, each of which is described below.

+ Guaranteed notes
During the current and prior year
the Group had in issue the following
publicly-traded guaranteed notes:

USS$650 million of 8.200% Guaranteed
Notes, repayable in July 2009. At the
time of issuing these notes, the US
dollar proceeds were swapped into
pounds sterling (£413 million) at an
average fixed rate of 7.653% payable
semi-annually. In December 2002,
March 2003 and July 2003, the Group
entered into further swap arrangements
relating to £64 million of this debt,
the effect of which was to fix the
interest rate on £64 million at 5.990%
until January 2004, after which time
it reverted to floating six months LIBOR
plus a margin of 2.840%, except that
should LIBOR be less than 2.750% for
the period January to July 2004, 2.890%
for the period July 2004 to January
2005, or 2.990% thereafter, the
effective rate shall be deemed to

be 7.653%. In order to increase its
exposure to floating rates, in August
2003, the Group entered into another
interest rate hedging arrangement in
respect of a further £64 million of the
above-mentioned debt, the effect of
which was that, from July 2003 until
July 2009, the Group will pay floating
six months LIBOR plus a margin of
2.818% on a further £64 million of
its swapped debt, except that should
LIBOR be less than 2.750% for the
period January to July 2004, or less
than 2.990% thereafter, the Group
shall revert back to 7.653%. At 30 June
2004, none of the floor levels had been
breached, therefore the Group continues
to pay the relevant floating rates.

£100 million of 7.750% Guaranteed
Notes, repayable in July 2009. The
fixed coupon is payable annually. In
March 2004, the Group entered into
an interest rate swap arrangement in

respect of £50 million of this debt,
whereby the previously fixed rate of
7.750% was swapped to a floating
rate of LIBOR plus a margin of 2.050%
from July 2004 to July 2005. On 9 July
2005, and every 9 July thereafter, the
counterparty has the right, but not
the obligation, to cancel this swap,
returning the Group to its previous
fixed rate of 7.750%.

USS$600 million of 6.875% Guaranteed
Notes, repayable in February 2009. At
the time of issuing these notes, the US
dollar proceeds were swapped into
pounds sterling (£367 million) at an
average fixed rate of 8.200%, payable
semi-annually. In July 2003, the Group
entered into a further interest rate
hedging arrangement in respect of
£61 million of this swapped debt. The
effect of this new hedging arrangement
was that, from July 2003 until February
2009, the Group will pay floating six
months LIBOR plus a margin of 3.490%
on £61 million of its swapped debt.
However, at each six monthly reset
date, the counterparty to this
transaction has the right to cancel

the transaction with immediate effect.
In October 2003, the Group entered
into a further interest rate hedging
arrangement in respect of a further
£61 million of this swapped debt,

the effect of which was to reduce the
rate payable to 7.950% for the period
August 2003 to February 2004.
Thereafter, until August 2006, the
rate payable is 7.950% plus any margin
by which the floating six monthly LIBOR
reset rate exceeds the sum of the previous
reset rate plus 0.500%. Thereafter,
the rate reverts to a fixed 8.180%.

US$300 million of 7.300% Guaranteed
Notes repayable in October 2006. At
the time of issuing these notes, the
Group entered into swap transactions
to convert the dollar proceeds to pounds
sterling (£189 million), half of which
carries a fixed rate of interest of 8.384%
until maturity, payable semi-annually.
The remainder was fixed at 7.940%
until 15 April 2002, thereafter floating
at 0.620% over six months LIBOR,
again payable semi-annually. In respect
of this remaining floating exposure,
on 16 January 2002, the Group entered

into a further interest rate hedging
arrangement to fix the rate at 6.130%
from 15 April 2002, payable semi-
annually for the remainder of the life
of the notes.

+ Revolving credit facility
At 30 June 2004, the £600 million
facility was undrawn and was available
for general corporate purposes. Under
the terms of the facility, interest was
fixed at 1.125% per annum above
LIBOR until June 2004, and thereafter
accrues at a margin between 0.600%
and 1.125% per annum above LIBOR,
depending on the Group’s ratio of net
debt to EBITDA, provided that the rate
does not fall below 0.700% per annum
prior to March 2006. The facility has
a maturity date of March 2008.

At 30 June 2004, the ratio of net debt

to EBITDA was 0.6 (2003: 2.4). Interest
cover (the ratio of EBITDA to net interest
payable) was 8.7 (2003: 4.1). The Group
currently expects these ratios to continue
to improve.

Both the bank facilities and the publicly-
traded guaranteed notes have been entered
into by the Company and guaranteed by
British Sky Broadcasting Limited and Sky
Subscribers Services Limited.

Fixed and current assets

Intangible assets decreased by £119
million, from £536 million to £417
million, due to the amortisation of
goodwill. Intangible assets comprise
the goodwill that arose on the
acquisitions of British Interactive
Broadcasting Holdings Limited (“BiB”),
Sports Internet Group plc (“SIG”) and
WAPTV Limited (“WAPTV”).

Tangible fixed assets increased in the
year by £30 million, mainly due to
£133 million of additions, including
investment in CRM and new premises,
partly offset by depreciation of £102
million and a disposal of £1 million.
Assets in the course of construction
increased by £72 million in the year,
mainly due to the investment in CRM.
Fixed asset investments decreased by
£42 million, mainly due to the sale of
the Group’s investment in Manchester
United plc and a further provision

against the Group’s minority investments
in football clubs of £9 million.

Net assets increased by £242 million,
principally caused by increased cash held,
partly offset by continued amortisation
of goodwill and the final proposed
dividend.

The Group anticipates issuing and serving
a claim in the near future for a material
amount against an information and
technology solutions provider, which
had provided services to the Group as
part of the Group’s investment in CRM
software and infrastructure. The amount
that will be recovered by the Group will
not be finally determined until resolution
of the claim.

Reserves

On 10 December 2003, the High Court
approved a reduction in the Company’s
share premium account of £1,120 million,
resulting in the elimination of the
Company’s deficit on its profit and loss
account of £1,106 million, and creating
a non-distributable special reserve of
£14 million, which represents the excess
of the share premium reduction over
the deficit.

A new Employee Share Ownership Plan
(“ESOP”) reserve has been created
following the adoption of UITF 38, when
a prior year adjustment was made as at
30 June 2003 to reclassify £35 million
from fixed asset investments to the new
ESOP reserve. During the year, the ESOP
reserve has decreased by £5 million,
due to the exercise of £27 million
executive share options, partly offset by
the purchase of £22 million additional
ESOP shares.

Treasury policy and risk management
The Group’s treasury function is
responsible for raising finance for the
Group’s operations, together with
associated liquidity management, and
the management of foreign exchange,
interest rate and counterparty risks.
Treasury operations are conducted
within a framework of policies and
guidelines authorised and reviewed by
both the Audit Committee and the Board,
who receive regular updates of treasury
activity. Derivative instruments are
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Operating and Financial Review

continued

transacted for risk management purposes
only. It is the Group’s policy that all
hedging is to cover known risks and that
no trading in financial instruments is
undertaken. Regular and frequent reporting
to management is required for all
transactions and exposures, and the
internal control environment is subject
to periodic review by the Group’s internal
audit team and by the Treasury Committee.
The Group’s principal market risks are
its exposures to changes in interest rates
and currency exchange rates, which arise
both from the Group’s sources of finance
and from its operations. Following
evaluation of those positions, the Group
selectively enters into derivative financial
instruments to manage these exposures.
The principal instruments used are interest
rate swaps and swaptions to hedge
interest rate risks, forward rate
agreements to hedge transactional
currency exposures and cross-currency
interest rate swaps to hedge exposures
on long-term foreign currency debt.

Interest rate management The Group
has financial exposures to both sterling
and US dollar interest rates, arising
primarily from bank borrowings and
long-term bonds. These exposures are
managed by borrowing at fixed rates
of interest and by using interest rate
swaps to adjust the balance between
fixed and floating rate debt. All of the
Group’s dollar-denominated debt has
been swapped to sterling, using cross-

EARNINGS PER SHARE

[ pence

currency swap arrangements, which,

in addition to the translation of the
principal amount of the debt to sterling,
also provide for the exchange, at
regular intervals, of fixed-rate amounts
of dollars for fixed-rate amounts of
sterling. All of the Group’s debt
exposure is denominated in sterling
after cross-currency swaps are taken
into account; at 30 June 2004, the split
of aggregate borrowings into their core
currencies was US dollar 90% and
sterling 10% (30 June 2003: US dollar
84% and sterling 16%). The Group
also enters into sterling interest rate
swap and swaption arrangements,
which provide for the exchange, at
specified intervals, of the difference
between fixed rates and variable rates,
calculated by reference to an agreed
notional sterling amount. The fair value
of interest rate and cross-currency
swaps held as of 30 June 2004 was
approximately £105 million against
the Group’s favour (30 June 2003:

£7 million in the Group’s favour).

The Group is also exposed to floating
interest rates under its RCFs. At 30 June
2004, the RCFs were not drawn upon
(30 June 2003: RCFs represented 7%
of the Group’s total debt). 77% of the
Group’s total debt at 30 June 2004 is
fixed-rate after taking account of

interest rate swaps (30 June 2003: 93%).

To ensure continuity of funding, the
Group’s policy is to secure funding that

EPS BEFORE GOODWILL AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

INCREASES BY 79% TO 18.3 PENCE

Sky One

The UK’s leading non-terrestrial
entertainment channel. ‘Rebecca
Loos - My Story’ drew over 1.7
million viewers in April 2004, the
climax of David Blaine’s ‘Above
the Below’ attracted over two
million viewers in August 2003,
and an episode of ‘The Simpsons’,
featuring Tony Blair, attracted
over 1 million viewers.

matures over a period of years. At 30
June 2004, 31% of the Group’s available
funding was due to mature in more
than five years (30 June 2003: 47%).

Currency exchange rates The Group’s
revenues are substantially denominated
in sterling, although a significant proportion
of operating costs is denominated in US
dollars. In the year to 30 June 2004, 14%
of operating costs (£439 million) were
denominated in US dollars (30 June
2003: 15%; £424 million). These costs
relate mainly to the Group’s long-term
programming contracts with US suppliers.

The Group currently manages its

US dollar/sterling exchange rate risk
exposure by the purchase of forward
foreign exchange agreements for up

to 18 months ahead. All forward rate
agreements are in respect of firm
commitments only, and represent
approximately 80% (30 June 2003:
90%) of dollar-denominated costs over
the relevant 18-month period.

At 30 June 2004, the Group had outstanding
commitments to purchase in aggregate
US$705 million at average rates of
USS$1.62 to £1.00. Although these financial
instruments can mitigate the effect of
short-term fluctuations in exchange rates,
there can be no completely effective
hedge against long-term currency
fluctuations. The Group’s primary Euro
exposure arises as a result of revenues

generated from subscribers in Ireland.
These Euro-denominated revenues are
offset to a certain extent by Euro-
denominated costs, relating mainly to
certain transponder rentals, the net
position being a Euro surplus.

During the year, surplus Euros were
exchanged for sterling on currency spot
markets. In the twelve months to 30 June
2004, Euro 15 million (2003: Euro 59
million) was exchanged at spot rates for
sterling. A further Euro 122 million has
been retained to meet obligations under
forward foreign exchange contracts for
the purchase of Swiss francs (see below).

The Group has purchased the programming
rights to certain UEFA Champions League
football matches until the end of the
2005/06 season. Payments in respect
of these rights are made pursuant to
the contract in Swiss francs, which
means that the Group will be exposed
to the Swiss franc/sterling exchange
rate. In line with the Group's policy of
limiting foreign exchange transactions
to fixed price instruments, 90% of this
exposure (CHF 100 million) has been
hedged via the use of forward contracts
for the exchange of Euros and sterling
for Swiss francs. Since 30 June 2004 all
of this exposure has been hedged.
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Risk identification and management
Management continues to develop

and review its processes for the
identification and management of
business risks. Examples of the risks
facing the business include: the highly
competitive environment in which

the Group operates, which is subject
to rapid technological change; reliance
on technology which is subject to
obsolescence, change and development;
changes in the broadcasting,
telecommunications and competition
regulatory environment, primarily in
the UK and the European Community;
reliance on intellectual property and
proprietary rights; reliance on a limited
number of customers to generate
wholesale revenues; and the financial
and other obligations imposed upon
the Group in a number of long-term
agreements and/or other arrangements.

The Group mitigates these risks as far
as possible through a number of risk
management processes. These include
a Risk Management Committee, chaired
by the Chief Financial Officer and
comprising senior executives. The
Committee meets at least four times a
year to review the adequacy of systems
and procedures controlling risks
throughout the business. In addition,
the Audit Committee monitors and
reviews the effectiveness of the internal
audit and risk management function.

Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards Following a
Regulation issued by the Council of the
European Union, the Group, along with
all European Union listed groups, is
required to adopt International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) in the
preparation of its consolidated financial
statements from 1 July 2005. The
adoption of these standards will lead
to significant changes in the Group’s
accounting policies, results, and the
presentation of its financial statements,
which are currently in accordance with
UK generally accepted accounting
principles (“UK GAAP”).

£882...

NET OPERATING CASH INFLOW INCREASES BY
33% TO £882 MILLION

In 2003, the Group established an IFRS
transition steering committee, comprising
the Chief Financial Officer, senior finance
management and an independent
adviser. The Committee is responsible
for monitoring the progress of a dedicated
transition working group, for decision-
making, and for reporting to the Audit
Committee in relation to the transition.
The working group is undertaking an
extensive analysis of the impact of IFRS
across the Group, with the objective

of ensuring full compliance with IFRS by
1 July 2005. Implementation plans are
in progress to modify procedures, systems
and controls as necessary. Training of
the Group’s finance function in IFRS
commenced in 2004, and the Group has
been active in responding to public
consultation documents issued by bodies
including the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”), the Accounting
Standards Board and the Securities and
Exchange Commission on issues relating
to the mandatory transition of European
listed groups to IFRS.

Several uncertainties remain which
affect the Group’s ability to assess the
impact of IFRS, including whether the
European Union will endorse the IFRS
relating to financial instruments IAS 32
“Financial Instruments - Disclosure and
Presentation” and IAS 39 “Financial
Instruments - Recognition and
Measurement” and whether the IASB
and other related bodies will issue new
or revised standards which will either
be mandatory for the Group’s 30 June
2006 financial statements, or which the
Group could adopt early voluntarily.
However, based on the Group’s initial
assessment, the key changes to the
Group’s accounting policies as a result
of the adoption of IFRS are expected to
be in the following areas:

+ Intangible assets
IAS 38 “Intangible assets” provides
more detailed guidance on intangible
assets than UK GAAP, which may
result in the reclassification of certain
costs into intangible assets, including
software development costs which
are currently included within tangible
fixed assets within the Group’s
balance sheet.

+ Financial instruments and hedge
accounting
The Group uses cross-currency and
interest rate swaps and swaptions,
and forward purchases of US dollars
and Swiss francs to hedge its foreign
currency and interest rate exposures.
Under UK GAAP, these financial
instruments are not recognised on
the balance sheet, however, under
IFRS, the Group will be required to
recognise its derivative financial
instruments on the balance sheet at
fair value, with changes in fair value
being recognised in the profit and
loss account. Where hedge accounting
is achieved under IAS 39, the profit
and loss impact of the changes in fair
value may be postponed and matched
to the profit and loss account impact
of the underlying hedged exposure.
The Group does not see a requirement
to change its current hedging policy
as a result of the new requirements
for achieving hedge accounting under
IAS 39 and expects to be able to
achieve hedge accounting for the
majority of its financial instruments.

+

Share-based payments

Under current UK GAAP, the Group
recognises a charge in the profit

and loss account for its Long Term
Incentive Plan (“LTIP”), Equity Bonus
Plan (“EBP”) and Key Contributor
Plan (“KCP”) based on the difference
between the exercise price of the
award and the price of a BSkyB share
on the date of grant (the “intrinsic
value”). Under IFRS 2 “Share-based
payment”, the Group will be required
to recognise a charge in the profit
and loss account for all share options
and awards based on the fair value of
the awards as calculated at the grant
date using an option-pricing model.
This will introduce an additional cost
for the Group, as Executive Scheme
options, which have an intrinsic value
of nil, and Sharesave scheme options,
which are specifically exempt from the
scope of current UK GAAP accounting,
will have a fair value attached to
them, and hence an associated profit
and loss account charge under IFRS.
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GUELH™S BEFHDAY HOSMOURS HEADURES:

+ Goodwill
Under UK GAAP, the Group amortises
goodwill on a straight-line basis over
periods of up to 20 years. Under
IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”,
goodwill will no longer be amortised
and will instead be subject to annual
impairment testing. This will remove
the cost of goodwill amortisation from
the Group’s profit and loss account,
although impairment losses, if identified,
would be recorded in the profit and
loss account.

This list should not be taken as a
comprehensive or complete indication
of the impacts that the adoption of IFRS
may have on the Group’s financial
statements, but it is indicative of the
major adjustments to its financial reporting
that the Group has identified to date.

Corporate responsibility

Corporate responsibility at Sky is about
making the Group successful and
responsible, flexible to market requirements
as well as to the expectations of our
stakeholders. Following the publication
of our first corporate responsibility
report in September 2003, the Group
has continued to work to address its
responsibilities to its customers and
employees, to the environment, in our
supply chain and to the local and national
communities in which it operates.

In October 2003, the Board appointed

a Non-Executive Director to chair a newly-
created steering committee on corporate
responsibility. The steering committee,
which includes the Chief Executive Officer,
senior executives and Non-Executive
Directors, is tasked with setting the
vision, values and reviewing the
achievement of corporate responsibility
goals for the Group. In order to take
account of social and environmental
risks, the Group developed its first
corporate responsibility risk register

in April 2004. Community investment,
through the flagship initiative ‘Reach for
the Sky’, continues to demonstrate the
Group’s commitment to young people

reaching their full potential. The Reach
for the Sky initiative was awarded a
Business in the Community Award for
Excellence from the Department of Trade
and Industry (“DTI”) for its innovative
use of the power of the brand to
increase young people’s participation in
education and learning.

Full details of Sky's corporate responsibility
activity are available in a separate
document (Corporate Responsibility
Review 2004) and on the web at
www.sky.com/responsibilities.

Employees

The Group’s aim is to provide a
stimulating working environment and
support diversity within the workplace,
to recognise the new ideas and
dedication individuals bring to their
roles and to seek their views on how
to support their aspirations at Sky.
During the financial year, the average
number of full-time equivalent
employees of the Group increased

by 4% to 9,500.

In order to develop employees’ skills
and knowledge, to motivate them in
their roles and enable them to meet the
Group’s business objectives, the Group’s
training and development policy aims
to integrate learning within the work
environment; to develop the skills of
employees and provide them with the
knowledge to undertake their current
and future roles; to promote self-
development as a responsibility of every
individual; to support employees during
training and development in line with
the needs of the business; and to motivate
employees by providing them with
personal development opportunities.

The Group aims to achieve this through
a number of methods, including a corporate
induction programme, workplace training,
coaching and professional updates, internal
and external training and development
courses, and continuous self-development
support from heads of departments and
the Human Resources department.

The Sky Forum, a panel of Sky staff elected

by Sky staff, was launched in July 2004.
70 Forum Members will represent 48
constituencies across Sky’s businesses,
locations and work patterns. The ballot
process is being managed independently
by The Electoral Reform Society.

Forum Members will help the Group
to achieve its business objectives by
creating an effective channel for
dialogue, involving people from all
levels and locations in the business.
In addition to discussing how the Group
can make Sky a better place to work,
the Group will also be consulting
members on issues such as health
and safety, training and development
and work practices. In this way, the
Sky Forum continues the good work
of the previous Sky Speakers and
Employee Forum initiatives.

In addition to the learning and
development opportunities within the
Group, the Group aims to incentivise
and motivate its employees through
benefits such as an Inland Revenue-
approved sharesave scheme, a Give-As-
You-Earn Scheme, the BSkyB Pension
Plan, complimentary Sky+ standard
installation and digital subscriptions,
a healthcare plan and an occupational
health department.

Employee share option schemes

The Group manages its risk in respect
of certain employee share option schemes
through a dedicated Employee Share
Ownership Plan, which purchases the
Company’s shares in the open market
from time to time. The accounting
policies in respect of market risk
sensitive instruments are disclosed

in the financial statements in notes

1 and 20.

3 August 2004

Left: Signing on Sky Sports

Sky has received recognition for its disability strategy,
at the Business In The Community (“BiTC”) Awards
for Excellence 2004. The BiTC Realising Ability Award
went to the Sky Disability Strategy, for its work in
promoting understanding of disability issues and
providing dedicated services for disabled customers.
Right: PDA device (mobile field force technology)
used by installers

Sky has rolled out an integrated PDA and mobile
phone device to all of its installers as one of its
initiatives to improve information management.
Installers’ productivity is increased as the PDA is
continuously updated with installation booking
details and last minute changes as they occur.

“Corporate responsibility
at Sky is about making
the Group flexible to
market requirements
and to the expectations
of its stakeholders.”
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Innovation, programming and content

OUR PRODUCTS GREAT NEW TECHNOLOGY, MORE CHOICE THAN EVER
BEFORE, INVESTMENT IN QUALITY ORIGINAL PROGRAMMING, ACCESS
TO THE BIGGEST MOVIES, AWARD-WINNING NEWS COVERAGE AND
THE PLACE TO WATCH SPORT ON TV. OUR PRODUCT NEVER STANDS
STILL, BECAUSE OUR CUSTOMERS WANT THE BEST.
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Innovation, programming and content

NEWS

In the past 15 years, Sky News - Europe’s first 24-hour news broadcaster -
has changed the face of UK news broadcasting by creating an expectation
among viewers of seeing breaking news live.

SKY NEWS AUDIENCE PROFILE
Jan-June 2004

Sky News
Total TV

s [l e

Source: BARB

Sky Newvs first

Valued for its fairness, balance and
journalistic objectivity by both viewers
and regulators, the award-winning
channel has earned a reputation for the
speed and flexibility of its coverage.

Throughout the year, Sky News performed
strongly and, for the third year running,
was named RTS News Channel of the
Year. At a time which saw all the 24-
hour TV news channels striving to raise
their game, the RTS judges felt, “none
yet matched the winner who had
continued to innovate in their coverage
of the war and elsewhere and, as a news
channel, remains - simply the best!”

Sky News also won the RTS Innovation
Award for both its Hutton Inquiry coverage,
which used actors to provide daily
reconstructions of the proceedings, and
its near instantly-aired transcripts of the
Soham trial - a television first. The RTS
judges said Sky News’ solutions

“A pioneering service of 24-hour core
news with interactive spin-offs.”

Patricia Hodgson Former Chief Executive of the Independent Television
Commission, ‘Broadcasting and Democracy’ speech, November 2003

130,000

FOR THE PAST 15 YEARS, SKY NEWS HAS

PROVIDED MORE THAN 130,000 HOURS
OF UP-TO-THE-MINUTE GLOBAL NEWS
COVERAGE AND EXPERT IMPARTIAL ANALYSIS.

All TV viewing figures sourced from BARB
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to the problem of covering judicial
proceedings, where cameras are banned,
were both “radical and imaginative.”

The awards underline Sky News’ reputation
for both breaking news and innovation.
Other innovations introduced this year
include the SkyCopter, a helicopter which
allows the Sky News team to cover major
stories where scale is important. It was
used to great effect at last year’s Notting
Hill Carnival, to cover the England Rugby
Team’s homecoming parade, and by
presenter Kay Burley to report, in a single
day, from various UK cities as part of
Sky News’ Budget coverage. Sky News’
fleet of satellite trucks has been adapted
to receive pictures from the SkyCopter.

In addition, Sky News opened a new
bureau in India in January, underlining
its commitment to international coverage.
The bureau, headed up by Sky News’
Richard Bestic, covers breaking news
across the Indian sub-continent, from

Breaking News

With bulletins every
hour, 24-hours a day,
Sky News keeps
viewers around the
world fully informed.

Pakistan, to India, to Bangladesh. Earlier
this year, presenter Lisa Aziz and award-
winning correspondent, David Chater,
broadcast live from Mecca and Jeddah
on the Hajj, bringing viewers the most
comprehensive coverage ever shown by a
non-Muslim broadcaster of the largest
religious ceremony in the world.

On 10 May, Sky News launched a new
service for Ireland. Sky News Ireland,
anchored by Grainne Seoige, provides
two nightly bulletins of news for Ireland.
The output is also carried on a loop on
Sky News Active, allowing viewers in
both the UK and Ireland to catch up on
Irish news.

Last autumn, Sky News’ Westminster
studio and gallery at Millbank were
revamped into state-of-the-art facilities
from which set piece events, news
coverage and ‘Sunday with Adam
Boulton’, are broadcast.
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In March, Sky News was awarded the
contract to supply five with its news

service beginning on 1 January 2005, AWAR D
the first time that Sky News will supply

a full news service to an analogue

terrestrial broadcaster. RTS AWARD JUDGES: SKY NEWS

“AS A NEWS CHANNEL, REMAINS

. SIMPLY THE BEST!”
As well as a dedicated team of 60

reporters, producers and technicians,
the service will include access to Sky
News’ existing 24-hour operation,
including five regional bureaux and

the seven international bureaux in
Washington, Moscow, Jerusalem, Beijing,
Johannesburg, Brussels and Delhi. News
anchor Kirsty Young will continue to
present five’s flagship bulletins at 17.30
and 19.00 but from a purpose-built,
state-of-the-art studio at Sky News’
base in West London.

The five contract, combined with both

Sky News’ continuing innovations and Hutton Inquiry reconstruction/
its unrivalled expertise in breaking news, Soham trial transcripts

will ensure that Sky News remains at The RTS Innovation Award

he foref £ ision in th judges said Sky News’ solutions
the forefront of news provision in the to the problem of covering

21st century. individual proceedings, where
cameras are banned, were
“radical and imaginative”.

4 .‘:

WUTTON "LORD HUTTON®

India bureau
Launched in January
2004, Sky News’

SkyCopter India bureau covers
The SkyCopter allows the breaking news

Sky News team to cover across the Indian
major stories where sub-continent.

scale is important.
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Innovation, programming and content

continued

SPORTS

In the year, Sky Sports secured new broadcast rights, witnessed
historic live events and set a new audience record.

SKY SPORTS AUDIENCE PROFILE
Jan-June 2004

Sky Sports 67% 33%

Total TV

men [l Women Source: BARB

Sky Sports offered over 36,000 hours
of coverage across five dedicated sports
channels, secured new programming
contracts and extended interactive
coverage to new sports events.

It gave subscribers a diverse schedule
of live sports programming throughout
the year and from around the world,
including victory for England’s cricketers
in the Caribbean and teams from every
participating nation in rugby union’s
Heineken Cup.

Among the year’s landmarks were
Sky’s first live UEFA Champions League
matches and a new record audience,
when England’s Euro 2004 Qualifier
against Turkey, in October 2003,
attracted Sky’s largest-ever audience,
with an in-home peak of 4.2 million
viewers.

Other rating successes of the year included
the Super League’s Play-Offs, Spanish La
Liga football, NFL American Football and
the World Darts Championship.

Sky Sports’ first season of live UEFA
Champions League coverage attracted
strong ratings, critical acclaim and
praise from governing body UEFA. Sky
digital customers could use interactivity
to choose from up to 8 live matches
being played simultaneously.

During the year Sky Sports also won
new deals for live Spanish La Liga
football, live Welsh home international
football, and secured new agreements
with the English Football Association
and the FA Premier League. Exclusively-
live rights to a number of World Cup
qualifiers were also secured, including
the opening matches for England and
Wales in September 2004.

The 2004-05 season will be the most
televised football campaign ever on Sky
Sports, with over 450 live games from
a range of competitions.

Following the award of four live
packages of FA Premier League rights

to Sky in August 2003, Sky viewers will
now be able to watch more live matches
from the Barclays Premiership. Sky
Sports will show 88 live matches,

22 more than previously, with an extra
50 live matches offered on the pay-per-
view service, PREMPLUS.

Sky Sports also holds a new near-live
package of rights. These will be
broadcast in a new ‘Football First’
programme, which will offer extended
highlights of every Premiership match
played that day, with viewers able to
choose which match they watch through
Sky Sports’ interactive service.

The year was also the busiest ever for
rugby union production, with over 100
live matches stretching through every
month of the year. A new deal for
European Heineken Cup Rugby brought
comprehensive coverage, with up to five
live matches from each round.

Live cricket was also broadcast
throughout the year and featured every
domestic county and every Test nation.
England’s tour to the West Indies
produced their first tour victory in the
Caribbean for 34 years and the highest
cricket audiences for two years.

At home, the domestic Twenty20 Cup,

a new event in 2003, was a ratings
success, attracting audiences three times
the size of its predecessor, the B&H Cup.

Sky Sports offered more hours, more
live matches and more interactivity
than ever before.
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In rugby league, a new deal was
concluded for the domestic Super
League, Great Britain internationals

and a new Tri-Nations tournament. In
boxing, a new deal with Sports Network
saw British World champions, Joe

Calzaghe and Ricky Hatton, continue to “Never before have the turned-on
be covered on Sky Sports. Meanwhile, b t d th h
Sky Box Office offered world title fights masses been presented with suc
featuring Lennox Lewis, Oscar De La a choice of football matches.”

Hoya and Bernard Hopkins.

u Sky Sports News marked its fifth
o MILLION VIEWERS anniversary in October 2003, with
record audiences, which had doubled

The Independent 22 September 2003

ENGLAND’S EURO 2004 QUALIFIER .
AGAINST TURKEY ATTRACTED SKY’S year-on-year. The channel, which was
BIGGEST-EVER AUDIENCE, AN IN-HOME the first all-new digital channel at
PEAK OF 4.2 MILLION VIEWERS launch, is now available on digital
terrestrial and cable services as well
as on the Sky DTH platform.

Sky Sports Xtra, which launched on
Sky digital in 1999, extended its reach
by more than two million homes as
carriage deals were concluded with
Telewest and ntl.

Skysports.com also set new records,
with its highest-ever, audited figures of
more than 113 million page impressions
and over 3.6 million unique users in
June 2004 (Source: ABCe). It is now
established as the UK’s most-visited
commercial sports site.

UEFA Champions League

Sky’s coverage attracted strong ratings,
critical acclaim and praise from
governing body UEFA.

In the 2003-04 season Sky Sports
broadcast 103 live matches from the
UEFA Champions League over 21 nights.

oo

The Heineken Cup

The Heineken Cup came exclusively to
Sky Sports, bringing 37 live European
rugby union matches.

England in the West Indies

England’s historic victory in the West
Indies was seen by the highest cricket
audiences for two years.

All TV viewing figures sourced from BARB
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Innovation, programming and content

continued

ENTERTAINMENT

At Easter 2004, the combined audience for non-terrestrial television channels

exceeded each of BBC One and ITV1 in total television homes.

SKY ONE AUDIENCE PROFILE
Jan-June 2004

Sky One 37% 45% 18%
Total TV 28% 41% 31%

Age
1636 [ 35-5¢ [ 55+ Source: BARB

MILLION VIEWERS

NIP/TUCK AND 24 BOTH LAUNCHED
SUCCESSFULLY ON SKY ONE WITH THE
OPENING EPISODES BOTH ACHIEVING AN
AVERAGE AUDIENCE OF 1.04 MILLION

Sky One

Multichannel services, including Sky
One, ITV2 and UK Gold, reached another
landmark in March 2004, surging past
each of ITV1 and BBC1 to take the
largest share of the total TV audience.

This was the first time the multichannel
networks had won the largest audience
share outside the summer months, a
traditionally weak period for the five
main terrestrial networks.

In line with its ambition to be the

home of top US programming, Sky One
showcases a range of award-winning
acclaimed shows such as ‘Nip/Tuck’,
2l’, ‘Las Vegas’, ‘Cold Case’, ‘Tru
Calling’, ‘Angel’, ‘Scrubs’, ‘Malcolm in
the Middle’ and the world’s favourite
animated family and the most successful
animation series of all time, ‘The
Simpsons’.

During the year, Sky One achieved some
of its largest ever audiences. A peak
audience of more than 2 million tuned
in to watch Rebecca Loos give her side
of the Beckham scandal in ‘Rebecca
Loos - My Story’. In August 2003 David
Blaine was suspended in a perspex box,
and over 2 million viewers watched the
climax of the 44 day event. ‘There’s
Something About Miriam’ became a
global story, as Sky One followed the
exploits of six lads competing for the
affection of Mexican beauty, Miriam.

A reality series with a stunning twist, the
show was a huge success in early 2004.

The top Sky One programmes of the year were ‘David Blaine -
Above the Below’ and ‘Rebecca Loos - My Story’, whose audience
igures both peaked at over 2 million.

At the heart of the Sky One schedule
is the commitment to commissioning
and developing long-standing series
like ‘Brainiac’; this is complemented
with a growing reputation for fast turn
around topical documentaries, such as
‘Rebecca Loos - My Story’ and ‘John
Leslie - My Year of Hell’.

This autumn, Sky One will launch a
new look and a raft of top quality
acquired and original programmes.
These include the critically-acclaimed
HBO drama, ‘Deadwood’, the US ratings
success ‘The 4400” and ‘The Match’,

a brand-new series, mixing football
with a potent reality format. Returning
series include the eighth season of Dream
Team and a new series of Brainiac.

Sky One also provides user-friendly
interactive services allied to individual
programmes, which generate incremental
revenues for Sky. ‘24’ and ‘Nip/Tuck’
fans were able to catch video recaps and
previews of the plot, as well as to access
additional information about the shows,
and play quizzes and games.

From top anticlockwise:

24

David Blaine

There’s Something About Miriam
Tru Calling

All TV viewing figures sourced from BARB
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MOVIES

Sky viewers love movies. In 2003, the number of Sky Movies’ subscribers
reached 5 million, and the service achieved more million+ rating films than
in any other year since the launch of digital.

The central aim of Sky’s movie services
is to satisfy the subscribers’ appetite for
movies on television by giving them
choice, quality and convenience.

Sky Movies evolved in November 2003
into an 11 screen service, split into nine
Sky Movies screens, showing a wide
variety of blockbuster movies from
‘Harry Potter and the Chamber of
Secrets’ to ‘My Big Fat Greek Wedding’,
and two Sky Cinema screens, showing
the best classic movies from the 20th
century and a new, dedicated World
Cinema strand.

Sky Movies has also introduced
technical innovations, such as
interactive multistarts, to add further
value to the movie proposition,
enabling viewers to watch the biggest
premieres at a time to suit them.
Skymovies.com has become one of the
UK’s most respected movie websites
that provides information about, and
reviews of, every movie showing on
Sky Movies over the next seven days.

Sky Box Office, the pay-per-view service,
offers a choice of over 200 films each
year, as well as live music, boxing and
wrestling events. In the past year,

Sky Box Office has shown most of

the biggest theatrical movies of 2003
including ‘Lord of the Rings: The Two
Towers’ and ‘Pirates of the Caribbean’.
In addition, most movies are now
available significantly earlier, the

gap between video and pay-per-view
having halved from 6 to 3 months
over the last year.

Top Sky Box Office movies 2003/04

Johnny English

Bruce Almighty

My Big Fat Greek Wedding

Men in Black Il

Pirates of the Caribbean

SKY MOVIES IS OVER THREE TIMES
BIGGER THAN THE UK’S ENTIRE VIDEO
RENTAL SECTOR. OUR CUSTOMERS
WATCHED A TOTAL OF 10.5 MILLION
MOVIES PER WEEK IN 2003 (BY
HOUSEHOLD), VERSUS JUST 3 MILLION
WEEKLY VIDEO RENTALS.

l 5 0 MOVIES/WEEK

SKY MOVIES SHOWS OVER 450 DIFFERENT

MOVIES EVERY WEEK: AROUND 8 TIMES
AS MANY AS ANY OTHER SUBSCRIBER
MOVIE SERVICE ON UK TELEVISION.

MORE QUALITY

SKY MOVIES’ AUDIENCE PROFILE
Jan-June 2004

Sky Movies  39% 47%  14%
Total TV 24% 35% 41%

Age
1636 [ 3554 [ 55+ Source: BARB

From top anticlockwise:

The Lord of the Rings: The Two Towers
One Hour Photo

Shallow Hal

My Big Fat Greek Wedding

Catch Me If You Can theatrical movies each year, on average around 15 months

Signs before they are shown on terrestrial television.
The Bourne Identity
0 Phone Booth

1

2

3

L

5 . .

5 Die Another Day Sky Movies shows around 90% of the top 100 grossing
7

8

9

1

All TV viewing figures sourced from BARB
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Innovation, programming and content

continued

PRODUCT INNOVATION

Sky continues to lead the way in digital TV, putting viewers in control. Sky+ sales have grown during the
year and feedback from Sky+ customers since it first launched in 2001 has been outstanding. The Group
is constantly working to ensure that Sky offers the best TV experience available anywhere.

.y

=

-

Sales increase

Since July 2003, Sky has increased the
number of Sky+ sales to 397,000. Over
90% of customers rate their satisfaction
with Sky+ between 8 and 10 (on a scale
of 1 to 10).

Advertising campaign

In October 2003, Sky launched the
heavyweight ‘Create your own TV
channel’ marketing campaign aimed
at both existing Sky digital customers
and non-subscribers. The campaign’s
creative concept used a series of well-
known celebrity “odd couples”: Alice
Cooper and Ronnie Corbett; Bruce
Forsyth and Kelly Brook; Simon Callow
and Noddy Holder; and most recently,
Mike Reid and David Hasselhoff.

Sky+ advertising campaign

Featuring Alice Cooper, Ronnie Corbett, Mike Reid,

David Hasselhoff, Bruce Forsyth and Kelly Brook.

Sky continued to enhance the service
offered to all Sky+ customers. In
December 2003 the most significant
upgrade yet was made to all Sky+
boxes, adding the ability to record
two channels simultaneously, whilst
watching another previously recorded
programme at the same time. This
download was automatically delivered
to all Sky+ boxes free of charge.

Sky+ continued to attract a wide variety
of positive reviews and comments

from the press. It was ranked number
one in both The Guardian’s and The
Independent’s guides to gadgets

for 2003.

9/10 %%

Sky+ customers say they are likely
to recommend it to a friend.

“...I had a Sky+ box installed. Suddenly, instead of the handful of
channels, a tsunami of programming has broken in my living room...
and Sky+ is a wonderful thing...”
The Evening Standard 18 March 2004

“...Still the best hard drive video recorder thanks to the tight
integration of Sky’s on-screen programme guide...”

Stuff magazine November 2003

22
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5th e

IN OCTOBER 2003, SKY CELEBRATED THE
5TH ANNIVERSARY OF SKY DIGITAL. JUST
PRIOR TO THE ANNIVERSARY, SKY HIT THE
KEY TARGET OF ACHIEVING 7 MILLION
SUBSCRIBERS AHEAD OF SCHEDULE.

mﬂﬁ

=

From top to bottom:

New look for Sky Gamestar

Sky Vegas Live

Launch of the National Lottery on Sky

O

redde ===

- neEE

Can you handle it?

2xSky

Sky Multiroom

Sky’s extra subscription offer,
now called Sky Multiroom, has
continued to gain popularity
amongst customers, with over
128,000 taking up an extra Sky
digital subscription in another
room in the home in the year.

More interactivity for Sky digital viewers

Sky One Active

Sky One has continued to enhance its
most popular shows, such as ‘Dream
Team’, 24, ‘Double or Nothing’,
‘Battlestar Galactica’, ‘Stargate’ and
‘There’s Something About Miriam’, with
engaging interactive services. In addition
to voting, games and quizzes, viewers
could interact with the third series of
the hit drama, ‘24'.

By pressing the red button, fans of the

show could access exclusive highlights,
character profiles, research files and an
essential episode guide at the touch of

a button.

Sky Sports Active

In September 2003, Sky Sports launched
a ground-breaking interactive service
for the UEFA Champions League, giving
viewers the chance to choose from up to
eight simultaneous live matches.

Sky Vegas Live

Sky launched its first live interactive
entertainment and gambling channel,
Sky Vegas Live, in March 2004.
Broadcasting daily from 6.00pm to
2.00am, the channel is hosted by a
team of presenters from a state-of-the-
art virtual studio and features live
programming, including the interactive
Super Keno draw based on the fixed-

odds numbers game made famous in
Las Vegas. Players can play for a chance
to win the £1 million jackpot on Super
Keno 15.

Sky Gamestar

A new-look Sky Gamestar service was
unveiled in December 2003, with an
eight-screen interactive video menu,
faster load times and improved
navigation in addition to a range of
new games.

Launch of Liveplay on Gamestar

In June 2004, the new Liveplay service
launched on Sky Gamestar, enabling
digital satellite viewers to play games
such as Battleships and Connect &
against people in other digital satellite
households in real time.

Launch of the National Lottery on

Sky Active

Sky Active users can now buy their
Lotto tickets without leaving the sofa
via the new National Lottery Service,
that launched in April 2004. Players
can buy up to eight weeks’ worth of
tickets in advance, and no longer have
to worry about losing their ticket or
forgetting to check their numbers, as
tickets will be stored securely. If they
win, the service will inform them the
next time that they sign in.

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2004
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Innovation, programming and content

continued

DIGITAL SATELLITE CHANNEL LINE-UP

Sky’s digital satellite platform provides over 450 wide-ranging channels to over 7.4 million customers throughout
the UK and Ireland. Whatever interests them, whether it’s live sport, the latest movies, award-winning breaking

news, or original and innovative entertainment, Sky’s customers are offered what they want.

From top to bottom:
Brainiac
The Simpsons

83 Entertainment
channels

BBC ONE

BBC TWO

ITV1

Channel 4

five

Sky One

Sky One Mix
UKTV Gold

UKTV Gold +1
UKTV G2

Living TV

Living TV +1
BBC THREE

BBC FOUR

Plus

Challenge?
Bravo

Bravo +1
Paramount Comedy
Paramount Comedy 2
Sci-Fi

Discovery Home &
Leisure
Discovery Home &
Leisure +1

Men and Motors
Sky Travel

Sky Travel Extra
UKTV Style

UKTV Style +1
UKTV Food
UKTV Food +1
UKTV Drama
Travel Channel
Travel Channel 2
S4C ~ Digidol
Discovery Health
Artsworld

Life TV

E4

E4 +1

Overload

Game Network
ITV2

You TV

BEN

Reality TV
Hallmark

E!

UKTV Bright Ideas
Ftn

Performance
FRIENDLY TV
ACTV

LIVE TV
Nation217
Fashion TV

0OBE

Game in TV

The Biography Channel
Hollywood TV

Get Lucky TV
Classics TV

FX

Sky Vegas Live
BBC2 Scotland
BBC2 W

BBC2 NI

BBC1 Regional (17
channels)

31 News and
documentary channels
Sky News
Bloomberg

BBC News 24

BBC Parliament
CNBC

CNN

ITV News Channel
Euro News

Fox News

CcTvI

Discovery Channel
Discovery Channel +1
Discovery Travel and
Adventure

Discovery Civilisation
Discovery Science
Discovery Wings
National Geographic
National Geographic
Channel+1
Adventure One

The History Channel
History +1

UKTV Docs

UKTV Docs +1

BBC Parliament

S42 ~2

UKTV People

Animal Planet
Animal Planet +1
UKTV History

UKTV History +1
Community Channel

21 Kids’ channels
Cartoon Network
Cartoon Network Plus
Boomerang
Nickelodeon
Nickelodeon Replay
Nick Toons TV
Trouble

Trouble Reload

Fox Kids

Fox Kids +

Disney Channel
Disney Channel +1

Toon Disney
Playhouse Disney
Discovery Kids
(BBC

CBeebies

Nick Jr.

POP

POP Plus
Toonami

78 Movie channels
Sky Movies 1

Sky Movies 2

Sky Movies 3

Sky Movies &

Sky Movies 5

Sky Movies 6

Sky Movies 7

Sky Movies 8

Sky Movies 9

Sky Cinema 1

Sky Cinema 2

Film Four

Film Four +1
FilmFourWeekly
TCM

The Horror Channel
Sky Box Office (62
channels)

20 Sports channels
Sky Sports 1

Sky Sports 2

Sky Sports 3

Sky Sports Xtra
MUTV

Sky Sports News
Eurosport GB
Eurosportnews 24hr
Motors TV
attheraces

NASN

Extreme Sports
Chelsea TV

Golf TV

i Sports TV
Wrestling Channel
PREMPLUS

Setanta Sports
Setanta PPV1
Setanta PPV2

65 Music channels
MTV

MTV Hits

MTV 2

MTV Base

MTV Dance

VH1

VH2

VH1 Classic

TMF

The Box

KISS

Smash Hits
Magic

Q

Kerrang!

Chart Show TV
The Vault

B4

The Hits

Classic FM TV
channel U

The Amp

Scuzz

Flaunt

Musicians Channel
Music Choice (10
channels)

Music Choice Extra (30
channels)

85 Radio channels

89 Specialist channels
Avago Balls
Information TV
Qvc

TV Travelshop
TV Travelshop 2
TV Shop

Ideal World
Price Drop TV
Shop America
Lunn Poly TV
Simply Shop
Best Direct
Simply Home
Entertainment
Simply Ideas
TV Warehouse
Snatch It
bid-up.tv
Thomas Cook TV
Telsell

Best Direct +4
Auction World
Shop on TV
Thane Direct
ShopSmart
TVWarehouse
Vector 24/7
Stop+ Shop

Yes

Screenshop
Factory Outlet
JML Direct
Chase-it.tv
Vitality

Sky Travel Shop
Deal of the Day

God Channel
God 2
Wonderful TV
TBN Europe
Revelation

UCB TV

TV Job Shop
Dating Channel
Open Access
Gay Date TV
Chat Box
Escape

Create & Craft
E&M TV (Exchange &
Mart TV)
Teletext Hols
Broadband TV
Golf Pro-Shop
B4U Movies
B4U Music
Sony TV Asia
STAR News
STAR Plus
PCNE Chinese
mta-muslim TV
Zee TV

Zee Music

Zee Cinema
Bangla TV

ARY Digital
Prime TV
Southforyou
Alpha EtcPun
Al Jazeera

ART Movies
ART Music
MBC

Abu Dhabi

TV5

ATN

SAB TV

Record TV
DW-TV

TVEi

Islam Channel
Bollywood TV
Pub Channel
SkyVenue
Soundtrack Channel
Advert Channel
Vectone Urdu
Vectone Bolly
Vectone Tamil
Vectone Bangla

34 Adult channels

3 Customer channels

Correct as at 30.6.04
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Financial Statements

OUR RESULTS TOTAL REVENUE INCREASED BY 15%, OPERATING
PROFIT BEFORE GOODWILL AND EXCEPTIONAL TAX INCREASED BY
65%, EPS INCREASED TO 18.3 PENCE AND THERE IS A PROPOSED
FINAL DIVIDEND PAYMENT OF 3.25 PENCE PER SHARE. THE BUSINESS
IS IN ROBUST FINANCIAL HEALTH, WITH EXCELLENT MOMENTUM FOR
THE COMING YEAR.
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This document contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 with respect to the Group's financial condition, results of operations and
business, and management’s strategy, plans and objectives for the Group. These statements include, without limitation, those that express forecasts, expectations and projections with respect to the potential for growth of
free-to-air and pay television, advertising growth, DTH subscriber growth and Multiroom and Sky+ penetration, DTH revenue, profitability and margin growth, cashflow generation, SAC and marketing expenditure, capital
expenditure programmes and proposals for rewarding shareholders.

These statements (and all other forward-looking statements contained in this document) are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, some of which are beyond the
Group's control, are difficult to predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied or forecast in the forward-looking statements. These factors include, but are not limited to, the fact
that the Group operates in a highly competitive environment, the effects of government regulation upon the Group's activities, its ability to continue to obtain exclusive rights to movies, sports events and other programming
content, risks inherent in the implementation of large-scale capital expenditure projects, the Group's ability to continue to communicate and market its services effectively, and the risks associated with the Group's operation
of digital television transmission in the UK and Ireland.

Information on some risks and uncertainties are described in the "Risk Factors" section of Sky's Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 30 June 2003. Copies of the Annual Report on Form 20-F are available on
request from British Sky Broadcasting Group plc, Grant Way, Isleworth TW7 5QD. All forward-looking statements in this document are based on information known to the Group on the date hereof. The Group undertakes
no obligation publicly to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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Directors’ Biographies

Board of Directors at 30 June 2004:

Rupert Murdoch (age 73) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHAIRMAN

Rupert Murdoch was appointed as a Director of the Company in November 1990,
when he founded British Sky Broadcasting, and was appointed Chairman in June
1999. Mr Murdoch has been a Managing Director and Chief Executive of The News
Corporation Limited (“News Corporation”) since 1979 and Chairman since 1991.
Mr Murdoch has also served as a Director of Fox Entertainment Group (“FEG”) and
its predecessor companies since 1985, Chairman since 1992 and Chief Executive
Officer (“CEQ”) since 1995. In addition, Mr Murdoch has been a Director of Star
Group Limited (“Star”) since 1993, Gemstar-TV Guide International, Inc (“Gemstar”)
since 2001, and The Direct TV Group, Inc (“DIRECTV”) since 2003.

Lord Rothschild (age 68) SENIOR INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND DEPUTY CHAIRMAN
Lord Rothschild was appointed as a Director, Deputy Chairman and Senior
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 17 November 2003. Lord
Rothschild is Chairman of RIT Capital Partners Inc and Five Arrows Limited, and
co-founded Global Asset Management, which is now part of UBS, and J Rothschild
Assurance, which is now part of St James’ Place Capital. From university Lord
Rothschild joined the family bank, N.M. Rothschild & Sons, and subsequently ran
the corporate finance department and became chairman of the executive
committee, before leaving N.M. Rothschild & Sons in 1980 to develop Rothschild
Investment Trust and his interests in the financial sector. Lord Rothschild attended
Oxford University and, in addition to his career in the world of finance, he has been
involved in philanthropy and public service.

James Murdoch (age 31) EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

James Murdoch was appointed as a Director of the Company on 13 February 2003
and CEQ with effect from 4 November 2003. Until Mr Murdoch’s appointment as CEO,
he was Chairman and CEO of Star from May 2000. With effect from 4 November
2003, Mr Murdoch resigned as Executive Vice President of News Corporation and
as a member of News Corporation’s Board of Directors and Executive Committee
and from the Board of NDS Group plc (“NDS”). Mr Murdoch serves on the Board of
YankeeNets and the Board of Trustees of the Harvard Lampoon. Mr Murdoch
attended Harvard University.

Martin Stewart (age 40) EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Martin Stewart was appointed as Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) and a Director of
the Company on 20 May 1998. Mr Stewart previously served the Company as
Head of Commercial Finance from March 1996. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr Stewart was employed at Polygram for five years, latterly at Polygram Filmed
Entertainment, where he was Finance Director for two years. From March 2001
to October 2003, Mr Stewart was a Non-Executive Director of Michael Page
International plc. Mr Stewart will resign his position as CFO of the Company on
4 August 2004.

Chase Carey (age 50) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Chase Carey was appointed as a Director of the Company on 13 February 2003.
Mr Carey has been a Non-Executive Director of News Corporation since 2002 and
was an Executive Director from 1996 until 2002. Mr Carey has been named President
and CEO of DIRECTV. and serves on the Boards of Gateway, Inc. and Colgate
University. Mr Carey previously served as Co-Chief Operating Officer of News
Corporation and as a Director and Co-Chief Operating Officer of FEG. Mr Carey has
also held the positions of Chairman and CEO of Fox Television, Director of Star,
Director of NDS and Director of Gemstar.

David DeVoe (age 57) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

David DeVoe was appointed as a Director of the Company on 15 December 1994.
Mr DeVoe has been an Executive Director of News Corporation since October 1990,
Senior Executive Vice President of News Corporation since January 1996, CFO
and Finance Director of News Corporation since October 1990 and Deputy
Finance Director from May 1985 to September 1990, Director of News America
International (“NAI”) since January 1991, and a Director of Star since July 1993.
Mr DeVoe has also been a Director of FEG since 1991 and a Senior Executive Vice
President and CFO since August 1998. Mr DeVoe has been a Director of NDS since
1996 and a Director of Gemstar since June 2001.

David Evans (age 64) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

David Evans was appointed as a Director of the Company on 21 September 2001.
Mr Evans is President and CEO of Crown Media Holdings, Inc (“Crown”). Mr Evans
was previously President and CEO of Crown’s predecessor, Hallmark Entertainment
Networks, from 1 March 1999. Prior to that, Mr Evans was President and CEO of
Tele-Communications International, Inc. (“TINTA”) from January 1998. Mr Evans
joined TINTA in September 1997 as its President and Chief Operating Officer,
overseeing the day-to-day operations of the Company. Prior to joining TINTA, from
July 1996, Mr Evans was Executive Vice President of News Corporation and President
and CEO of Sky Entertainment Services Latin America, LLC.

Nicholas Ferguson (age 55) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Nicholas Ferguson was appointed as a Director of the Company on 15 June 2004.
Mr Ferguson is CEO of SVG Capital, a publicly-quoted private equity group, and
Chairman of SVG Advisers Limited and was formerly Chairman of Schroder
Ventures. He is also Chairman of the Courtauld Institute of Art.

Allan Leighton (age 51) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Allan Leighton was appointed as a Director of the Company on 15 October 1999.
Mr Leighton joined ASDA Stores Limited as Group Marketing Director in March 1992.
In September 1996 he was appointed Chief Executive and in November 1999 he was
appointed President and CEO of Wal-Mart Europe. Mr Leighton resigned all of these
positions in September 2000. Mr Leighton is Non-Executive Chairman of BHS
Limited, Lastminute.com plc, Royal Mail Group plc and Health Club Investments
Group Limited (parent of Cannons Group Limited). Mr Leighton is a Non-Executive
Director of Dyson Limited, George Weston Limited and Selfridges & Co Limited.

Jacques Nasser (age 56) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Jacques Nasser was appointed as a Director of the Company on 8 November 2002.
Mr Nasser is a Senior Partner of One Equity Partners. In addition, Mr Nasser is
Chairman of Polaroid Corporation, and he serves on the Board of Quintiles
Transnational Corporation, Brambles Industries and the International Advisory
Board of Allianz A.G. Mr Nasser served as a Member of the Board of Directors, and
as President and CEO of Ford Motor Company from 1998 to 2001. Mr Nasser has
received an honorary Doctorate of Technology and graduated in Business from the
Royal Institute of Melbourne. Because of Mr Nasser’s significant contributions to the
wellbeing of humanity and to the country of Lebanon, he has received the Order of
the Cedar. In recognition of Mr Nasser’s work for Australian industry, as an adviser
to government, and for education in the area of technology, he has been awarded
an Order of Australia and a Centenary Medal.

Gail Rebuck (age 52) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Gail Rebuck was appointed as a Director of the Company on 8 November 2002.
Ms Rebuck is Chairman and Chief Executive of The Random House Group Limited,
the UK’s largest trade publishing company. In 1982, Ms Rebuck became a founder
Director of Century Publishing (“Century”). Century merged with Hutchinson in
1985 and in 1989 Century Hutchinson was acquired by Random House Inc. In 1991,
Ms Rebuck was appointed Chairman and Chief Executive of The Random House
Group Limited. Ms Rebuck was a Trustee of the Institute for Public Policy Research
from 1993 to 2003 and was for three years a member of the Government'’s Creative
Industries Task Force. Ms Rebuck is on the Board of The Work Foundation, a member
of the Court of the University of Sussex, on the Advisory Board of the Cambridge
Judge Institute, and the Council of the Royal College of Art. Ms Rebuck was awarded
a CBE in the 2000 New Year’s Honours List.

Arthur Siskind (age 65) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Arthur Siskind was appointed as a Director of the Company on 19 November 1991.
Mr Siskind has been a Senior Executive Vice President of News Corporation since
January 1996 and an Executive Director and Group General Counsel of News
Corporation since 1991. Mr Siskind was an Executive Vice President of News
Corporation from February 1991 until January 1996. Mr Siskind has been a Director
of NAI since 1991, a Director of Star since 1993, a Director of NDS since 1996 and
Senior Executive Vice President, General Counsel and a Director of FEG since August
1998. Mr Siskind has been a member of the Bar of the State of New York since 1962.
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Lord St John of Fawsley (age 75) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Lord St John was appointed as a Director of the Company on 20 November 1991.
Lord St John was a Director of the N.M. Rothschild Trust from 1990 to 1998. Lord St
John is Chairman of the Royal Fine Art Commission Trust and was Chairman of the
Royal Fine Art Commission from 1985 to 2000. Lord St John is a member of the Privy
Council and holds the Order of Merit of the Italian Republic. Lord St John has held
the offices of Minister of State for Education, Minister of State for the Arts, Leader
of the House of Commons and Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster. Lord St John
has also been Master of Emmanuel College, Cambridge. Lord St John is a regular
commentator on television and radio.

Lord Wilson of Dinton GCB (age 61) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Lord Wilson was appointed as a Director of the Company on 13 February 2003.
He has been a Non-Executive Director of Xansa plc since April 2003. Lord Wilson
entered the Civil Service as an assistant principal in the Board of Trade in 1966. Lord
Wilson subsequently served in a number of departments, including 12 years in the
Department of Energy, where his responsibilities included nuclear power policy,
the privatisation of Britoil, personnel and finance. Lord Wilson headed the
Economic Secretariat in the Cabinet Office under Mrs Thatcher from 1987 to 1990
and, after two years in the Treasury, was appointed Permanent Secretary of the
Department of the Environment in 1992. Lord Wilson became Permanent Under
Secretary of the Home Office in 1994 and Secretary of the Cabinet and Head of the
Home Civil Service in January 1998. Since his retirement in September 2002, Lord
Wilson has been Master of Emmanuel College, Cambridge. Lord Wilson was made
a peer in November 2002.

Alternate Directors

Rupert Murdoch, David DeVoe, Arthur Siskind and Chase Carey have appointed each
of the others to act as their alternate Director and, in addition, have appointed
Leslie Hinton to act as their alternate Director. David Evans has appointed Allan
Leighton as his alternate Director.

Directors to be appointed post 30 June 2004:

Jeremy Darroch (aged L1) EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Jeremy Darroch will join the Company as CFO replacing Martin Stewart with effect
from 16 August 2004. Mr Darroch joined Dixons Group plc (“Dixons”) in January
2000 as Retail Finance Director, rising to the position of Group Finance Director
in February 2002. Prior to Dixons, Mr Darroch spent 12 years at Procter & Gamble
in a variety of roles in the UK and Europe, latterly as European Finance Director for
their Health Care businesses.

Andy Higginson (aged L6) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Andy Higginson will join the Company as a Non-Executive Director with effect from
1 September 2004. Mr Higginson is Finance and Strategy Director of Tesco plc
(“Tesco”). Mr Higginson was appointed to the Board of Tesco in 1997, having
previously been the Group Finance Director of the Burton Group PLC. Mr Higginson
is a member of the 100 Group of Finance Directors, Chairman of Tesco Personal
Finance and a Non-Executive Director of C&J Clark Limited.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their Annual Report on the affairs of British Sky Broadcasting
Group plc (“BSkyB”, “the Company”) and its subsidiary undertakings (together,
“the Group”), together with the Accounts and Auditors’ Report for the year ended
30 June 2004.

Activities
The Chairman’s Statement on page 1 and the Operating and Financial Review on
pages 4 to 14 report on the principal activities of the Group, its financial and
operating performance during the year and the future development of the
business.

Results and dividends

The profit on ordinary activities after taxation for the year ended 30 June 2004 was
£322 million (2003: £184 million). The Directors recommend a final dividend for the
year ended 30 June 2004 of 3.25 pence per ordinary share which, together with the
interim dividend of 2.75 pence paid to shareholders on 23 April 2004, will make a
total dividend for the year of 6.00 pence (2003: nil). Subject to approval at the Annual
General Meeting (“AGM”), the final dividend will be paid on 19 November 2004 to
shareholders appearing on the register at the close of business on 29 October 2004.

Post balance sheet events
Post balance sheet events are disclosed in note 28 to the accounts.

Payment policy

The policy of the Group is to agree terms of payment with suppliers prior to
entering into a contractual relationship. In the absence of a specific agreement, it
is the policy of the Group to pay suppliers on a monthly basis. The Group had 31
days’ purchases outstanding at 30 June 2004 (2003: 20 days), based on the total
amount invoiced by non-programme trade suppliers during the year ended 30 June
2004. Programme creditors include significant balances which are not yet
contractually due. In respect of amounts both contractually due and invoiced, the
outstanding number of days’ purchases is below 30 days (2003: below 30 days).

Share capital

Details of changes in the share capital during the year are disclosed in note 22
to the accounts. On 3 August 2004, the following companies, or their subsidiary
undertakings, held more than 3% of the Company’s share capital:

News UK Nominees Limited (a subsidiary of News Corporation)...........cc...... 35.33%

Corporate governance

Details concerning the Group’s arrangements relating to corporate governance and
its compliance with the Combined Code on Corporate Governance annexed to the
Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority are given on pages 29 to 31. The
Report on Directors’ Remuneration is on pages 32 to 40.

Charitable and political contributions and community activities

The Group takes its commitment to the community seriously, with the aim of
achieving value for both its business and the wider community by helping young
people understand and realise their potential. The Group’s second Corporate
Responsibility Review, which does not form part of the Annual Report, will be
published in the autumn, and will provide further information on its activities and
community initiatives (see www.sky.com). During the period, the Board appointed
Gail Rebuck, an Independent Non-Executive Director, as Chairman of the Group’s
Corporate Responsibility Steering Committee.

The Group’s community activity has continued to focus on utilising its strengths as
a business to deliver a measurable and sustainable impact on the community, both
at a local and national level. This is achieved via the Group’s main community
involvement initiative, ‘Reach for the Sky’, Sky’s flagship initiative to support and
inspire young people to achieve their potential (see www.sky.com/rfts). There are
three initiatives within Reach for the Sky, each consisting of a three-way
partnership between the Group, voluntary organisations and government
departments. In 2004, Reach for the Sky was awarded Department of Trade and
Industry/Business in the Community Awards for Excellence for Education and
Lifelong Learning and Realising Ability.

In 2004, the Group in the UK donated a total value of £1,019,000 (2003: £678,000)
to charities in the form of cash. Details of its Community Investment will be
provided in the Corporate Responsibility Review.

Political contributions of the Group in the UK during 2004 amounted to nil (2003: nil).

Directors
The names and biographical details of the Directors of the Company are given on
pages 26 and 27. The following Board changes occurred during the year:

Tony Ball resigned as a Director of the Company on 4 November 2003.

Philip Bowman resigned as a Director of the Company on 14 November 2003.
Lord Rothschild was appointed a Director of the Company on 17 November 2003.
John Thornton resigned as a Director of the Company on 11 May 2004.

Nicholas Ferguson was appointed a Director of the Company on 15 June 2004.
Martin Stewart will resign as a Director of the Company on 4 August 2004.
Jeremy Darroch will be appointed a Director of the Company on 16 August 2004.
Andy Higginson will be appointed a Director of the Company on 1 September 2004.

Lord Rothschild, Nicholas Ferguson, Jeremy Darroch and Andy Higginson offer
themselves for election in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.
Jacques Nasser, Gail Rebuck and Arthur Siskind retire from the Board by rotation,
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Directors’ interests in the Ordinary Shares and options of the Company are
disclosed within the Report on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 32 to 40.

Employment policies

Equality of opportunity

The Group fully supports the right of all people who work with us to be treated with
respect and dignity. The Group is committed to ensuring that no one is subjected
to less favourable treatment because of their age, gender, gender reassignment,
sexual orientation, race, religious beliefs, marital status or disability. The Group is
committed to creating and maintaining a working environment that is free from
all forms of harassment, including bullying.

The Group believes everyone should be given equal access to the same choices and
opportunities in recruitment and employment, irrespective of their differences and
needs. The Group has a range of policies designed to ensure that it can meet this
commitment. These include respect for family and religious needs, and reasonable
adjustment and communication support for disabled people.

Applications are welcomed from a diverse talent pool. In addition, the Group works
in partnership with Sabre employment (a specialist disability employment group)
to ensure appropriate support for the continuing employment of disabled people.
The Group is committed to promoting awareness of diversity through training and
working practices.

The Group is a gold card member of the Employers’ Forum on Disability and
supports both the Broadcasting and Creative Industries Disability Network and
the Cultural Diversity Network. The Group is also part of the Stonewall Diversity
Champion network.

Health and safety

The health and safety of the Group’s employees is a matter of major importance.
Accordingly, it is the Group’s policy to manage its activities so as to avoid causing
any unnecessary or unacceptable risk to the health and safety of its personnel.
The Group’s goal is to ensure continuous improvement in the management of its
health and safety risks. To this end, a two-year programme was entered into in
July 2003 to guide a revitalisation process in relation to health and safety
within the Group. The current status of the project is in line with the deliverables
required by the programme to securely embed a reinvigorated management
system for health and safety into the Group, that not only meets all applicable
statutory requirements, but also demonstrates the Group’s commitment to
employee wellbeing.
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Directors’ Report

continued

Employee involvement and communication

It is the policy of the Group to develop employee involvement throughout the
organisation and to ensure that employees are aware of the financial and
economic factors affecting the Group, and how they can succeed as individuals and
as part of teams. Communication meetings between management and employees’
representatives are typically held on a quarterly basis where matters of specific
interest are discussed. Ongoing consultation occurs covering a broad range of areas
such as pension provision and health and safety, and employees’ views are taken
into consideration when making decisions. The Group publishes two employee
magazines covering a wide range of employee issues, runs a comprehensive
intranet system and regularly hosts roadshows, conferences and forums for two-
way communication. The Group’s electronic mail system ensures that staff are kept
up-to-date on relevant information and initiatives.

Training and development

Employees have the opportunity to participate in a range of training programmes
in the fields of leadership, technology, the broadcast industry, professional skills
and management and personal development. The Group is represented at Board
level within the Broadcast Industry Sector Skills Council, Skillset, which promotes
training and development opportunities across the industry, and has direct links
with academic and training bodies.

Financial participation

The Group operates a sharesave (discounted share purchase) scheme, a Company
pension scheme, and also a stakeholder pension scheme for the benefit of all
eligible employees.

Corporate Governance Report

In July 2003, the Financial Services Authority issued the revised code on Corporate
Governance (the “Combined Code”). The Combined Code will apply to companies
for reporting years beginning on or after 1 November 2003, and therefore in
relation to the Company from the financial year ending 30 June 2005. Accordingly,
this report explains the Company’s compliance with the provisions set out in
Section 1 of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued by the Hampel
Committee in June 1998 (the “Hampel Code”).

The Company is committed to high standards of corporate governance and, except
as noted below, has complied throughout the year with the best practice provisions
of the Hampel Code.

The Board

The Board currently comprises fourteen Directors, made up of two Executive
Directors and twelve Non-Executive Directors, eight of whom are determined to be
independent under the provisions of the Hampel Code and seven under the
provisions of the Combined Code. The Non-Executive Directors of the Company
bring a wide range of experience and expertise to the Company’s affairs, and they
carry significant weight in the Board’s decisions. Short biographies of each of
the Directors are set out on pages 26 to 27, which also clearly identify those
Directors who are, in the view of the Board, independent within the meaning of
the Combined Code.

The roles of the Chairman, Rupert Murdoch, and CEO, James Murdoch, are separate
and have been since the Company obtained its listing in 1994. Lord St John of
Fawsley held the position of Senior Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company until 17 November 2003, when he was replaced in this position by
Lord Rothschild.

The Board is scheduled to meet at least six times a year to review appropriate
strategic, operational and financial matters as required. A schedule of matters
reserved for the full Board’s approval is in place, which includes, inter alia, the
approval of annual and interim results, dividend policy, significant transactions,
agreements or arrangements between the Group and related parties, including
members of The News Corporation Limited group (“News Corporation group”).

Environmental responsibility

The Group recognises the importance of environmental responsibility, and the
complete BSkyB Environmental Report can be found in the corporate section on
the Company’s website (see www.sky.com). This report does not form part of the
Annual Report.

Annual General Meeting

The notice convening the AGM to be held at The Queen Elizabeth Il Conference
Centre, Broad Sanctuary, Westminster, London, SW1P 3EE on 12 November 2004 at
11.30am can be found in a separate notice accompanying the Annual Report.

Auditors
A resolution to re-appoint Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company’s auditors will be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By order of the Board,
David Gormley Company Secretary

3 August 2004

The Board has also delegated specific responsibilities to Board Committees, notably
the Audit, Remuneration and Corporate Governance & Nominations Committees,
as set out below. Directors receive Board and Committee papers several days in
advance of Board and Committee meetings and also have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary. In addition, the Board members have access
to external professional advice at the Company’s expense. Non-Executive Directors
serve for an initial term of three years, subject to election by shareholders
following appointment, subsequent re-election by shareholders, and Companies
Act provisions relating to the removal of Directors. In addition, reappointment for
a further term is not automatic, but may be mutually agreed. All of the Directors
are required to retire and offer themselves for re-election at least once in every
three years.

A committee of senior management generally meets on a weekly basis to allow
prompt decision making and discussion of relevant business issues. It is chaired by
the CEO and comprises the CFO and other senior executives (“Senior Executives”)
from within the Group.

Board Committees

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee, on behalf of the Board, is responsible for
recommending to the Board the key terms of employment of Senior Executives of the
Group whose base salary exceeds £250,000 per annum, other than key production
personnel or on-air talent and reviewing the design and structure of the Group’s
package of employee incentives. The Remuneration Committee has clearly defined
terms of reference, meets at least twice a year, and takes advice from the CEO and
independent consultants as appropriate in carrying out its work. The Remuneration
Committee currently comprises three Independent Non Executive Directors.

The Board noted that, for the majority of the year, the composition of the
Remuneration Committee did not comply with the Hampel Code, which states
that all members of the Remuneration Committee must be Independent
Non-Executive Directors. The Board considered that David DeVoe and Rupert
Murdoch, along with the other members of the Remuneration Committee, provided
a valuable contribution to the Remuneration Committee. On 15 June 2004, Rupert
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Murdoch and David DeVoe resigned as members of the Remuneration Committee
and Nicholas Ferguson was appointed as a member. The members of the
Remuneration Committee are Jacques Nasser (Chairman), David Evans and Nicholas
Ferguson, all of whom are Independent Non-Executive Directors, in compliance
with the Combined Code.

The Report on Directors’ Remuneration can be found on pages 32 to 40. In accordance
with the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002, the Report on Directors’
Remuneration will be put forward for an advisory shareholder vote at the AGM.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, which consists exclusively of Non-Executive Directors, has
clearly defined terms of reference as laid out by the Board. Philip Bowman, who
had been Chairman of the Audit Committee since March 1995, resigned as a
Director and consequently as a member of the Audit Committee on 14 November
2003. Following Philip Bowman’s resignation, the composition of the Audit
Committee did not comply with the provisions of the Hampel Code, which states
that there must be a majority of Independent Non-Executive Directors on the Audit
Committee. On Philip Bowman'’s resignation, the Board started a process to recruit
a further Independent Non-Executive Director with sufficient financial experience
to replace Philip Bowman. The Company has announced that Andy Higginson will
join the Board on 1 September 2004, and will also become a member of the Audit
Committee, as of that date. On 15 June 2004, David DeVoe and Arthur Siskind
resigned from the Audit Committee. The composition of the Audit Committee is
currently Allan Leighton (Chairman) and Gail Rebuck. This does not comply with
the Hampel Code, which requires there to be a minimum of three Directors on
the Audit Committee, the majority of whom have to be independent, but the
Company will be in compliance with the Combined Code from 1 September 2004.
The Audit Committee meets at least five times a year. Its duties include making
recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment, reappointment and
removal of the external auditors, and discussing with the external auditors the
nature, scope and fees for the external auditors’ work. The Audit Committee
reviews, and recommends to the Board the approval of or any amendment to, the
quarterly, half year and annual financial statements of the Group, and also reviews
the Company's Annual Report on Form 20-F prior to its filing, and the Group's
significant accounting principles, systems of internal control, treasury policies
and reviews the audit plans and findings of the Group's internal audit function.
The Audit Committee also monitors the Group's whistleblowing policy and is
responsible for approving non-audit services provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP.
The Audit Committee has the power to seek external advice as and when required.

News UK Nominees Limited, a subsidiary of News Corporation, is a major
shareholder in the Group, holding over 35.3% of the issued share capital. The Audit
Committee receives, on a quarterly basis, a schedule of all transactions between
companies within the News Corporation group and the Group and any other related
party transactions, showing cumulatively all transactions which have been entered
into during the year, and which exceed £100,000 in value.

Furthermore, Audit Committee approval is required for the entering into by the
Group of a commitment or arrangement (or any series of related commitments or
arrangements) with News Corporation or any of its subsidiaries, or any other related
party which involves or could reasonably involve the payment or receipt by the
Group of amounts equal to or in excess of £10 million, but not exceeding £25 million
in aggregate value with News Corporation. Any transaction in excess of £25 million
in aggregate value must be submitted to the Audit Committee and, if approved by
the Audit Committee, it must also be submitted to the Board for approval.

Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee

On 15 June 2004, the Nominations Committee was merged with the Corporate
Governance Committee to become the Corporate Governance & Nominations
Committee. The Committee is chaired by Lord Wilson of Dinton and its members are
Lord Rothschild and Arthur Siskind. Lord St John of Fawsley stepped down from the
Committee on 15 June 2004 and John Thornton resigned from the then Nominations
Committee following his resignation as a Director of the Company on 11 May 2004.

During the year, the following processes were followed by the Corporate
Governance & Nominations Committee in its nomination of Directors to the Board.

On 23 September 2003, the Company announced that Tony Ball, CEO of the Group,
would not be renewing his service agreement on its expiry on 31 May 2004. The
Nominations Committee, chaired by Lord St John of Fawsley, was tasked by the
Board to find a suitable replacement for Tony Ball. Gail Rebuck and Allan Leighton
were asked to assist the Nominations Committee in this process. An Executive

Search Consultant, Spencer Stuart, was retained by the Nominations Committee to
aid in the search process. An extensive list of candidates was put together by
Spencer Stuart, which was then reduced to a shortlist, all of whom were
interviewed by all members of the Board involved in the process. This resulted
in the Nominations Committee unanimously recommending to the Board the
appointment of James Murdoch as CEO.

During this period, the Nominations Committee met with various shareholders
and shareholder bodies to advise them on the selection process. As a result of
the comments received from those shareholders, the Nominations Committee
considered it appropriate to nominate a further senior figure to the Board and
recommended the appointment of Lord Rothschild, who was nominated to the
Board and appointed as Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent Director on
17 November 2003.

During the year, the Nominations Committee also commenced searches to find
replacements for Philip Bowman and John Thornton who resigned during the
course of the year. Spencer Stuart were again asked to assist in the process and a
number of candidates were identified. The Nominations Committee was assisted in
this search by Allan Leighton, Gail Rebuck, Lord Wilson of Dinton, Lord Rothschild
and Arthur Siskind. The Nominations Committee was mindful of appointing a
Director with relevant financial experience who could also be appointed as a
member of the Audit Committee and a further Independent Non-Executive Director.
As a result, the Nominations Committee identified and unanimously recommended
to the Board the appointment of Andy Higginson and Nicholas Ferguson as
additional Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Appointment and resignation of Directors

Lord Rothschild was appointed to the Board as Deputy Chairman on 17 November
2003. Nicholas Ferguson was appointed to the Board on 15 June 2004. The Company
has announced that Jeremy Darroch will join the Board on 16 August 2004, as
CFO. The Company has announced that Andy Higginson will join the Board on
1 September 2004.

Tony Ball resigned from the Board on &4 November 2003. Philip Bowman resigned
from the Board on 14 November 2003. John Thornton resigned from the Board on
11 May 2004. The Company has announced that Martin Stewart will resign from the
Board on 4 August 2004.

Corporate Governance Review

On 14 November 2003, the Company announced that it had formed an ad-hoc
Committee of the Board (the “Corporate Governance Committee”) to review all of
the relevant codes and statutory obligations and to identify any appropriate
changes to make to the processes of the Board and the composition of its
Committees. The Corporate Governance Committee members comprised Lord
Wilson of Dinton as Chairman, Lord Rothschild and Arthur Siskind.

The Corporate Governance Committee’s approach was to undertake an analysis of
the Combined Code, as well as the relevant Securities & Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) and New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) rules applicable to the Company,
and to identify where the Company’s own structure and practices varied from them.
The Corporate Governance Committee sought to bring the Company’s structure
and practices into line with all the rules with which the Company will be bound
to comply, including the provisions of the Combined Code.

The Corporate Governance Committee recommended to the Board the adoption
of all of the Combined Code’s provisions. In the case of code provision A.7.2, which
requires that Directors who have been serving on the Board for more than
nine years should retire and stand for re-election at each AGM, the Corporate
Governance Committee recommended that this provision should apply only from
expiry of the current term of office that each Director is serving as approved by
shareholders in general meeting.

The Corporate Governance Committee also recommended that the composition of
the Board’s Committees should comply with the relevant provisions of the Combined
Code and recommended changes to the composition of the Audit and Remuneration
Committees as discussed earlier in this report. Furthermore, they recommended
that the Corporate Governance Committee should be merged with the Nominations
Committee to form the Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee. These
changes ensure that going forward, the composition of the Remuneration and
Corporate Governance & Nominations Committees will comply with the provisions of
the Combined Code, and the composition of the Audit Committee will be in
compliance from 1 September 2004, following the appointment of Andy Higginson.
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The Corporate Governance Committee recommended that David DeVoe and Arthur
Siskind should have a standing invitation to attend meetings of the Audit Committee
and that Rupert Murdoch and David DeVoe should have a standing invitation to
attend meetings of the Remuneration Committee. In both of these instances, their
attendance at these meetings shall be as observers only and in a non-voting capacity.

Under the Combined Code, the criteria to determine whether or not a Director is
independent have changed from those under the Hampel Code. In light of the new
criteria, the Board has determined that Lord St John of Fawsley, whilst independent
under the Hampel Code, will not be independent under the Combined Code.

Communication with shareholders

The Company is keen to maintain a dialogue with institutional shareholders in
order to ensure that the objectives of both the Company and the shareholders
are understood. A programme of meetings with institutional shareholders, fund
managers and analysts takes place each year. The Company also makes
presentations to analysts and fund managers following the half year and full year
results of the Company.

The Board views the AGM as an opportunity to communicate with private investors
and sets aside time at these meetings for shareholders to ask questions of the
Board. All members of the Board are encouraged to attend the meeting. John
Thornton, then Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, was unable to attend
the 2003 AGM due to unforeseen business commitments. Mr Thornton resigned as
a Director of the Company on 11 May 2004. All other members of the Remuneration
Committee attended the AGM, and were available to answer shareholder questions.
At the AGM, the Chairman provides a brief resumé of the Company’s activities for
the previous year to the shareholders. The Company, in accordance with the Hampel
Code, announces the number of proxy votes cast on resolutions at the AGM.

Directors’ responsibilities
The responsibilities of the Directors are set out on page 41.

Internal control

The Directors have overall responsibility for establishing and maintaining the
Group’s systems of internal control and risk management and for reviewing
their effectiveness. These systems are designed to manage, and where possible
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and to provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. An
ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced
by the Group has been established, in accordance with the guidance of the Turnbull
Committee on internal control issued in September 1999. This process has been in
place for the whole of the year ended 30 June 2004 and up to the date on which
the financial statements were approved.

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, considers the effectiveness of the
operation of the Group’s systems of internal control and risk management during
the year and this review has been carried out for the year ended 30 June 2004 and
up to the date on which the financial statements were approved. This review relates
to the Company and its subsidiaries and does not extend to joint ventures. The
Audit Committee meets on at least a quarterly basis with the Group’s internal audit
team and the external auditors.

There is a comprehensive budgeting process, and the annual budget, which is
regularly reviewed and updated, is approved by the Board. Risk assessment and
evaluation take place as an integral part of this process. Performance is monitored
against budget through weekly and monthly reporting cycles. Monthly reports on
performance are provided to the Board and the Group reports to shareholders
each quarter. Each area of the Group carries out risk assessments of its operations
and ensures that the key risks are addressed. A Risk Management Committee,
chaired by the CFO and comprising senior executives, reviews the management of
risks in all areas of the Group on a cyclical basis. The results of the Risk
Management Committee’s review are integral to the budgeting and forecasting
process and are integrated into the internal audit planning.

The internal audit team provides objective assurance as to the effectiveness of the
Group’s systems of internal control and risk management to the Group’s operating
management and to the Audit Committee.

During the year, KPMG reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s Audit and Risk
Management Department.

Use of external auditors
The Group has a policy on the provision by the external auditors of audit and
non-audit services, which categorises such services between:

- those services which the auditors are prohibited from providing;

- those services which are acceptable for the auditors to provide and the provision
of which has been pre-approved by the Audit Committee; and

- those services for which the specific approval of the Audit Committee is required
before the auditors are permitted to provide the service.

The policy defines the types of services falling under each category and sets out
the criteria which need to be met and the internal approval mechanisms required
to be completed prior to any engagement. An analysis of all services provided by
the external auditors is reviewed by the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis.

For the year ended 30 June 2004, the Audit Committee has discussed the matter of
audit independence with Deloitte & Touche LLP, the Group’s external auditors, and
has received and reviewed confirmation in writing that, in Deloitte & Touche LLP’s
professional judgement, Deloitte & Touche LLP is independent within the meaning
of regulatory and professional requirements and the objectivity of the audit
engagement partner and audit staff is not impaired.
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Remuneration Committee
1. Membership
Jacques Nasser (Chairman), David Evans and Nicholas Ferguson.

The composition of the Remuneration Committee and the changes to membership
are discussed in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 29 to 31.

2. Duties

The Remuneration Committee’s (the “Committee’s”) terms of reference are principally
concerned with the remuneration (in all its forms) of main Board Directors and other
Senior Executives of the Group whose base salary exceeds £250,000 per annum,
other than key production personnel or on-air talent.

The Committee oversees the design and structure of the Group’s package of
employee incentives including all of its share-based schemes, and sets the
performance targets applicable to such schemes. As part of this process, it seeks
to ensure that such packages provide employees with appropriate incentives to
perform, reflective of their positions and roles within the Group, and that the
employees are, in a fair and reasonable manner, rewarded for their individual
contributions to the success of the Group.

3. Meetings
The Committee met six times during the year and is scheduled to meet not less than
twice a year.

L. Advisors

The Group uses the services of Mercer Human Resource Consulting Limited
(“Mercer”), who replaced Deloitte & Touche LLP in November 2003 in providing
advice on remuneration matters to the Committee. Mercer provides advice on the
ongoing operation of the Group’s share schemes and on service agreements for
Executive Directors and Senior Executives, as required by the Committee. In
addition, during the year, the Committee sought the advice of James Murdoch, the
CEO, on matters relating to the Executive Director and Senior Executives who report
to him and to the Director of People and Organisational Development (Beryl Cook);
the Committee was supported by the Company Secretary (David Gormley). Neither
James Murdoch nor the Chairman, Rupert Murdoch, were present when matters
affecting the CEQ’s remuneration were considered.

Deloitte & Touche LLP act as the Group’s auditors, and provide other services to the
Group as detailed in note 6 to the accounts.

5. Remuneration policy

The Committee’s reward policy reflects its aim to align Executive Directors’
remuneration with shareholders’ interests and to engage world-class executive
talent for the benefit of the Group. The main principles of the policy are that:

- Total rewards should be set at appropriate levels to reflect the competitive market
in which the Group operates.

- The majority of the total reward should be linked to the achievement of
demanding performance targets.

- The wider scene, including pay and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group,
should be taken into account, especially when determining annual salary increases.

Executive Directors are not allowed to take on the chairmanship of a FTSE 100
company, but are allowed to take up one external non-executive appointment and
retain any payments in respect of this appointment.

As announced at the Company’s AGM on 14 November 2003, the Committee has
been conducting a comprehensive review of its policies during the course of 2004.
Upon finalisation, new policies will be described in the next Report on Directors’
Remuneration. Specific shareholder authorisation will be sought for any new long-
term share incentive plans.

6. Remuneration review

As a result of the ongoing review of the Group’s remuneration policies, some
changes have been made to remuneration governance and design in the year.
Details of each element of the current remuneration programme are explained in
full in their respective sections within this report, however a summary of the most
important features is set out as follows.

Governance

During the year, as part of its review of all aspects of corporate governance,
the Company’s Board has reformed the governance of its Directors’ remuneration.
Several key changes have been made to the operation of the Committee which are
described below:

Committee chairmanship and membership
Changes have been made to the composition of the Committee, as detailed in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 29 to 31.

Independence of professional advice

As a result of changes in the Group’s policy on the use of auditors for non-audit
work, the Committee no longer receives advice from Deloitte & Touche LLP. Instead,
the Committee has appointed Mercer as its chief advisor.

Consultation with investors

The Committee has been, and intends to continue to be, more proactive in
understanding shareholders’ views on executive remuneration. During the year,
it has held consultation meetings with many institutional investors, and has
taken their advice into account in arriving at remuneration decisions.

Remuneration policy for Executive Directors and Senior Executives

The review identified a number of principles for the Committee to adopt, which
have been discussed with several institutional investors, and which were used in
the design of the new CEQ’s remuneration arrangements (described in detail in
Section 16 of this report). These principles are in the process of being extended to
the other Senior Executives, including the new CFO.

In summary, the key changes are as follows:

Focus on Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) awards

The Committee believes that shares provide a better long-term incentive vehicle
than share options for Senior Executives at this stage in the Group’s evolution,
and, as such, Senior Executives participating in the LTIP will no longer participate
in the Group’s Executive Share Option Scheme. Under the revised LTIP arrangements,
dividends paid on unvested shares will be added to the outstanding grant,
providing better alignment between shareholders’ and executives’ interests.

Increased emphasis on operational performance measures

The emphasis on operational performance measures will be increased for both
the LTIP and the Key Contributor Plan (“KCP”) share schemes and the emphasis on
Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) based incentives will be reduced correspondingly.

The Committee believes that, although TSR is an important performance measure
as it aligns the interests of employees with shareholders, it is the Group’s historically
strong operational performance that has led to high market expectations for
continued excellence in operational delivery. The Committee has therefore decided,
going forward, to make the largest part (70%) of Executive Directors’ and Senior
Executives’ incentive opportunity in the LTIP dependent on a small number of
measures, including earnings per share, free cash flow per share and DTH
subscriber growth, that reflect the delivery of consistently excellent operational
results, and the remaining part (30%) based on TSR (measured relative to the
constituents of the FTSE 100).

Increased emphasis on team performance

The Committee recognises that the interactions between different areas of the
business in creating long-term shareholder value are complex. Therefore, rather
than Senior Executives being incentivised primarily through measures relevant
to their own business area, the remuneration of Senior Executives now focuses
on a smaller number of corporate-wide goals, in order to maximise the benefits
of teamwork and collaboration across the Group. This has also been
implemented in next year’s bonus policy which is based 75% on the attainment
of corporate goals and 25% on individual KPIs pertinent to the Senior Executive’s
business responsibilities.

Migration from fixed-term contracts to rolling 12-month contracts
Fixed-term contracts for Executive Directors have been replaced by rolling
12-month contracts.
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Improved transparency

Internal and external transparency of remuneration structures and incentive
payout calculations has been improved. Measures, targets and bonus calculation
mechanisms will be disclosed more explicitly than they have in previous years
(subject to commercial sensitivity). As part of this move towards increased
transparency of the relationship between pay and performance, all bonus
guarantees are being phased out.

7. Analysis of elements of remuneration

The Executive Directors’ and Senior Executives’ total direct compensation consists
of salary, annual bonus, long-term incentives, pensions and other benefits. This
reward structure is regularly reviewed by the Committee to ensure that it is
achieving the Group’s objectives.

In 2004/05, over three-quarters of Executive Directors’ potential direct remuneration
will again be performance-related.

The chart below reflects on-target values for annual bonus and the share-based
element of remuneration. The share-based element component is an annualised
expected value (“Expected Value”) based on a recognised valuation methodology.

Expected Value is an estimation of the present value of share awards, which
attempts to determine what a buyer would pay for the awards if they were for
sale. It is used to aid the comparability of the value of remuneration packages
between companies, taking into account the fact that companies use different
types of long-term incentives in different proportions.

The Expected Value of performance shares is usually based on their face value at the
time of grant. To calculate Expected Value, an adjustment is made to reflect the risk
that an award will not vest if it is subject to performance vesting criteria.

The Expected Value of performance shares is normally lower than their face value.
Although questions inevitably can be asked about the precise accuracy of Expected
Values, in most cases they are a much more realistic assessment of the
compensation value of long-term incentive awards to participants than face value.

8. Salary

The basic salary for each Executive Director and Senior Executive is determined by
the Committee taking account of the recommendation of the CEO (other than in
respect of his own salary), and information provided from external sources relative
to the industry sectors in which the Group operates.

9. Annual bonus

Executive Directors and Senior Executives participate in a bonus scheme under
which awards are made to participants at the discretion of the Committee. The level
of award is dependent on both personal performance during the relevant financial
year and the performance of the Group through the achievement of commercial and
strategic objectives. Previously, an element of the annual bonuses paid to Executive
Directors and some Senior Executives was guaranteed. Under the revised bonus
scheme arrangements no element of the annual bonuses has been guaranteed.

10. LTIP

The Company operates an LTIP for Executive Directors and Senior Executives, under
which awards may be made to any employee or full-time Director of the Group
at the discretion of the Committee. An award under the existing LTIP comprises a
performance-based share award, which may be in a variety of forms, including grants
of shares, nil-priced options or market-value options with a cash bonus, all of which
have the same value to the participant. Awards are not transferable or pensionable and
are made over a number of shares in the Company, determined by the Committee.

The awards vest, in full or in part, dependent on the satisfaction of specified
performance targets. Measurements of the extent to which performance targets
have been met are reviewed by the Committee at the date of vesting of each award,
taking account of independent advice as necessary.

As a result of the ongoing review of the Group’s remuneration policy, the Committee
has agreed that future awards made under the LTIP will be subject to performance
measurement over a period of three years, will take the form of nil-priced options,
and will be adjusted for the dividends paid by the Company during the vesting period.

During the year, awards under the plan were made to Tony Ball and Martin Stewart.
Further information on these awards can be found in Section 17 of this Report.
As part of the service agreement signed by James Murdoch, it has been agreed that
he will be awarded 450,000 shares under the LTIP following the announcement of
the Company’s results for the year ended 30 June 2004.

Where the market price of a share at the date of vesting is below the exercise price,
awards in this form have been treated as having lapsed and participants have
been eligible to receive shares for no consideration, equal to the value of their
vested award.

2003 Awards

Awards under the 2003 LTIP were granted in the form of nil-priced options.
Performance measures for the 2003 LTIP focus on rewarding performance which
results in maximised returns to shareholders. For the award made in 2003, the
Committee determined that the performance targets should be based on a
comparison of the Company’s relative TSR performance against both the FTSE 100
and the international media and telecommunications sector. The awards only
vest in full for outstanding performance against both of these comparator groups.
TSR was selected as the target as it was considered to be a clear indicator
of the value created for shareholders, and was a widely accepted measure of
performance. Unlike awards granted in previous years, these awards will vest in full
after three years.

The selected comparator companies from the international media and
telecommunications sector (“the Media Comparator Group”) were as follows:
Carlton Communications; EMAP; Granada; MediaSet; ntl; RTL; SMG; Telewest
Communications; Viacom; Vivendi Universal; Walt Disney. As a result of the merger
between Carlton Communications and Granada, these two companies were
removed from the comparator group and replaced by itv plc.

The table below sets out the proportion of the award, in percentage terms,
that vests according to performance against the Media Comparator Group and the
FTSE 100.

The Company’s TSR performance against the FTSE 100

The Company’s TSR Median to Upper Upper
performance against the Below upper  quartile decile
Media Comparator Group median quartile  or above  or above
1st highest TSR 70% 80% 100% 100%
2nd highest TSR 60% 70% 95% 100%
3rd highest TSR 50% 65% 80% 90%
4th highest TSR 45% 55% 65% 75%
5th highest TSR 40% 50% 60% 70%

6th highest TSR 30% 40% 50% 60%
7th highest TSR or lower - - - -

The awards granted to Tony Ball lapsed on 31 May 2004, on the expiry of his service
agreement with the Company. Refer to Section 17 for further details.

The awards granted to Martin Stewart were released by Martin Stewart on 31 July
2004, and replaced by a pro-rata payment. Refer to Section 17 for further details.
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2002 Awards

Awards under the 2002 LTIP took the form of market value options with a cash
bonus equal to the lower of the exercise price and the share price at the date of
exercise, with the exception of shares awarded as part of an agreement to meet the
employer’s National Insurance obligations, which did not attract a cash bonus.

Performance measures for the 2002 LTIP focused on rewarding performance
which results in maximised returns to shareholders. For the awards made in 2002,
the Committee determined that the performance targets should be based on a
comparison of the Company’s relative TSR performance against both the FTSE 100
and the Media Comparator Group. The awards only vest in full for outstanding
performance against both of these comparator groups. TSR was selected as the
target as it was considered to be a clear indicator of the value created for
shareholders, and was a widely accepted measure of performance.

The table below sets out the proportion of the awards, in percentage terms, that vest
according to performance against the Media Comparator Group and the FTSE 100.

The Company’s TSR performance against the FTSE 100

The Company’s TSR Median Upper Upper
performance against the Below to upper  quartile decile
Media Comparator Group median quartile  or above or above
1st highest TSR 70% 80% 100% 100%
2nd highest TSR 60% 70% 95% 100%
3rd highest TSR 50% 65% 80% 90%
Lth highest TSR 45% 55% 65% 75%
5th highest TSR 40% 50% 60% 70%
6th highest TSR 30% 4L0% 50% 60%
7th highest TSR or lower 5% 5% 5% 5%

The awards granted to Tony Ball lapsed on 31 May 2004, on the expiry of his service
agreement with the Company. Refer to Section 17 for further details.

The Company was placed seventh against the Media Comparator Group and was
below median against the FTSE 100, and therefore 5% of the award has vested to
Martin Stewart, representing 5,964 shares. Shares that did not vest, have rolled over
and will vest subject to satisfaction of the performance conditions at 31 July 2005.

50% of the award granted to Martin Stewart that was due to vest on 31 July 2005
was released by Martin Stewart on 31 July 2004 and was replaced by a pro-rata
payment. Refer to Section 17 for further details.

2001 Awards

Awards under the 2001 LTIP took the form of market value options with a cash
bonus equal to the lower of the exercise price and the share price at the date of
exercise with the exception of shares awarded as part of an agreement to meet
the employer’s National Insurance obligations, which do not attract a cash bonus.
Performance measures for the 2001 award focused on a mix of relative TSR
measures and key commercial targets. 50% of the award granted in November
2001 vested in full on 30 June 2003 as to 400,000 shares to Tony Ball and 200,000
shares to Martin Stewart. The additional options which were granted in respect
of the National Insurance enhancement, 54,000 to Tony Ball and 27,000 to Martin
Stewart, lapsed, as the market price on the day of exercise was below the exercise
price. This was as a result of the Company being placed second against the
International Media and Telecommunications Comparator Group (“the Media &
Telecoms Comparator Group”) in terms of TSR for the period November 2001 to
June 2003, and for the achievement of the commercial targets at 30 June 2003
using a number of key business performance measures based on DTH churn rate,
ARPU, operating cash flow margin, gross margin, profit before tax and total DTH
subscribers. The Media & Telecoms Comparator Group companies for the TSR
performance measure were: Carlton Communications; Granada; MediaSet; ntl; RTL;
SMG; Telewest Communications; and Vivendi Universal. On 12 August 2003 Tony
Ball and Martin Stewart exercised their rights under these awards, further details
of which can be found in Section 23.

The table below sets out the proportion of the award that was available to
vest according to performance against the Media and Telecoms Comparator Group.

Maximum percentage of award that
may vest if commercial measures
targets are met in full

Company position against the
Media & Telecoms Comparator Group

1st or 2nd out of 9 100%
3rd or 4th out of 9 95%
5th or 6th out of 9 75%
7th or lower out of 9 (Core Award) 60%

This level of vesting was only achievable if the Company also met the stretching
commercial targets in full, which are set out below. 75% of the remaining award
granted in November 2001 vested on 30 June 2004, as to 150,000 shares to Martin
Stewart. This was as a result of being placed fifth against the Media & Telecoms
Comparator Group in terms of TSR for the period November 2001 to June 2004, and
for the achievement of the commercial measures at 30 June 2004, as set out below.
The unvested portion of the award lapsed on 30 June 2004.

2001 LTIP performance conditions

Performance Percentage

Target achieved achieved

Total DTH Homes 7,350,000 or more 7,355,000 100%
DTH Churn Rate 9.4% or less 9.7% 97%
Operating Margin 16% or more 16.4% 103%
Operating Cash Flow Margin 21.0% or more 24.1% 115%
Normalised EPS 17.1p or more 18.3p 107%
ARPU £379 or more £380 100%

Other broadly similar arrangements are operated for certain members of senior
management not participating in the LTIP, under the terms of the KCP. Shares used
to satisfy KCP awards are acquired by the Employee Share Ownership Plan (“ESOP”)
in the market.

11. Equity Bonus Plan

In August 2002, the Company introduced an Equity Bonus Plan (“EBP”) for
Executive Directors and Senior Executives. This plan rewards performance against
key commercial measures over the financial year, with stretching targets derived
from the Group’s business plan.

Awards under the plan are made in the form of a contingent right to acquire the
Company’s shares, for nil consideration, which are acquired in the market and are
subject to performance achieved in the financial year of award.

2003 Awards

At 30 June 2004, the commercial measures for the awards made in August 2003
were achieved at a vesting level of 80%, based on the achievement of commercial
targets at 30 June 2004, as set out in the table below.

2003 EBP performance conditions

Performance Percentage

Target achieved achieved

Total DTH Homes 7,350,000 or more 7,355,000 100%
DTH Churn Rate 9.4% or less 9.7% 97%
Operating Margin 16% or more 16.4% 103%
Operating Cash Flow Margin 21.0% or more 24.1% 115%
Normalised EPS 17.1p or more 18.3p 107%
ARPU £379 or more £380 100%

The awards granted to Tony Ball lapsed on 31 May 2004 on the expiry of his service
agreement with the Company. The awards granted to Martin Stewart, which vested
as to 44,000 shares at 30 June 2004, were released by him on 31 July 2004 and he
will receive a payment equivalent to a proportion of the shares released; see
Section 17 for further details.

The delivery of the shares to Senior Executives has been deferred until 31 July 2006.
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2002 Awards

At 30 June 2003, the commercial measures for the awards granted in August 2002
were achieved in full. The delivery of the shares to the Executive Directors and Senior
Executives are deferred in equal amounts to 31 July 2004 and 31 July 2005. The
commercial targets, together with the actual results, are set out in the table below.

2002 EBP performance conditions

Performance Percentage

Target achieved achieved

Total DTH Homes 6,723,000 or more 6,845,000 102%
DTH Churn Rate 10.5% or less 9.4% 112%
Gross Margin 49.4% or more 49.7% 101%
Operating Cash Flow Margin 14.1% or more 20.8% 150%
PBT (pre-exceptional items)* £59.1m or more £138m 234%
ARPU £362 or more £366 101%

* Before prior-year restatement for adoption of Urgent Issues Task Force abstract 38
“Accounting for ESOP trusts”.

The awards granted to Tony Ball lapsed on 31 May 2004 on the expiry of his service
agreement with the Company. (For further information see Section 17). The awards
granted to Martin Stewart, which vested on 31 July 2004, will be delivered to him
in full. The awards that are due to vest on 31 July 2005 were released by Martin
Stewart on 31 July 2004 and he will receive a payment equivalent to a proportion
of the awards; see Section 17 for further details.

12. Additional Executive Bonus Scheme

The Company has operated an Additional Executive Bonus Scheme in which
beneficiaries who participate have the right to receive the growth in value on a
number of notional shares. No awards have been made under this scheme since 1999
when awards were made to Tony Ball on his commencement of employment as CEO.

The rights awarded to Tony Ball vested on 12 August 2002, and were subsequently
exercised by Tony Ball on 12 August 2003. Further details can be found in Section 22.

This scheme expires on 23 November 2004 and will not be renewed.

13. Share option schemes
The Company operates Inland Revenue Approved and Unapproved Executive Share
Option Schemes (“Executive Schemes”) and a Sharesave Scheme.

Executive Schemes

With the exception of ad hoc awards made to certain individuals on hiring, grants
under the Executive Schemes have been made, and continue to be made, on an
annual basis.

Executive Directors and Senior Executives who participate in the LTIP and EBP do
not participate in the Executive Schemes annual options award. No options were
granted to any of the Executive Directors or Senior Executives under the Executive
Schemes during the year.

The Company follows a policy of granting options to employees whose base salaries
are £50,000 or above (“eligible employees”) linked to salary. These are then subject
to approval by the department heads who may recommend that the individual
receives an additional allocation for exceptional performance. There is no limit on
the number of share options that may be granted to an individual (other than for
the purposes of granting Inland Revenue approved options), however, any proposal
to make a one-off grant of share options over four times an individual’s salary would
require the prior approval of the Remuneration Committee (irrespective of the
employee’s level of salary). No such grant has been made to date.

The performance conditions for option awards granted before August 2002 were
based on key strategic measures for the Group, including subscriber growth
measures and profit before tax.

Awards granted since August 2002 have been based on EPS targets. The use of EPS
as a performance measure for the awards aligns the interests of employees with
shareholders. Growth in EPS will have to exceed RPI plus 3% per annum in order
for awards to vest.

Measurements of the extent to which performance targets have been met are
reviewed by the Committee at the date of vesting of each award, taking account of
independent advice as necessary.

In August 1999, options over 600,000 shares were granted to Tony Ball which
were deemed to vest on 12 August 2002. These were exercised on 12 August 2003
(see Section 25).

In June 2002, options over 600,000 shares were granted to Tony Ball at an exercise
price of £7.35 as part of the arrangements agreed on the renewal of his service
agreement with the Company. Following the agreement reached with Tony Ball, on
the expiry of his contract these Executive options will remain capable of exercise to
the fullest extent applicable under the rules of the Executive Share Option Scheme
and can be exercised at any time up until 12 February 2007. If they have not been
exercised by this date they will lapse.

Following approval by shareholders at the 2000 AGM, options granted after
November 2000 may be exercised over a phased period of years, provided that, in
normal circumstances, no part of an option will be capable of exercise earlier than
one year from the date of grant. Awards made since August 2002 become capable
of vesting over a period of four years, with one third of the award capable of vesting
annually in each of years two, three and four, subject to the achievement of the
performance target. Awards that do not vest in years two or three remain capable
of vesting in the following years, subject to the achievement of performance targets.

In accordance with an agreement with the Inland Revenue, the Group can, with the
consent of the employee, pass on to the employee the cost of employer’s National
Insurance Contributions on the exercise of share options granted to UK employees
under the Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme. Where the Company has
decided to do this in the past, additional options have been granted under the
Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme to ensure that the employees, as far as
possible, are no worse off than if the National Insurance cost was not passed to them.

The Executive Schemes expire on 23 November 2004, and a resolution will be placed
before shareholders at the 2004 AGM to renew the scheme for a further ten years.

Millennium Award

In addition to the awards set out above, in December 2000 the Company made an
award over 500 shares to all employees who had not been granted options or
awards under the LTIP or the Executive Schemes in that year. This award was made
under the Approved Executive Share Option Scheme and became exercisable in
December 2003. There were no performance conditions attached to this award.

Sharesave Scheme

The Sharesave Scheme is open to all employees, including Executive Directors.
Options are normally exercisable after either three, five or seven years from the
date of grant. The price at which options are offered is not less than 80% of the
middle-market price on the dealing day immediately preceding the date of
invitation. It is the policy of the Group to make an invitation to employees to
participate in the scheme following the announcement of the end of year results.

This scheme expires on 23 November 2004, and a resolution will be placed before
shareholders at the 2004 AGM to renew the scheme for a further ten years.

1L. Pensions

The Group provides pensions to eligible employees through the BSkyB Pension
Plan, (“Pension Plan”) which is a defined contribution plan. Employees may
contribute up to 4% of basic salary into the Pension Plan each year and the Group
matches this with a contribution of up to a maximum of 8% of basic salary.
Contributions into the approved plan are subject to Inland Revenue limits. The
Group does not currently operate a Supplementary Pension Scheme in excess of
the Inland Revenue earnings cap.

For those Executives whose Pension Plan contributions are restricted due to
Inland Revenue limits, employee contributions are reduced and, where employer
contributions need to be restricted, a cash supplement is paid to the individual
equal to the shortfall in the 8% employer contribution rate.

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc Annual Report and Accounts 2004

35



Report on Directors’ Remuneration SECTION NOT SUBJECT TO AUDIT

continued

15. Other benefits

Executive Directors are entitled to a company car, life assurance equal to four times
base salary and medical insurance. In addition, they may be eligible for a
resettlement and housing allowance for a specified period.

16. Service agreements

Policy

The Remuneration Committee has introduced a policy that Executive Directors’
service agreements will contain a maximum notice period of one year. This policy
has now been fully implemented. The Committee will also consider, where
appropriate to do so, reducing remuneration to a departing director. However,
the Committee will consider such issues on a case by case basis and will consider
the terms of employment that a departing director is engaged upon. A large
proportion of each Executive Director’s total direct remuneration is linked to
performance and therefore will not be payable to the extent that the relevant targets
are not met.

James Murdoch

James Murdoch has a service agreement with the Company which was deemed to
commence on 27 November 2003 and shall continue unless, or until, terminated by
either party giving to the other not less than 12 months’ notice in writing. James
Murdoch’s remuneration consists of a base salary of £750,000 per annum. James
Murdoch will be paid a bonus amount depending upon the performance criteria
adopted by the Remuneration Committee for each financial year during the
continuance of his service agreement with the Company, including earnings
growth, subscriber growth, magnitude of free cash flow and such other criteria
which may be agreed with James Murdoch. The amount paid under this clause in
respect of the financial year ending 30 June 2005 will be £1 million, if the
performance targets for the year are met, up to a maximum of £1.5 million, where
performance targets have been exceeded, and such appropriate lesser amount if,
and to the extent, such targets are not met. The amount of bonus capable of being
earned by James Murdoch in each subsequent financial year shall not be less than
that capable of being earned in the financial year ending 30 June 2005, and shall
similarly be calibrated against the budget adopted by the Company following the
annual planning process. For the year ending 30 June 2004, James Murdoch shall
be entitled to a discretionary bonus set at a lower level to reflect, among other
matters, the fact that James Murdoch had not been employed by the Company as
CEO throughout the whole of the year ending on such date.

James Murdoch is also entitled to other benefits, namely pension benefits,
company car, life assurance equal to four times base salary and medical insurance.
He is also entitled to participate in the LTIP. He also receives a relocation allowance
(“Expense Allowance”) of £200,000 per annum up until 27 November 2006. This
Expense Allowance covers all the expenses incurred by James Murdoch in respect
of temporary accommodation following his move to the UK, all expenses in
relocating to the UK including any fees incurred in connection with obtaining any
visa or work permit required by James Murdoch or his family, cost of rental and
maintenance for home telephones and faxes, all professional fees incurred in
connection with obtaining appropriate tax advice, costs in respect of non-business
related international flights by James Murdoch and his family, and all school or
education fees in respect of his children.

James Murdoch has a non-compete clause in his service agreement specifying that
he shall not be able to work for any business or prospective business carried on
within the United Kingdom, which wholly or partially competes with the Group’s
businesses at the date of termination of his agreement. Such restriction will be for
a period of six months.

On termination of the agreement, James Murdoch will be entitled to one year’s
salary, pension and life assurance benefits from the date of termination, plus his
expense allowance equal to the value received over the previous twelve months,
except that the expense allowance would be reduced to the extent that it would
have ceased to be payable in the following twelve months. James Murdoch will also
be entitled to a pro-rata bonus up to the date of termination.

Jeremy Darroch

On 6 July 2004, the Company announced that Jeremy Darroch will be joining the
Company on 16 August 2004 as the new CFO. Jeremy Darroch will have an
employment contract with the Company which will commence on 6 July 2004 and
shall continue unless, or until, terminated by either party giving to the other not
less than 12 months’ notice in writing. Jeremy Darroch’s remuneration consists of
a base salary of £500,000 per annum and an annual discretionary bonus to be
agreed by the Committee. He is also entitled to other benefits, namely pension
benefits, company car, life assurance equal to four times base salary and medical
insurance. He will also participate in the LTIP.

Jeremy Darroch has a non-compete clause in his service agreement specifying that
he shall not be able to work for any business or prospective business carried on
within the United Kingdom, which wholly or partially competes with the Group’s
businesses at the date of termination of his agreement. Such restriction will be for
a period of twelve months.

On termination of the agreement, Jeremy Darroch will be entitled to one year’s
salary, pension and life assurance benefits from the date of termination and a
pro-rata bonus up to the date of termination.

17. Agreements with departing Executive Directors

Tony Ball

Tony Ball resigned as CEO and as a member of the Board on 4 November 2003,
and his employment with the Company ended on the expiry of his service
agreement on 31 May 2004. Details of the payments made to him are set out below.
Details of the remuneration paid to him throughout the year ended 30 June 2004
are set out in Section 20.

Payment on expiry of service agreement

On 23 September 2003, the Company announced that Tony Ball would not be
renewing his service agreement with the Company on expiry. As part of an
agreement reached with Tony Ball, the following amounts were paid to him:

Tony Ball received £10,746,064 on 31 May 2004 in return for agreeing with the
Company a two-year non-compete restriction from 1 June 2004 in respect of free
and pay television services in the UK, and until after the next renegotiation of rights
in respect of services to or on behalf of the Football Association Premier League,
and in return for waiving all of his unvested entitlements under the LTIP and EBP.
Tony Ball also agreed to waive the contractual entitlement within his service
agreement of a payment of one year of salary, bonus and benefits that would have
been paid had his agreement not been extended on expiry on 31 May 2004. The
Company has agreed that the Executive share options granted to Tony Ball will
remain capable of exercise following the expiry of his service agreement to the
fullest extent applicable under the rules of the Executive Share Option Scheme.
As part of the agreement, Tony Ball also received certain assets with a value of
£70,500, which included a car and audio visual equipment.

Martin Stewart

Martin Stewart has a service agreement with the Company, which was deemed to
commence on 1 December 1998, and shall continue unless, or until, terminated by
either party, giving to the other not less than 12 months’ notice in writing. Martin
Stewart’s remuneration consists of a base salary of £500,000 per annum and an
annual discretionary bonus to be agreed by the Committee. He is also entitled to
other benefits, namely pension benefits, company car, life assurance equal to four
times base salary and medical insurance. He also participates in the LTIP and EBP.

Martin Stewart announced his intention to leave the Company in February 2004 and
will resign on & August 2004. The Company has agreed with Martin Stewart that he
will serve his one year notice period from 1 August 2004 to 31 July 2005.

During the notice period, the non-compete terms of the agreement prevent Martin
Stewart from taking up another position at a competing company, but do not stop
him seeking employment elsewhere, with non-competing companies. Components
of the package paid to Martin Stewart during this period are essentially the same
as he would have received during normal employment except that:
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a) His annual bonus will be paid out at the 2003 level, as a ‘proxy’ for a ‘normal’ annual
bonus, and paid in two equal instalments on 31 January 2005 and 31 July 2005.

b) He will also receive a sum to compensate him for the loss of the LTIP and EBP
awards due to vest in 2005 and 2006. This will be paid on 31 August 2004. The
total payment is based on the average closing price of a BSkyB share for the
period 1 January 2004 to 31 July 2004. The payment will be a pro-rated amount
as if his employment with the Company had ended on 31 July 2004, equal to
730/1096 of the LTIP and EBP award vesting in July 2005 and 365/1096 of the LTIP
and EBP award vesting in August 2006. The balance of the 2002 LTIP award that
did not vest at 31 July 2004 will be carried over and measured at 31 July 2005.

¢) During the notice period, Martin Stewart will continue to participate in the
Company’s pension scheme and will receive his company car and certain
computer equipment.

Value of pay during
garden leave period

£000
Salary and bonus 1,000
Compensatory cash award (in lieu of outstanding shares) 1,274
Pensions 40
Benefits 50
2,364

Non-Executive Directors

The basic fees payable to the Non-Executive Directors, set by the Board of
Directors, were £38,600 each for the financial year. It is intended that in future
these will be increased on an annual basis by 5% or RPI, whichever is the
greater, unless the Board determines otherwise. The Non-Executive Directors
are paid an additional £5,000 per annum each, for membership of each of the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance
& Nominations Committee. The Chairmen of the Board, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance & Nominations
Committee each receive an additional £5,000 per annum. Each Non-Executive
Director is engaged by the Company for an initial term of three years.
Reappointment for a further term is not automatic, but may be mutually agreed.

18. Performance graph

The following graph shows the Company’s performance measured by TSR to 30
June 2004. This graph shows the growth in the value of a hypothetical £100 holding
in the Company’s ordinary shares over five years, relative to the FTSE 350 Media and
Entertainment Index, the NYSE TMT Index and FTSE 100 Index, which are
considered to be the most relevant broad equity market indices for this purpose, as
they relate directly to the Company’s sector and comparators. The graph is included
to meet a legislative requirement and is not directly relevant to the performance
criteria approved by shareholders for the Company’s long-term incentive plans.

BREAKDOWN OF SHAREHOLDER RETURN From 1 July 1999 to 30 June 2004
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19. Share interests
The interests of the Directors in the Ordinary Share capital of the Company during
the year were:

At 30 June At 30 June
Name of Director 2004 2003
Lord St John of Fawsley 2,000 2,000
Lord Rothschild 100,000 -
Lord Wilson of Dinton L86 486
David Evans 8,000 -
Martin Stewart - 2,096

Except as disclosed in this report, no other Director held any interest in the share
capital, including options, of the Company, or of any subsidiary of the Company,
during the year. All interests at the date shown are beneficial and there have been
no changes between 1 July 2004 and 3 August 2004. At 30 June 2004, the ESOP
was interested in 4,747,515 Ordinary Shares in which the Directors who are
employees are deemed to be interested by virtue of Section 324 of the Companies
Act 1985 (see note 23 to the accounts).

Approximately 30% of the Ordinary Shares of News Corporation are owned by
either (i) Rupert Murdoch (ii) Cruden Investments Pty. Limited, a private Australian
investment company owned by Rupert Murdoch, members of his family, including
James Murdoch, his son and a Director of the Company, and various corporations
and trusts, the beneficiaries of which include Rupert Murdoch, members of his
family, including James Murdoch, and certain charities, or (iii) corporations,
which are controlled by trustees of settlements and trusts set up for the benefit
of the Murdoch family, certain charities and other persons.

News UK Nominees Limited, a significant shareholder in the Group, is a subsidiary
of News Corporation. The News Corporation group has significant transactions
with the Group as set out in note 26 of the financial statements.

During the year ended 30 June 2004, the share price traded within the range of
£5.85 to £7.76 per share. The middle-market closing price on the last working day
of the financial year was £6.22.
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20. Directors’ remuneration
The emoluments of the Directors for the year are shown below:

Total Total Total Total
emoluments emoluments emoluments emoluments
Salary Bonus before including before including
and fees scheme Benefits pensions Pensions  pensions 2004 pensions Pensions  pensions 2003
£ £ £ £ £ £ f £ f
Executive

James Murdoch (i)(vii) 456,284 850,000 164,348 1,470,632 9,946 1,480,578 13,946 - 13,946
Martin Stewart 500,000 500,000 24,244 1,024,244 35,682 1,059,926 924,750 31,686 956,436
Tony Ball (ii) 717,676 12,284,064 126,644 13,128,384 56,361 13,184,745 2,303,570 156,167 2,459,737

Non-Executive
Rupert Murdoch 48,375 - - 48,375 - 48,375 17,741 - 17,741
Chase Carey 38,600 - - 38,600 - 38,600 13,946 - 13,946
David Devoe 48,151 - - 48,151 - 48,151 17,741 - 17,741
David Evans 43,600 - - 43,600 - 43,600 39,994 - 39,994
Nicholas Ferguson (iii) 2,012 - - 2,012 - 2,012 - - -
Allan Leighton 46,747 - - L6,7u47 - 46,747 41,750 - 41,750
Jacques Nasser 43,792 - - 43,792 - 43,792 26,923 - 26,923
Gail Rebuck 43,600 - - 43,600 - 43,600 25,596 - 25,596
Lord Rothschild (iv) 29,744 - - 29,744 - 29,744 - - -
Arthur Siskind 46,010 - - 46,010 - 46,010 15,843 - 15,843
Lord St John of Fawsley 47,035 - - 47,035 - 47,035 40,673 - 40,673
Lord Wilson of Dinton 44,894 - - 44,894 - 44,894 13,946 - 13,946
Philip Bowman (v) 18,069 - - 18,069 - 18,069 46,750 - 46,750
John Thornton (vi) 46,110 - - 46,110 - 46,110 53,744 - 53,744
Total emoluments 2,220,699 13,634,064 315,236 16,169,999 101,989 16,271,988 3,596,913 187,853 3,784,766

Gains on exercise of share options, LTIPs and EBP are disclosed within Sections 23, 24 and 25.

(i) James Murdoch was appointed CEO on 4 November 2003.

(i) Tony Ball resigned as a Director of the Company on 4 November 2003.

(iii) Nicholas Ferguson was appointed a Director of the Company on 15 June 2004.

(iv) Lord Rothschild was appointed a Director of the Company on 17 November 2003.

(v) Philip Bowman resigned as a Director of the Company on 14 November 2003.

(vi) John Thornton resigned as a Director of the Company on 11 May 2004.

(vii) James Murdoch’s salary and fees include £13,015, received for his services as a Non-Executive Director.

21. Pensions
The amounts received by the Directors under pension arrangements are detailed below.

Tony Ball received a payment of £22,918 (2003: a one-off payment of £113,883 and a further payment of £10,421) in relation to the shortfall in his pension arrangements.
Employer contributions of £33,443 (2003: £31,863) were paid into the BSkyB Pension Plan.

Martin Stewart received a payment of £10,511 (2003: £4,213) in relation to the shortfall in his pension arrangements. Employer contributions of £25,171 (2003: £27,473)
were paid into the BSkyB Pension Plan.

James Murdoch received a payment of £3,854 (2003: nil) in relation to the shortfall in his pension arrangements. Employer contributions of £6,092 (2003: nil) were paid
into the BSkyB Pension Plan.

22. Executive bonuses
The amounts received by the Directors under bonus schemes for the year are shown below:

Payment on Additonal Senior

expiry of Executive Management
contract  Bonus Scheme  Bonus Scheme Total
Executive Director £ £ £ £
James Murdoch n/a - 850,000 850,000
Martin Stewart n/a - 500,000 500,000
Tony Ball 10,746,064 288,000 1,250,000 12,284,064

Additional Executive Bonus Scheme
Tony Ball had rights over 600,000 notional shares which were exercised on 12 August 2003. The notional shares had an exercise price of £5.35 but the gain on exercise
was limited to a maximum of 48 pence per notional share, or £288,000 in aggregate.

During the year ended 30 June 2004 no shares (notional or actual) have been granted under this scheme.
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Senior Management Bonus Scheme
The amounts shown above are those which have been approved by the Committee for the year ended 30 June 2004.

Martin Stewart elected that, in the event of any discretionary bonus being made to him at the Company’s discretion, it should be in the form of a contribution to a funded,
unapproved retirement benefit scheme.

Tony Ball: expiry of contract

Tony Ball received £10,746,064 on 31 May 2004 in return for agreeing with the Company a two-year non-compete restriction from 1 June 2004 in respect of free and pay
television services in the UK, and until after the next renegotiation of rights in respect of services to or on behalf of the Football Association Premier League, and in return
for waiving all of his unvested entitlements under the LTIP and EBP schemes.

23. LTIP
Details of outstanding awards under the LTIP are shown below:

Number of shares under award

Granted Exercised Lapsed Market price Date from
At 30 June during the during the during the At 30 June Exercise at date of Date of which
Executive Director 2003 year year year 2004 price exercise award exercisable Expiry date
Tony Ball 454,000 - 400,000 (v) 54,000 - £10.04 £7.105 03.11.00 n/a n/a
454,000 - 400,000 (v) 54,000 - £10.04 £7.105 03.11.00 n/a n/a
454,000 - 400,000 (v) 54,000 - £8.30 £7.105 21.11.01 n/a n/a
454,000 (i) - - 454,000 - £8.30 - 21.11.01 n/a n/a
227,110 (i) - - 227,110 - £5.55 - 02.08.02 n/a n/a
227,110 (i) - - 227,110 - £5.55 - 02.08.02 n/a n/a
11,466 (i) - - 11,466 - £5.60 - 13.08.02 n/a n/a
11,466 (i) - - 11,466 - £5.60 - 13.08.02 n/a n/a
- 400,000 (i) - 400,000 - n/a - 13.08.03 n/a n/a
Martin Stewart 227,000 - 200,000 (v) 27,000 - £10.04 £7.105 03.11.00 n/a n/a
227,000 - 200,000 (v) 27,000 - £10.04 £7.105 03.11.00 n/a n/a
227,000 - 200,000 (v) 27,000 - £8.30 £7.105 21.11.01 n/a n/a
227,000 - - 77,000 150,000 (iii) £8.30 - 21.11.01 30.06.04 21.11.11
113,555 (iv) - - - 113,555 £5.55 - 02.08.02 31.07.04 31.07.12
113,555 (ii) - - - 113,555 £5.55 - 02.08.02 n/a n/a
5,733 (iv) - - - 5,733 £5.60 - 13.08.02 31.07.04 31.07.12
5,733 (ii) - - - 5,733 £5.60 - 13.08.02 n/a n/a
- 220,000 (ii) - - 220,000 n/a - 13.08.03 n/a n/a

In previous years, awards under the LTIP took the form of market value options with a cash bonus equal to the lower of the exercise price and the share price at the date
of exercise, with the exception of shares awarded as part of an agreement to meet the employer’s National Insurance obligations, which did not attract a cash bonus.
The awards granted during the year took the form of nil-priced options and were not enhanced to meet the employer’s National Insurance obligations.

Notes:

(i) These awards all lapsed on 31 May 2004 following the expiry of Tony Ball’s service agreement with the Company; see Section 17.

(ii) These awards were released on 31 July 2004; see Section 17.

(iii) These awards vested during the year. The performance conditions in relation to these awards are set out in Section 17.

(iv) 5,964 of these awards vested on 31 July 2004. At that date 95% of this award did not vest and will be rolled over and tested at 31 July 2005. The performance conditions
in respect of these awards are set out in Section 10.

(v) The aggregate amount received by the Directors under the LTIP was £12,789,000 (2003: nil).
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2L, EBP
Number of shares under award
Granted Exercised Lapsed Market price Date from
At 30 June during the during the during the At 30 June Exercise at date of which
Executive Director 2003 year year year 2004 price (i) exercise exercisable Expiry date
Tony Ball 52,000 (ii) - - 52,000 - n/a n/a n/a n/a
52,000 (ii) - - 52,000 - n/a n/a n/a n/a
- 100,000 (ii) - 100,000 - n/a n/a n/a n/a
Martin Stewart 26,000 - - - 26,000 n/a n/a 31.07.04 n/a
26,000 (iii) - - - 26,000 n/a n/a n/a n/a
- 55,000 (iii) - - 55,000 n/a n/a n/a n/a
Notes:

(i) Awards under the EBP take the form of a contingent right to acquire existing shares in the Company at the vesting date, for nil consideration.
(i) These awards lapsed on 31 May 2004 following the expiry of Tony Ball’s service contract with the Company; see Section 17.
(i) These awards were released on 31 July 2004. For further details see Section 17.

The performance conditions applicable to the awards are measured over one financial year. The shares awarded in 2002 would have delivered the shares in equal measures
at 31 July 2004 and 31 July 2005. The shares that were awarded in 2003 would have all been delivered at 31 July 2006.

25. Executive share options

Number of options

Granted Exercised Lapsed Market price Date from

At 30 June during the during the during the At 30 June Exercise at date of which
Executive Director 2003 year year year 2004 price exercise exercisable Expiry date
Tony Ball 5,145 (i) - 5,145 - - £5.83 £7.105 n/a n/a
594,855 (i) - 594,855 - - £5.83 £7.105 n/a n/a
600,000 (ii)(iii) - - - 600,000 £7.35 n/a 31.05.04 12.02.07

Notes:

(i) On 12 August 2003 the Executive Options were exercised and subsequently sold. The gain made on the exercise of the shares was £765,000.

(i) The Company has agreed that these options will remain capable of exercise to the fullest extent applicable under the rules of the Executive Scheme.
(i) The performance condition relating to these awards is set out in Section 13.

Signed on behalf of the Board,
David Gormley Company Secretary

3 August 2004
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Directors’ Responsibilities

United Kingdom company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial year and of the
profit or loss of the Group for that period.

After making enquiries, the Directors have formed a judgement, at the time of
approving the financial statements, that there is a reasonable expectation that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, the Directors continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Auditors’ Report

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of British Sky Broadcasting Group plc
We have audited the financial statements of British Sky Broadcasting Group plc
for the year ended 30 June 2004, which comprise the Profit and Loss Account,
the Balance Sheets, the Cash Flow Statement, and the related notes 1 to 29. These
financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out
therein. We have also audited the information in the part of the Report on
Directors’ Remuneration that is described as having been subject to audit.

This Report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance
with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required
to state to them in an Auditors’ Report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for
this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors

As described in the statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the Company’s
Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in
accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and accounting standards. They
are also responsible for the preparation of the other information contained in the
Annual Report including the Report on Directors’ Remuneration. Our responsibility
is to audit the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration
Report described as having been subject to audit in accordance with relevant
United Kingdom legal and regulatory requirements and auditing standards.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true
and fair view and whether the financial statements and the part of the Report on
Directors’ Remuneration described as having been subject to audit have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to
you if, in our opinion, the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the financial
statements, if the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not
received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and transactions
with the Company and other members of the Group is not disclosed.

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the Company’s
compliance with the seven provisions of the Combined Code specified for our
review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it
does not. We are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on
internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the Directors’ Report and the other information contained in the Annual
Report for the above year as described in the contents section including the
unaudited part of the Report on Directors’ Remuneration and consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with the financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies
Act 1985. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

Basis of audit opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom auditing standards
issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test basis,
of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and
the part of the Report on Directors’ Remuneration described as having been subject
to audit. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements
made by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the Company and the
Group, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and
explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient
evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part
of the Report on Directors’ Remuneration described as having been subject to audit
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity
or error. In forming our opinion, we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the Report
on Directors’ Remuneration described as having been subject to audit.

Opinion
In our opinion:

- the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group as at 30 June 2004 and of the profit of the Group for the
year then ended; and

- the financial statements and part of the Report on Directors’ Remuneration
described as having been subject to audit have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London

3 August 2004

Notes

(i) The maintenance and integrity of the British Sky Broadcasting Group plc website is the
responsibility of the Directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve
consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any
changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented
on the website.

(ii) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account

for the year ended 30 June 2004

Before
Before goodwill and

goodwill and  Goodwill and exceptional  Goodwill and 2003

exceptional exceptional 2004 items exceptional Total
items items Total as restated * items as restated *

NOTES £m £m £m fm £m £m

Turnover: Group and share of joint ventures’ turnover 3,738 - 3,738 3,263 - 3,263
Less: share of joint ventures’ turnover (82) - (82) (77) - (77)

Group turnover 2 3,656 - 3,656 3,186 - 3,186
Operating expenses, net 3 (3,056) (119) (3,175) (2,822) (116) (2,938)

EBITDA 1 702 - 702 462 5 467
Depreciation (102) - (102) (98) - (98)
Amortisation - (119) (119) - (121) (121)

Operating profit 600 (119) 481 364 (116) 248

Share of joint ventures’ and associates’ operating results 13 (5) 10 5 - 3

Profit on disposal of fixed asset investments 4 - 51 51 - -
Amounts written back to (written off) fixed asset investments, net 4 - 24 24 - (15) (15)

Profit on ordinary activities before interest and taxation 595 (34) 561 367 (131) 236

Interest receivable and similar income 5 10 - 10 L - A
Interest payable and similar charges 5 (91) - (91) (118) - (118)

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 6 514 (34) 480 253 (131) 122

Tax (charge) credit on profit on ordinary activities 8 (158) - (158) (59) 121 62

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 356 (34) 322 194 (10) 184

Equity dividends 9 (116) -

Retained profit for the financial year 23 206 184

Earnings per share - basic 10 18.3p (1.7p) 16.6p 10.2p (0.6p) 9.6p

Earnings per share - diluted 10 18.3p (1.7p) 16.6p 10.0p (0.5p) 9.5p

* The full year results for 2003 have been restated following the adoption of Urgent Issues Task Force abstract 38 “Accounting for ESOP trusts” (“UITF 38”) (see note 1).

There were no recognised gains or losses in either year other than those included within the profit and loss account, with the exception of a prior period adjustment in
respect of the adoption of UITF 38. The cumulative effect of this adjustment was a £12 million reduction to the brought forward profit and loss reserve at 1 July 2003.

Details of movements on reserves are shown in note 23.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated profit and loss account.

All results relate to continuing operations.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
at 30 June 2004

2003
200L as restated *
NOTES £m fm
Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 11 417 536
Tangible fixed assets 12 376 346
Investments:
Investments in associates 1 -
Investments in joint ventures: Share of gross assets 72 87
: Share of gross liabilities (45) (59)
: Transfer to creditors 5 2
Total investments in joint ventures and associates 13 33 30
Other fixed asset investments 1% 2 Ly
Total investments 35 74
828 956
Current assets
Stocks 15 375 370
Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year
- deferred tax asset 16 L9 31
- other 17 321 363
370 394
Debtors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
- deferred tax asset 16 102 159
- other 17 42 N
144 223
Cash and liquid resources:
- current asset investments 173 -
- cash at bank and in hand L74 L7
27b 647 47
1,536 1,034
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 18 (1,170) (967)
Net current assets 366 67
Total assets less current liabilities 1,194 1,023
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
- long-term borrowings 19 (1,076) (1,152)
- accruals and deferred income 19 (28) (20)
(1,104) (1,172)
Provisions for liabilities and charges 21 - (3)
90 (152)
Capital and reserves - equity
Called-up share capital 22 971 969
Share premium 23 1,437 2,536
Shares to be issued 23 - 3
ESOP reserve 23 (30) (35)
Merger reserve 23 222 299
Special reserve 23 14 -
Profit and loss account 23 (2,524) (3,924)
Shareholders’ funds (deficit) 23 920 (152)
* The balance sheet as at 30 June 2003 has been restated following the adoption of UITF 38 (see note 1).
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated balance sheet.
Signed on behalf of the Board,
James Murdoch Chief Executive Officer
Martin Stewart Chief Financial Officer
3 August 2004
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Company Balance Sheet
at 30 June 2004

2004 2003
NOTES £m fm
Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets 12 10 2
Other fixed asset investments 14 4,862 4,905
4,872 4,907
Current assets
Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year
- deferred tax asset 16 31 15
- other 17 888 529
919 544
Debtors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
- deferred tax asset 16 70 108
- other 17 3 L
73 112
Cash at bank and in hand L6 -
1,038 656
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 18 (1,250) (452)
Net current (liabilities) assets (212) 204
Total assets less current liabilities 4,660 5,111
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 19 (1,069) (1,880)
3,591 3,231
Capital and reserves - equity
Called-up share capital 22 971 969
Share premium 23 1,437 2,536
Shares to be issued 23 - 3
Capital reserve 23 8Ll 844
Special reserve 23 14 -
Profit and loss account 23 325 (1,121)
Shareholders’ funds 23 3,591 3,231

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet.

Signed on behalf of the Board,
James Murdoch Chief Executive Officer
Martin Stewart Chief Financial Officer

3 August 2004

Lb
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2004

2004 2003

NOTES £m fm
Net cash inflow from operating activities 27a 882 664
Dividends received from joint ventures b 4
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received and similar income 7 3
Interest paid and similar charges (89) (127)
Interest element of finance lease payments - (1)
Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance (82) (125)
Taxation
UK corporation tax paid (55) (18)
Consortium relief paid (3) -
Net cash outflow from taxation (58) (18)
Capital expenditure and financial investment
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets (132) (98)
Receipts from sales of fixed asset investments 116 1
Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and financial investment (16) (97)
Acquisitions and disposals
Funding to joint ventures and associates (5) (15)
Repayments of funding from joint ventures and associates 6 5
Net cash inflow (outflow) from acquisitions and disposals 1 (10)
Equity dividends paid (53) -
Net cash inflow before management of liquid resources and financing 678 418
Management of liquid resources (511) 1
Financing
Proceeds from issue of Ordinary Shares 20 5
Purchase of own shares for Employee Share Ownership Plan (22) -
Capital element of finance lease payments 27b (1) (2)
Net decrease in debt due after more than one year 27b (75) (425)
Net cash outflow from financing (78) (422)
Increase (decrease) in cash 27¢ 89 (3)
Decrease in net debt 27c 676 423
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated cash flow statement.
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01

Notes to Financial Statements

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies are summarised below. All of these have been
applied consistently throughout the year and the preceding year.

a) Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
modified to include the revaluation of certain investments, and in accordance with
applicable United Kingdom financial reporting and accounting standards, including
the adoption of Urgent Issues Task Force Abstract 38 “Accounting for ESOP trusts”
(“UITF 38”), which has come into force since the previous year end.

UITF 38 requires that the Company’s shares held by the Group’s Employee Share
Ownership Plan (“ESOP”), which were previously held within fixed asset investments,
be presented as a deduction from shareholders’ funds. In addition, the charge to the
profit and loss account in relation to awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan
(“LTIP”), the Key Contributor Plan (“KCP”) and the Equity Bonus Plan (“EBP”), which
was previously based on the cost of shares held by the ESOP, is now based on the
difference between the market price on the date of grant and the exercise price.

The adoption of UITF 38 has been treated as a prior year adjustment with
comparative figures being restated accordingly. The adoption has resulted in the
restatement of the following primary statements and notes: the Consolidated Profit
and Loss Account; the Consolidated Balance Sheet; Operating expenses, net; Profit
on ordinary activities before taxation; Staff costs; Taxation; Earnings per share; Other
fixed asset investments; Creditors: amounts falling due within one year; and the
Reconciliation of movement in shareholders’ funds. The impact of the prior year
adjustment on brought forward net assets and the profit for the year to 30 June 2003
has been disclosed in note 23.

The Group has taken advantage of the exemption in Urgent Issues Task Force
Abstract 17 (Revised 2003) “Employee share schemes” and has not applied the
abstract to the Group’s Inland Revenue approved Sharesave Scheme.

b) Basis of consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company
and all of its subsidiary undertakings. All companies are consolidated using
acquisition accounting, and all inter-company balances and transactions have been
eliminated on consolidation.

The Group maintains a 52 or 53 week fiscal year ending on the Sunday nearest
to 30 June in each year. In fiscal year 2004 this date was 27 June 2004, this being
a 52 week year (2003: 29 June 2003, 52 week year).

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in section 230 of the Companies
Act 1985 not to present its own profit and loss account. The Company’s result for the
financial year determined in accordance with the Act is disclosed in note 23.

c) Acquisitions

On the acquisition of a business, fair values are attributed to the Group’s share of
separable net assets acquired. Subsidiary undertakings are accounted for from the
effective date of acquisition until the effective date of disposal. Adjustments are also
made to bring the accounting policies into line with those of the Group. Where
statutory merger relief is applicable, the difference between the fair value of the
shares issued as purchase consideration and the nominal value of the shares issued
as purchase consideration has been treated as a merger reserve in the consolidated
accounts. The results and cash flows relating to an acquired business are included
in the consolidated profit and loss account and the consolidated cash flow statement
from the date of acquisition.

d) Goodwill and other intangible assets

Where the cost of acquisition exceeds the fair values attributable to the net assets
acquired, the difference is treated as purchased goodwill and capitalised on the
Group balance sheet in the year of acquisition. Purchased goodwill arising on
acquisitions from 1 July 1998 is capitalised. Prior to 1 July 1998, goodwill arising
on acquisitions was eliminated against reserves. As permitted by FRS 10, this
goodwill has not been restated on the balance sheet. On disposal or closure of a
previously acquired business, any goodwill previously written off to reserves is
included in calculating the profit or loss on disposal.

Other intangible assets, all of which have been acquired and are controlled through
custody or legal rights and could be sold separately from the rest of the business,
are capitalised where fair value can be reliably measured.

Where capitalised goodwill and intangible assets are regarded as having a limited
useful economic life, the cost is amortised on a straight-line basis over that life of
up to 20 years. Any amortisation or impairment write-downs are charged to the
profit and loss account.

e) Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and
any provision for impairment. Land and assets in the course of construction are
not depreciated.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost, less estimated residual value, of each
asset on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. Principal annual rates
used for this purpose are:

Freehold buildings 4%
Leasehold improvements Lower of lease period or life of the asset
Equipment, fixtures and fittings:
- Fixtures and fittings

- Computer equipment

- Technical equipment

- Motor vehicles

10% - 20%
20% - 33'/:%
10% - 20%
25%

f) Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill

Intangible fixed assets, goodwill and tangible fixed assets are reviewed for
impairment if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable. Goodwill and intangible fixed assets are also reviewed for impairment
at the end of the first full financial year after acquisition. Should an impairment
review be required, this is performed in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard (“FRS”) 11, “Impairment of fixed assets and goodwill”.

g) Interests in joint ventures

Joint ventures are entities in which the Group holds a long-term interest and shares
control under a contractual arrangement. These investments are dealt with by the
gross equity method of accounting. Provision is made within creditors where the
Group’s share of a joint venture’s loss exceeds the Group’s funding to date.

h) Fixed asset investments
The Group’s fixed asset investments are stated at cost, less any provision for
permanent diminution in value.

In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiary undertakings are
stated at cost, with the exception of the investment in Sky Television Limited which
is stated at valuation. Provision is made for any impairment in value. Where
statutory merger relief is applicable, the cost has been measured by reference to the
nominal value only of the shares issued. Any premium has not been recognised.

i) Stocks

Acquired and commissioned television programme rights

Programme rights are stated at cost including, where applicable, estimated
escalation payments, and net of accumulated amortisation. Provisions are made for
any programme rights which are surplus to Group requirements or which will not
be shown for any other reason.

Contractual obligations for programme rights not yet available for transmission are
not included in the cost of programme rights, but are disclosed as contractual
commitments (see note 24). Payments made upon receipt of commissioned and
acquired programming, but in advance of the legal right to broadcast the
programmes, are treated as prepayments. Programme rights are recorded in stock
at cost when the programmes are available for transmission.

Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of programme rights. The principal
rates used for this purpose are:

Sports = 100% on first showing, or, where contracts provide for sports rights for
multiple seasons or competitions, the amortisation of each contract is based on
anticipated revenue.
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Notes to Financial Statements

continued

Accounting policies (continued)
Current affairs = 100% on first showing.

General entertainment - Straight-line basis on each transmission.
- One showing planned - 100%

- Two showings planned - 60%; 40%

- Three showings planned - 50%; 30%; 20%

- Four showings planned - 40%; 30%; 20%; 10%

Movies - Acquired movies are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of
transmission rights. Where acquired movie rights provide for a second availability
window, 10% of the cost is allocated to that window. Own movie productions are
amortised in line with anticipated revenue over a maximum of five years.

Set-top boxes and related equipment

Set-top boxes and related equipment includes digital set-top boxes, Low Noise
Blockers (“LNBs”) and mini-dishes. These stocks are valued at the lower of cost and
net realisable value (“NRV”), the latter of which reflects the value to the business
of the set-top box and the related equipment in the hands of the customer. Any
subsidy is expensed on enablement, which is the process of activating the viewing
card once inserted in the set-top box upon installation, so as to enable a viewer to
view encrypted broadcast services, and effectively represents the completion of the
installation process for new subscribers.

Raw materials, consumables and goods held for resale
Raw materials, consumables and goods held for resale are valued at the lower of
cost and NRV.

j) Transponder rental prepayments

Payments made in advance to secure satellite capacity have been recorded as
prepaid transponder rentals. These payments are amortised on a straight-line basis
to the profit and loss account from commencement of broadcasting to the end of
the rental period, normally 10 years.

k) Taxation
Corporation tax payable is provided at current rates on all taxable profits.

1) Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of timing differences that have originated but
not reversed at the balance sheet date, where transactions or events that result in
an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future
have occurred at the balance sheet date.

A net deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only
when, on the basis of all available evidence, it can be regarded as more likely than
not that there will be suitable taxable profits against which carried forward tax
losses can be offset and from which the future reversal of underlying timing
differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the
periods in which the timing differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates
and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis.

m) Foreign currency

Trading activities denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in sterling at
actual exchange rates as of the date of the transaction or at the contracted rate if
the transaction is covered by a forward foreign exchange contract or other hedging
instrument. Monetary assets, liabilities and commitments denominated in foreign
currencies at the year end are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
year end or, if hedged, at the appropriate hedged rate.

n) Derivatives and other financial instruments

The Group uses a number of derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposures
to fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates. Receipts and payments on
interest rate instruments are recognised on an accruals basis over the life of the
instrument. Gains and losses on those instruments which are designated as hedges
are not recognised until the underlying creditor being hedged is recognised.

Cash flows associated with derivative financial instruments are classified in the cash
flow statement in a manner consistent with those of the underlying transactions
being hedged. If an instrument ceases to be designated as a hedge, for example,
by the underlying hedged position being eliminated, the instrument is marked to
market and any resulting gain or loss is recognised immediately in the profit
and loss account.

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative
purposes.

o) Turnover

Turnover, which excludes value added tax and sales between Group companies,
represents the value of products and services sold. The Group’s main sources of
turnover are recognised as follows:

- Revenues from the provision of direct-to-home (“DTH”) subscription services are
recognised as the services are provided. Pay-per-view revenue is recognised
when the event, movie or football match is viewed.

- Cable revenues are recognised as the services are provided to the cable wholesalers
and are based on the number of subscribers taking the Sky channels, as reported
to the Group by the cable companies, and the applicable rate card.

- Advertising sales revenues are recognised when the advertising is broadcast.

- Interactive revenues include income from betting and gaming, on-line
advertising, e-mail, e-commerce, telephony income from the use of interactive
services (e.g. voting), text services and set-top box subsidy recovery revenues
earned through conditional access and access control charges made to customers
on the Sky digital platform. Betting and gaming revenues represent: a) amounts
receivable in respect of bets placed on events which occur in the year; and b) net
customer losses in the year in respect of the on-line casino operations. All other
Interactive revenues are recognised when the goods or services are delivered.

- Other revenues principally include income from installations, Sky+ and
Multiroom Digibox sales revenues, Sky Talk revenues, sales of set-top boxes,
service call revenue, warranty revenue, customer management service fees,
conditional access fees and access control fees. Other revenues are recognised,
net of any discount given, when the relevant service has been provided.

Revenues derived from the sale of surplus programming and surplus transponder
capacity are recognised net against programming and transmission and related
functions costs respectively, since these revenues are not derived from transactions
that the Group is in business to provide.

p) EBITDA

EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation) is
calculated as operating profit before depreciation and amortisation or impairment
of goodwill and intangible fixed assets.

q) Pension costs

The Group provides pensions to eligible employees through the BSkyB Pension
Plan, a defined contribution pension scheme. The amount charged to the profit
and loss account in the year represents the cost of contributions payable by the
Group to the scheme in that year. The assets of the BSkyB Pension Plan are held
independently of the Group.

r) Leases

Assets held under finance leases, which confer rights and obligations similar to
those attached to owned assets, are treated as tangible fixed assets. Depreciation
is provided over the shorter of the lease term and the asset’s useful economic life,
and the deemed capital element of future rentals is included within creditors.
Deemed interest is then taken to the profit and loss account as interest payable over
the life of the lease.

The rental costs arising from operating leases are charged to the profit and loss
account in the year in which they are incurred.
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03

04

Notes to Financial Statements

continued

Turnover
2004 2003
£m fm
Direct-to-home subscribers 2,660 2,341
Cable subscribers 215 202
Advertising 312 284
Interactive 307 218
Other 162 141
3,656 3,186

All Group turnover is derived from the Group’s sole class of business, being television broadcasting together with certain ancillary functions. Turnover arises principally
within the United Kingdom from activities conducted from the United Kingdom, with the exception of £7 million of turnover (2003: nil) which relates to activities
conducted from the Channel Islands. In order to provide shareholders with additional information, the Group’s turnover has been analysed as shown above.

All turnover arises from services provided to the United Kingdom, with the exception of £115 million (2003: £93 million) which arises from services provided to Ireland and
£9 million (2003: £9 million) which arises from services provided to the Channel Islands.

The Group’s profit before tax and its net assets relate to activities conducted in the United Kingdom, with the exception of £3 million profit (2003: £1 million loss) and
£4 million net assets (2003: £1 million net assets) which relate to activities conducted in the Channel Islands.

Operating expenses, net

Before

Before goodwill and
goodwill and  Goodwill and exceptional  Goodwill and 2003
exceptional exceptional 2004 items exceptional Total
items items Total as restated items as restated
£m £m £m fm fm fm
Programming (i) 1,711 - 1,711 1,604 - 1,604
Transmission and related functions (i) 146 - 146 143 - 143
Marketing 396 - 396 400 - 400
Subscriber management 371 - 371 324 - 324
Administration 257 119 376 243 116 359
Betting 175 - 175 108 - 108
3,056 119 3,175 2,822 116 2,938

(i) The amounts shown are net of £11 million (2003: £12 million) receivable from the disposal of programming rights not acquired for use by the Group, and £28 million
(2003: £26 million) in respect of the provision to third party broadcasters of spare transponder capacity.

Exceptional items

Credit

Credit Taxation (charge) Taxation
before (charge) 2004 before (charge) 2003
taxation credit Total taxation credit Total
£m £m £m £m £m fm
Release of provision against ITV Digital programming debtors (iii) - - - 5 (2) 3
Exceptional operating items - - - 5 (2) 3
Profit on disposal of fixed asset investments (i) 51 - 51 - - -
Amounts written back to (written off) fixed asset investments, net (ii), (iv) 24 - 24 (15) - (15)
Recognition of deferred tax asset (v) - - - - 123 123
Total exceptional items 75 - 75 (10) 121 111

2004

Other exceptional items:

(i) Profit on disposal of fixed asset investments
On 1 March 2004, the Group sold its 20% shareholding in QVC (UK), operator of QVC - The Shopping Channel, for £49 million in cash, realising a profit on disposal of
£49 million.

On 7 October 2003, the Group disposed of its listed investment in Manchester United plc, realising a profit on disposal of £2 million.
(i) Amounts written back to (written off) fixed asset investments, net

The Group reduced its provision against its minority equity investments in football clubs by £33 million, due to the disposal of its investment in Manchester United plc in
October 2003, for £62 million in cash. The Group also increased its provision against its remaining minority equity investments in football clubs by a further £9 million.
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05

Notes to Financial Statements

continued

Exceptional items (continued)
2003

Exceptional operating items

(i) ITV Digital
The Group provided in full against all unprovided balances owed by ITV Digital, following the announcement by the joint administrators of ITV Digital on 30 April 2002
of the closure of pay television services on the platform and their intention to close the administration. During 2003, the Group received £5 million from ITV Digital’s
administrators and released £5 million of its exceptional operating provision accordingly.

Other exceptional items

(iv) Amounts written off fixed asset investments, net
At 31 December 2002, the Group made a further provision against its minority investments in football clubs, leading to a non-cash exceptional charge of £21 million.
Subsequently, the Group reduced its provision against its investment in Chelsea Village plc at 30 June 2003 by £3 million, following the agreement to sell its minority
investment in July 2003.

At 31 December 2002, the Group reduced its deferred revenue balance relating to minority investments in new media companies by £5 million, and reduced both its
investment and its provision against the investment in these companies accordingly.

At 31 December 2002, the Group made a provision against its investment in Open TV shares, leading to a non-cash exceptional charge of £3 million, bringing the
carrying value of the Group’s investment in Open TV to nil. During February and March 2003, the Group disposed of its entire investment in Open TV shares, leading to
a nil profit or loss on disposal.

Recognition of deferred tax asset

At 30 June 2003, following a review of the forecast utilisation of tax losses within the Group, and as a consequence of a planned reorganisation of certain assets within
the Group, there was sufficient evidence to support the recognition of a deferred tax asset arising on losses incurred in the Company. Accordingly, a deferred tax credit
of £123 million was recognised as an exceptional item.

(v

Interest

(a) Interest receivable and similar income

2004 2003
£m £m
Group

Interest receivable on cash and liquid resources 8 2
Other interest receivable and similar income 1 1
9 3

Joint ventures and associates
Share of joint ventures’ and associates’ interest receivable 1 1
Total interest receivable and similar income 10 4
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Notes to Financial Statements

continued

Interest (continued)

(b) Interest payable and similar charges

2004 2003
£m £m
Group
On bank loans, overdrafts and other loans repayable within five years, not by instalments:
- £200 million revolving credit facility (“RCF”) (i) 2 2
- £750 million RCF (ii) - 27
- £600 million RCF (ii) 6 4
US$650 million of 8.200% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2009 30 31
£100 million of 7.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2009 8 8
US$600 million of 6.875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2009 30 30
US$300 million of 7.300% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2006 14 14
Finance lease interest - 1
Other interest payable and similar charges - 1
90 118
Joint ventures and associates
Share of joint ventures’ and associates’ interest payable 1 -
Total interest payable and similar charges 91 118

(i) In March 2003, the Group voluntarily cancelled £100 million of its £300 million RCF. The remaining £200 million RCF expired without being renewed on 29 June 2004.
(ii) In March 2003, the Group entered into a £600 million RCF. This facility was used to cancel the previous £750 million RCF, which was entered into in July 1999. The facility

is available for general corporate purposes, but was undrawn at 30 June 2004. It is due to expire in March 2008.

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation

2003
2004 as restated
£m £m
The profit on ordinary activities before taxation is stated after charging (crediting):
- depreciation:
- owned assets 100 96
- assets held under finance leases 2 2
- amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 119 121
- joint ventures’ and associates’ goodwill amortisation, net (10) -
- amounts (written back to) written off fixed asset investments, net (24) 15
- loss on disposal of fixed assets 1 -
- profit on disposal of fixed asset investments (51) -
- rentals on operating leases and similar arrangements:
- land and buildings 10 9
- plant and machinery 74 80
- staff costs 332 305
Amounts payable to the auditors are analysed below:
2004 2003
£m £m
Statutory audit services 1 1
Audit-related services 1 1
Audit and audit-related services 2 2
Tax advisory services - 1
Customer relationship management (“CRM”) Centre development 5
Other services - 1
Non-audit related services 6

During the year, the auditors received £7 million (2003: £5 million) in respect of ongoing CRM Centre development services. Due to the complex and long-term nature of
the CRM Centre development work, the Group is satisfied that Deloitte & Touche LLP should continue to provide these services. The Audit Committee was satisfied
throughout the year that the objectivity and independence of Deloitte & Touche LLP was not in any way impaired by either the nature of the

non-audit related services undertaken during the year, the level of non-audit fees charged, or any other facts or circumstances.

The Company did not pay any amounts to the auditors in respect of audit services during either year, as the cost was borne by another Group undertaking in both years.
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Notes to Financial Statements

continued

Staff costs

(a) Employee costs
Employee costs for permanent employees, temporary employees and Executive Directors during the year were as follows:

2003

2004 as restated

£m £m

Wages and salaries 275 234
Costs of LTIP, KCP, EBP and other share-related incentive schemes (i) 16 33
Social security costs 29 26
Other pension costs 12 12
332 305

(i) During the year, the Group has adopted UITF 38, which has affected the calculation of the charge in respect of share options and has led to a restatement of the prior
years figures (see note 1). This has not had a material impact on the reported charge in respect of share options in the current year.

The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme through the BSkyB Pension Plan (“the Plan”). The pension charge for the year represents the cost of
contributions payable by the Group to the Plan during the year and amounted to £12 million (2003: £12 million). The Group’s contributions owing to the Plan at 30 June
2004 were £1 million (2003: £1 million).

The average monthly number of full-time equivalent persons (including temporary employees) employed by the Group during the year was as follows:

2004 2003

number number

Programming 1,295 1,106
Transmission and related functions 1,394 1,383
Marketing 209 199
Subscriber management 5,418 5,381
Administration 1,051 954
Betting 133 109
9,500 9,132

(b) Directors’ emoluments
A detailed breakdown of remuneration for each Director, the terms of their employment contracts and their rights under the Group’s incentive schemes are given within
the Report on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 32 to 40, of which Sections 20 to 25 are audited.

Taxation

(a) Analysis of charge in year

Tax charge
Tax charge (credit) on
(credit) on profit before
profit before Exceptional exceptional Exceptional 2003
exceptional tax charge 2004 items tax charge Total
items (credit) Total as restated (credit) as restated
£m £m £m £m fm fm
Current tax
UK corporation tax 127 - 127 85 2 87
Adjustment in respect of prior years (8) - (8) - - -
Total current tax charge 119 - 119 85 2 87
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences 34 - 34 (26) (123) (149)
Increase (decrease) in estimate of recoverable deferred tax asset in respect
of prior years 5 - 5 (2) - (2)
Total deferred tax charge (credit) 39 - 39 (28) (123) (151)
Share of joint ventures’ and associates’ tax charge - - - 2 - 2
158 - 158 59 (121) (62)

All taxation relates to UK corporation tax.

In 2003, the Group recorded a deferred tax credit of £163 million relating to deferred tax assets not previously recognised. The Directors considered there was sufficient
evidence to support the recognition of these deferred tax assets on the basis that it was more likely than not there would be suitable taxable profits against which these
assets could be utilised. £123 million of the deferred tax credit was treated as an exceptional item.
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Notes to Financial Statements

continued

Taxation (continued)

(b) Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year
The current tax charge for the year is lower (2003: higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30%) applied to profits on ordinary activities before tax.
The differences are explained below:

2003
2004 as restated
£m £m
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 430 122
Less: share of joint ventures’ and associates’ loss (profit) before tax 5 (3)
Profit on ordinary activities before tax (excluding joint ventures and associates) L85 119
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30% (2003: 30%) 146 36
Effects of:
Gain exempt from taxation (15) -
Goodwill 33 36
Other permanent differences (9) 6
Utilisation of tax losses (29) (7)
Other timing differences (L) 14
Consortium relief 3 -
Tax on partnership profits 2 2
Current tax charge for the year 127 87

(c) Factors that may affect future tax charges

At 30 June 2004, a deferred tax asset of £13 million (2003: £13 million) arising from UK losses in the Group, has not been recognised. These losses can be offset only against
taxable profits generated in the entities concerned. Although the Directors ultimately expect sufficient profits to arise, there is currently insufficient evidence to support
recognition of a deferred tax asset relating to these losses. The losses are available to be carried forward indefinitely under current law.

A deferred tax asset of £64 million (2003: £64 million) has not been recognised in respect of trading losses in the Group’s German holding companies of KirchPayTV,
and a deferred tax asset of £450 million (2003: £450 million) has not been recognised in respect of potential capital losses related to the Group’s holding of KirchPayTV on
the basis that these timing differences are not more likely than not to reverse. A deferred tax asset of £6 million (2003: £5 million) arising principally on other timing
differences has not been recognised, on the basis that these timing differences are not more likely than not to reverse.

The Group has realised and unrealised capital losses in respect of football club and other investments estimated to be in excess of £21 million (2003: £28 million) which
have not been recognised as a deferred tax asset, on the basis that they are not more likely than not to be utilised and thus reverse.

Equity dividends

2004 2003

£m £m

Interim dividend paid of 2.75p (2003: nil) per Ordinary Share 53 -
Final proposed dividend of 3.25p (2003: nil) per Ordinary Share 63 -
116 -

The ESOP has waived its rights to dividends.
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continued

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share represents the profit on ordinary activities after taxation attributable to the equity shareholders, divided by the weighted average number of
Ordinary Shares in issue during the year, less the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares held in the Group’s ESOP trust during the year.

Diluted earnings per share represents the profit on ordinary activities after taxation attributable to the equity shareholders, divided by the weighted average number
of Ordinary Shares in issue during the year, less the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares held in the Group’s ESOP trust during the year, plus the weighted
average number of dilutive shares resulting from share options and other potential Ordinary Shares outstanding during the year (see below).

The weighted average number of shares were:

2004 2003

Millions of Millions of

shares shares

Ordinary Shares 1,940 1,921
ESOP trust Ordinary Shares (2) (6)
Basic shares 1,938 1,915
Dilutive Ordinary Shares from share options and other potential Ordinary Shares outstanding 8 27
Diluted shares 1,946 1,942
2003

2004 Before After

Before After goodwill goodwill and goodwill and

goodwill and and exceptional exceptional

exceptional Exceptional exceptional items Exceptional items

items Goodwill items items as restated Goodwill items as restated

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation £356m (£109m) £75m £322m £194m (£121m) £111m £184m
Earnings per share - basic 18.3p (5.6p) 3.9p 16.6p 10.2p (6.4p) 5.8p 9.6p
Earnings per share - diluted 18.3p (5.6p) 3.9 16.6p 10.0p (6.2p) 5.7p 9.5p

Earnings per share is shown calculated by reference to profits both before and after goodwill and exceptional items and related tax, since the Directors consider that this
gives a useful, additional indication of underlying performance.

Intangible fixed assets

The movement in the year was as follows:

Goodwill
£m

Group
Cost
Beginning and end of year 820
Amortisation
Beginning of year 284
Charge 119
End of year 403
Net book value
Beginning of year 536
End of year 417

Goodwill of £272 million, £543 million and £5 million, arising on the acquisitions of Sports Internet Group (“SIG”), British Interactive Broadcasting (“BiB”) and WAPTV
respectively, is being amortised over periods of seven years on a straight-line basis.

In accordance with FRS 11, impairment reviews were performed on the carrying values of BiB and SIG goodwill balances at the end of the first full financial year after
acquisition, at 30 June 2002, which did not indicate impairment. Consistent with Group strategy, the business plans on which these reviews were based reflect significant
projected increases in betting and other interactive revenues over the subsequent five years. The Group continues to monitor the performance of these businesses and is
satisfied that no impairment of goodwill has occurred.

At 30 June 2004, the Group made a provision of £3 million, included within amortisation, against goodwill which arose on the acquisition of Planetfootball.com Limited
(a company which provides website services to the sports industry), reducing the carrying value to nil. The provision was made as a result of an impairment review which
showed that the expected future cash flows of the business would not support a carrying value for the goodwill.
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continued

Tangible fixed assets

(a) Group
The movement in the year was as follows:
Freehold Short Equipment, Assets in
land and leasehold fixtures and course of
buildings (i) improvements fittings (ii) construction Total
fm £m £m £m £m
Cost
Beginning of year 45 82 640 29 796
Additions - - 61 72 133
Disposals - - (2) - (2)
End of year L5 82 699 101 927
Depreciation
Beginning of year 9 47 394 - 450
Charge 1 98 - 102
Disposals - - (1) - (1)
End of year 10 50 491 - 551
Net book value
Beginning of year 36 35 246 29 346
End of year 35 32 208 101 376

() The amounts shown include assets held under finance leases with a net book value of £6 million (2003: £6 million). Depreciation charged during the year on such

assets was nil (2003: nil).

Depreciation was not charged on £9 million of land (2003: £9 million).

(ii) The amounts shown include assets held under finance leases with a net book value of nil (2003: £2 million). Depreciation charged during the year on these assets

was £2 million (2003: £2 million).

(b) Company
The movement in the year was as follows:

Short Assets in
leasehold course of
improvements construction Total
£m £m £m
Cost
Beginning of year 3
Additions - 9
End of year 9 12
Depreciation
Beginning of year 1 - 1
Charge 1 - 1
End of year 2 - 2
Net book value
Beginning of year 2 2
End of year 1 10
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Investments in joint ventures and associates

The movement in the year was as follows:

2004 2003
£m £m

Group
Cost and funding, excluding goodwill
Beginning of year 235 225
Loans advanced 5 15
Loans repaid (6) (5)
End of year 234 235
Transfer from creditors (i) 5 2
Movement in share of underlying net liabilities
Beginning of year (207) (205)
Additions 10 -
Share of operating results (5) 3
Share of interest receivable 1 1
Share of interest payable (1) -
Share of tax charges - (2)
Dividends received (&) (&)
End of year (206) (207)
Goodwill
Beginning of year - -
Additions (ii) (10) -
Amortisation, net (ii) 10 -
End of year - -
Net book value
Beginning of year 30 22
End of year (iii) 33 30

(i) The investment in joint ventures and associates excludes cumulative losses of £5 million (2003: £2 million), which represent losses in excess of the funding provided.

The related obligation is recorded within creditors.

(i) Goodwill additions includes £11 million of negative goodwill arising on the acquisition of an additional 16.7% stake in Attheraces Holdings Limited. This has been
written off to the profit and loss account immediately on acquisition. In addition, £1 million of goodwill has arisen on the purchase of certain joint ventures and associates.
(i) The net book value above includes a listed investment with a net book value of £5 million at 30 June 2004 (2003: £5 million). The aggregate market value of this

investment at 30 June 2004 was £8 million (2003: £5 million).

The following information is given in respect of the Group’s share of joint ventures and associates:

2004 2003
£m fm
Turnover 83 77
Fixed assets 3 A
Current assets 71 83
Liabilities due within one year (&0) (48)
Liabilities due after more than one year (6) (11)
Associates with a net book value of £1 million (2003: nil) are included in the total investment in joint ventures and associates.
Other fixed asset investments
The following are included in the net book value of other fixed asset investments:
Group Company
Group 2003 Company 2003
2004 as restated 2004 as restated
£m £m £m £m
Investments in subsidiary undertakings (a) - - 4,861 4,862
Other fixed asset investments (b) 2 Ly 1 43
2 Ll 4,862 4,905
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Other fixed asset investments (continued)

(a) Investments in subsidiary undertakings
The movement in the year was as follows:

Company 2004 2003
Cost or valuation (i) £m £m
Beginning of year 7,381 7,491
Additions - 1
Disposals (1) -
Merger relief (ii) - (111)
End of year 7,380 7,381
Provision

Beginning and end of year 2,519 2,519
Net book value

Beginning of year 4,862 4,972
End of year 4,861 4,862

(i) Since 30 June 1994, the Company’s cost of investment in Sky Television Limited has been carried at Directors’ valuation of £995 million (£930 million above cost), being
Sky Television Limited’s net asset value at that date. The net book value is nil (2003: nil).

2003
(ii) The Company took advantage of merger relief available under Section 131 of the Companies Act 1985 and reduced its investment in BiB following the issue of shares
on 11 November 2002 to BT in respect of the deferred consideration for the acquisition of 19.9% of BiB in June 2001.

(b) Other fixed asset investments

Group Group Company Company
2004 2003 2004 2003
£m £m £m £m
Cost
Beginning of year 1,105 1,120 121 121
Transfer to joint ventures (vi) - (1) - -
Disposals (i) to (iii), (vii) to (ix) (85) (14) (85) -
End of year 1,020 1,105 36 121
Provision
Beginning of year 1,061 1,055 78 60
Transfer to joint ventures (vi) - (1) - -
Disposals (iii), (vii) to (ix) (19) (14) (19) -
(Released) provided during the year, net (ii), (iv), (v), (viii) (24) 21 (24) 18
End of year 1,018 1,061 35 78
Net book value
Beginning of year L 65 43 61
End of year 2 L 1 43

2004

(i) On 1 March 2004, the Group sold its 20% shareholding in QVC (UK), operator of QVC - The Shopping Channel, for £49 million in cash, realising a profit on disposal of
£49 million. The carrying value of this investment prior to disposal was nil.

(i) On 7 October 2003, the Group announced that it had sold its entire holding in Manchester United plc for £62 million, recognising a profit on disposal of £2 million
following the release of a £33 million provision previously held against the investment.

(i) In August 2003, the Group sold its 9.9% equity investment in Chelsea Village plc, reducing the cost by £25 million and the provision by £19 million to reflect the disposal.

(iv) The Group has increased its provision against its remaining minority equity investments in football clubs by a further £9 million during the year.

2003

(v) At 31 December 2002, the Group made a provision against its minority equity investments in football clubs, leading to a non-cash exceptional charge of £21 million,
reduced by £3 million to reflect the post year end disposal of its investment in Chelsea Village plc.

(vi) In April 2003, the Group’s total investment in Mykindaplace Limited increased to 26%. The investment was subsequently transferred to Investments in joint ventures
from Other fixed asset investments at its net book value of nil.

(vii) At 31 December 2002, the Group reduced its deferred revenue balance relating to minority investments in new media companies by £5 million, and reduced both its
investment and its provision against the investment in these companies accordingly.
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Other fixed asset investments (continued)

(viii) At 31 December 2002, the Group made a provision against its investment in Open TV shares, leading to a non-cash exceptional charge of £3 million. This reduced the
carrying value of the Group’s investment in Open TV to nil. Between 12 February 2003 and 24 March 2003, the Group disposed of its entire investment in Open TV
shares for total consideration of nil, resulting in nil profit or loss.

(ix) In March 2003, the Group disposed of its investment in Streetsonline Limited for total consideration of £1 million, which had been held at a cost of £6 million less
provision of £6 million. These amounts were written back upon disposal of the Group’s investment in Streetsonline Limited.

Further analysis of listed investments is shown below:

Group Group Company Company

2004 2003 2004 2003

£m £m £m £m

Carrying value of listed investments included above (i) 1 37 1 37
Aggregate market value of listed investments at end of year 1 45 1 45

(i) Including investments listed on OFEX.

No tax liability would arise on the sale of these listed investments at the market value shown above as no gains would arise.

Stocks
2004 2003
£m £m
Group
Television programme rights 322 337
Set-top boxes and related equipment L9 29
Raw materials and consumables 2 2
Other goods held for resale 2 2
375 370
At least 87% (2003: 79%) of the existing television programme rights at 30 June 2004 will be amortised within one year.
Deferred tax asset
Group Group Company Company
2004 2003 2004 2003
£m £m £m £m
Included within debtors due within one year:
- tax losses carried forward 43 21 31 15
- accelerated capital allowances 6 7 - -
- short-term timing differences - 3 - -
49 31 31 15
Included within debtors due after more than one year:
- tax losses carried forward 75 125 70 108
- accelerated capital allowances 15 21 - -
- short-term timing differences 12 13 - -
102 159 70 108
151 190 101 123
Deferred tax asset
Beginning of year 190 39 123 -
(Charge) credit in the profit and loss account during the year (39) 151 (22) 123
End of year 151 190 101 123

Group

The total deferred tax asset recognised at 30 June 2004 includes £118 million (2003: £146 million) of tax losses carried forward that can be offset only against future taxable
profits generated by the Company in which these tax losses reside. The Directors consider that there is sufficient evidence to support the recognition of this deferred tax asset
on the basis that it is more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable profits against which this asset can be utilised.
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continued

Deferred tax asset (continued)
The amount of unrecognised deferred tax present within the Group is disclosed in note 8.

Company

The total deferred tax asset recognised at 30 June 2004 of £101 million (2003: £123 million) can be offset only against future taxable profits generated in the Company.
The Directors consider that there is sufficient evidence to support the recognition of this deferred tax asset on the basis that it is more likely than not that there will be
suitable taxable profits against which this asset can be utilised.

The Company has £16 million unrecognised deferred tax (2003: £23 million) relating to realised and unrealised capital losses in respect of football club investments on the
basis that they are not more likely than not to be utilised and thus reverse.

Other debtors
Group Group Company Company
2004 2003 2004 2003
£m £m £m £m
Amounts falling due within one year
Trade debtors 165 171 - -
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 887 506
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates 8 16 - -
Amounts owed by other related parties 2 - - -
Other debtors 3 6 - -
Prepaid programme rights 35 54 - -
Prepaid transponder rentals 15 17 - -
Advance corporation tax - 40 - 21
Other prepayments and accrued income 93 59 1 2
321 363 888 529
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Prepaid programme rights 6 3 - -
Prepaid transponder rentals 30 49 -
Other prepayments and accrued income 6 12 3 4L
42 64 3 4
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Group
Group 2003 Company Company
2004 as restated 2004 2003
£m £m £m £m
Trade creditors (i) 390 323 - -
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings (ii) - - 1,152 416
Amounts due to joint ventures and associates 8 1 - -
Amounts due to other related parties Lo 25 - -
UK corporation tax L8 28 - -
VAT 92 62 - -
Social security and PAYE 8 - - -
Proposed dividend 63 - 63 -
Defined contribution pension scheme creditor 1 1 - -
Other creditors 60 54 - -
Accruals and deferred income L60 473 35 36
1,170 967 1,250 452

(i) Included within trade creditors are £250 million (2003: £226 million) of US dollar-denominated programme creditors. At least 80% (2003: 90%) of these were covered
by forward rate currency contracts.

(ii) £736 million due to subsidiary undertakings has been reclassified in the current year from amounts falling due after more than one year and represents an interest-
free loan which is repayable on demand, and, to the extent not previously repaid, repayable in full on 30 June 2007.
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Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Group Company Company
2004 2003 2004 2003
£m fm £m £m
Long-term borrowings
£600 million RCF (a) - 75 - 75
US$650 million of 8.200% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2009 (b) 413 413 413 413
£100 million of 7.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2009 (b) 100 100 100 100
US$600 million of 6.875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2009 (b) 367 367 367 367
US$300 million of 7.300% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2006 (b) 189 189 189 189
Obligations under finance leases (c) 7 8 - -
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings (d) - - - 736
1,076 1,152 1,069 1,880
Other
Accruals and deferred income 28 20 - -
1,104 1,172 1,069 1,880
(a) RCFs

In March 2003, the Group entered into a £600 million RCF. This facility was used to cancel a £750 million RCF, which had been agreed in July 1999, and can be used for
general corporate purposes. The £600 million facility has a maturity date of March 2008, and interest accrues at a margin of between 0.600% and 1.125% above the
London Inter-Bank Offer Rate (“LIBOR”), dependent on the Group’s Net debt: EBITDA leverage ratio (as defined in the loan agreement). Until June 2004, the margin was
fixed at 1.125%, and shall not fall below 0.700% per annum above LIBOR prior to March 2006.

Also in March 2003, the Group voluntarily cancelled £100 million of the £300 million March 2001 RCF. The remaining £200 million RCF expired without being renewed on
29 June 2004.

(b) Guaranteed notes
At 30 June 2004, the Group also had in issue the following publicly-traded guaranteed notes:

US$650 million of 8.200% Guaranteed Notes, repayable in July 2009. At the time of issuing these notes, the US dollar proceeds were swapped into pounds sterling
(£413 million) at an average fixed rate of 7.653% payable semi-annually. In December 2002, March 2003 and July 2003, the Group entered into further swap arrangements
relating to £63.5 million of this debt, the effect of which was to fix the interest rate on £63.5 million at 5.990% until January 2004, after which time it reverted to floating
six months LIBOR plus a margin of 2.840%, except that should LIBOR be less than 2.750% for the period January to July 2004, 2.890% for the period July 2004 to January
2005, or 2.990% thereafter, the effective rate shall be deemed to be 7.653%. In order to increase its exposure to floating rates, in August 2003, the Group entered into
another interest rate hedging arrangement in respect of a further £63.5 million of the above-mentioned debt, the effect of which was that, from July 2003 until July 2009,
the Group will pay floating six months LIBOR plus a margin of 2.8175% on this £63.5 million, except that should LIBOR be less than 2.750% for the period January to July
2004, or less than 2.990% thereafter, the Group shall revert back to 7.653%. At 30 June 2004, none of the floor levels had been breached, therefore the Group continues
to pay the relevant floating rates.

£100 million of 7.750% Guaranteed Notes, repayable in July 2009. The fixed coupon is payable annually. In March 2004, the Group entered into an interest rate swap
arrangement in respect of £50 million of this debt, whereby the previously fixed rate of 7.750% was swapped to a floating rate of LIBOR plus a margin of 2.050% from July
2004 to July 2005. On 9 July 2005, and every 9 July thereafter, the counterparty has the right, but not the obligation, to cancel this swap, returning the Group to its previous
fixed rate of 7.750%.

US$600 million of 6.875% Guaranteed Notes, repayable in February 2009. At the time of issuing these notes, the US dollar proceeds were swapped into pounds sterling
(£367 million) at an average fixed rate of 8.200%, payable semi-annually. In July 2003, the Group entered into a further interest rate hedging arrangement in respect
of £61.2 million of this swapped debt. The effect of this new hedging arrangement was that, from July 2003 until February 2009, the Group will pay floating six
months LIBOR plus a margin of 3.490% on £61.2 million of its swapped debt. However, at each six monthly reset date, the counterparty to this transaction has the right
to cancel the transaction with immediate effect. In October 2003, the Group entered into a further interest rate hedging arrangement in respect of a further £61.2 million
of this swapped debt, the effect of which was to reduce the rate payable to 7.950% for the period August 2003 to February 2004. Thereafter, until August 2006, the rate
payable is 7.950% plus any margin by which the floating six monthly LIBOR reset rate exceeds the sum of the previous reset rate plus 0.500%. Thereafter, the rate reverts
to a fixed 8.180%.

USS$300 million of 7.300% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2006. At the time of issuing these notes, the Group entered into swap transactions to convert the
dollar proceeds to pounds sterling (£189 million), half of which carries a fixed rate of interest of 8.384% until maturity, payable semi-annually. The remainder was fixed
at 7.940% until 15 April 2002, thereafter floating at 0.620% over six months LIBOR, again payable semi-annually. In respect of this remaining floating exposure, on 16
January 2002, the Group entered into a further interest rate hedging arrangement to fix the rate at 6.130% from 15 April 2002, payable semi-annually for the remainder
of the life of the notes.

Both the bank facilities and the publicly-traded guaranteed notes have been issued by the Company and guaranteed by both British Sky Broadcasting Limited and Sky
Subscribers Services Limited.
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Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)

Borrowings outstanding, which exclude finance leases, are repayable as follows:

Group Group Company Company
2004 2003 2004 2003
£m £m £m £m
Amounts repayable:
- between two and five years 556 264 556 1,000
- after five years 513 880 513 880
1,069 1,144 1,069 1,880
(c) Finance leases
Obligations under finance leases are repayable as follows:
Group Group Company Company
2004 2003 2004 2003
£m £m £m £m
Amounts repayable:
- between one and two years - 1 - -
- between two and five years 1 1 - -
- after five years 6 6 - -
7 8 - -

At 30 June 2004, all obligations under finance leases represent amounts drawn down in connection with the CRM Centre in Dunfermline. Repayments of £1 million
(2003: £1 million) were made against the CRM Centre lease and repayments of nil (2003: £2 million) were made against the IT asset leases, which were fully repaid in the
prior year. A proportion of these payments has been allocated to any capital amount outstanding. The CRM Centre lease bears interest at a rate of 8.5% and expires in
September 2020.

(d) Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings
£736 million due to subsidiary undertakings has been reclassified in the current year to amounts falling due within one year.
Derivatives and other financial instruments

On pages 11 to 12, the Operating and Financial Review provides an explanation of the role that financial instruments have had in the management of the Group’s funding,
liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks during the year.

As permitted by FRS 13 “Derivatives and other financial instruments: disclosures” (“FRS 13”), short-term debtors and creditors have been excluded from the following
disclosures, other than with regard to the currency risks disclosures.

Interest rate risks
After taking into account interest rate swaps and forward foreign currency contracts entered into by the Group, the interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
was as follows:

2004 2003

Fixed Floating Total Fixed Floating Total

£m 827 249 1,076 1,077 75 1,152
Weighted average interest rate 7.8% 7.6% 7.8% 7.7% 4.8% 7.5%

Weighted average period for which the rate is fixed (years) L3 n/a n/a 5.2 n/a n/a

Weighted average term (years) L3 4.2 L3 5.4 4.8 5.4

Further details of interest rates on long-term borrowings are given in note 19.

Cash and liquid resources of £647 million (2003: £47 million) comprises cash at bank of £63 million (2003: £14 million), bank deposits of £411 million (2003: £33 million)
in a variety of maturities of up to nine months, and purchased corporate commercial paper of £173 million (2003: nil) in a variety of maturities of up to six months,
all attracting rates of interest of London Inter-Bank Bid Rate (“LIBID”) or above.
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Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)

Currency risks

The table below shows the Group’s currency exposures after hedging that give rise to the net currency gains and losses recognised in the profit and loss account. Such exposures
comprise the net monetary assets and liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in the functional currency of the operating unit involved and principally consist of cash
deposits, trade debtors and trade creditors.

Net foreign currency monetary assets (Em)

2004 2003
usb Euros Total usb Euros Total

Functional currency of Group operating unit
Sterling 42 Uy | 83 14 30 L

As at 30 June 2004 and 30 June 2003, the Group also held open various currency forward contracts that the Group had taken out to hedge expected future foreign currency
commitments (see note 24(a)).

Liquidity risks
The profile of the Group’s financial liabilities, other than short-term creditors, is shown in note 19. The profile of provisions is shown in note 21.

The Group’s undrawn committed bank facilities, subject to covenants, were as follows:

2004 2003

£m £m

Expiring within one year - 200
Expiring between one and two years - -
Expiring in more than two years 600 525
Total 600 725

The £200 million undrawn committed bank facilities, expiring within one year at 30 June 2003, expired on 29 June 2004.

Fair values
Set out below is a comparison by category of the book values and the estimated fair values of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities, and associated derivative
financial instruments, as at 30 June 2004 and 30 June 2003:

2004 2004 2003 2003
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£m £m £m £m
Primary financial instruments held or issued to finance the Group’s operations:

Bank borrowings - - (75) (75)
Quoted bond debt (1,069) (1,060) (1,069) (1,185)
Finance leases (7) (7) (8) (8)
Bank deposits 411 411 33 33
Commercial paper 173 173 - -
Cash at bank 63 63 14 14

Derivative financial instruments held to manage the interest rate and currency profile:
Interest rate swaps - (18) - 7
Exchange rate swaps - (87) - -
Forward foreign currency contracts - (41) - (51)

The fair values of quoted bond debt are based on period-end mid-market quoted prices. The fair values of other borrowings are estimated by discounting the future cash
flows to net present value. The fair values of derivative financial instruments are estimated by calculating the differences between the contracted rates and the appropriate
market rates prevailing at the period-ends.

The differences between book values and fair values reflect unrealised gains or losses inherent in the instruments, based on valuations as at 30 June 2004 and 30 June
2003. The volatile nature of the markets means that values at any subsequent date could be significantly different from the values reported above.

In addition to the financial instruments in the above fair value table, the Group had holdings in the equity share capital of other listed investments at 30 June 2004 and
30 June 2003. See notes 13 and 14 for disclosure of their book values and fair values.

Hedges
The Group’s policy is to hedge the following exposures:

- interest rate risk, using interest rate swaps and swaptions
- transactional currency exposures, using forward foreign currency contracts
- exposures on long-term foreign currency debt, using cross-currency swaps

Gains and losses on hedging instruments which are eligible for hedge accounting treatment are not recognised until the hedged position is recognised.
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Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)

Unrecognised gains and losses on instruments used for hedging, and the movements therein, are as follows:

2004 2003

Total net gains Total net gains

Gains Losses (losses) Gains Losses (losses)

£m £m £m £m fm fm

Unrecognised gains and losses at the beginning of the year 39 (83) (L) 4 (64) 10

Gains and losses arising in previous years that were recognised in the year - L6 L6 - 46 46
Gains and losses arising before the beginning of the year that were

not recognised in the year 39 (37) 2 74 (18) 56

Gains and losses arising in the year that were not recognised in the year (31) (117) (1438) (35) (65) (100)

Unrecognised gains and losses on hedges at the end of the year 8 (154) (146) 39 (83) (Lk)

Of which:
Gains and losses expected to be recognised in the next year 1 (&41) (&0) - (46) (46)
Gains and losses expected to be recognised after the next year 7 (113) (106) 39 (37) 2

Provisions for liabilities and charges

Sky Interactive
reorganisation

provision
£m
Group
At 1 July 2002 4
Utilised in year (1)
At 30 June 2003 3
Utilised in year (1)
Released in year

At 30 June 2004

The Sky Interactive reorganisation provision principally comprised the cost of an onerous contract associated with the reorganisation and consolidation of all interactive
and on-line activities within the division ‘Sky Interactive’. Of the remaining £3 million of the provision, £2 million was released during the year as an operating item

following the renegotiation of the contract.

Called-up share capital

2004 2003
£m £m
Authorised
3,000,000,000 (2003: 3,000,000,000) Ordinary Shares of 50p 1,500 1,500
Allotted, called-up and fully paid - equity
1,941,712,786 (2003: 1,937,754,876) Ordinary Shares of 50p 971 969
Allotted and fully paid during the year:
Number of

Ordinary Shares

Beginning of year

Options exercised under the Executive Share Option Scheme at between £2.560 and £6.620
Options exercised under the Sharesave Scheme at between £3.020 and £9.710

Shares issued in respect of deferred consideration for the acquisition of WAPTV Limited
End of year

1,937,754,876
3,431,125
188,030
338,755
1,941,712,786

Movements in share capital in the year ended 30 June 2004 are described in note 23.
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Called-up share capital (continued)

Share option and contingent share award schemes
Total options and awards in existence at 30 June 2004 were as follows:

Number of
Scheme Ordinary Shares
Executive Share Option Scheme Options (a) 41,362,873
Sharesave Scheme Options (b) 3,711,041
LTIP Awards (c) 3,700,219
KCP Awards (d) 1,568,543
EBP Awards (e) 623,000
50,965,676
(a) Executive Share Option Scheme Options

Options in existence at 30 June 2004 under the Executive Schemes are shown in the table below:
Number of Option price Exercisable
Date of grant Ordinary Shares £ from (i)
8-Dec-94 37,830 2.560 8-Dec-97
15-May-97 5,286 5.675 15-May-00
10-Jun-97 5,020 5.975 10-Jun-00
18-Aug-97 6,864 4.370 18-Aug-00
18-Aug-97 21,809 4.420 18-Aug-00
4-Feb-98 8,298 3.615 4-Feb-01
1-Dec-98 2,784,173 5.010 1-Dec-01
7-May-99 4,589 4.350 7-May-02
18-0ct-99 1,124 0.980 18-0ct-02
29-0ct-99 3,458,886 6.385 29-0ct-02
22-Nov-99 107,775 6.495 22-Nov-02
5-Apr-00 41,517 13.970 5-Apr-03
12-May-00 20,800 12.980 12-May-03
22-May-00 21,842 10.530 22-May-03
23-May-00 126,529 9.800 23-May-03
12-Jun-00 12,247 11.430 12-Jun-03
30-Jun-00 100,931 12.880 30-Jun-03
26-Jul-00 46,077 12.370 26-Jul-03
30-Aug-00 220,168 11.400 30-Aug-03
23-Nov-00 4,904,213 9.900 23-Nov-01
1-Dec-00 2,640,000 9.840 1-Dec-03
4-Jan-01 59,534 10.750 4-Jan-02
26-Feb-01 66,746 9.340 26-Feb-02
6-Mar-01 92,416 9.290 6-Mar-02
14-Mar-01 121,289 8.950 14-Mar-02
21-May-01 74,644 7.190 21-May-02
4-Jun-01 94,480 7.165 4-Jun-02
26-Jul-01 184,815 7.080 26-Jul-02
6-Nov-01 8,399,474 7.940 6-Nov-02
13-Nov-01 26,668 8.360 13-Nov-02
4-Jan-02 88,057 7.890 4-Jan-03
14-Feb-02 12,479 7.005 14-Feb-03
26-Feb-02 20,343 6.850 26-Feb-03
14-May-02 32,689 6.820 14-May-03
5-Jun-02 600,000 7.350 31-May-04
28-Jun-02 13,725 6.180 28-Jun-03
5-Aug-02 8,898,648 5.300 5-Aug-04
20-Sep-02 47,815 5.185 20-Sep-04
30-Sep-02 14,581 5.305 30-Sep-04
2-Jan-03 229,296 6.390 2-Jan-05
20-Feb-03 64,362 6.005 20-Feb-05
18-Mar-03 74,672 6.100 18-Mar-05
1-Sep-03 7,568,664 6.620 1-Sep-05
25-Feb-04 1,498 7.155 25-Feb-06

41,362,873
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Called-up share capital (continued)

Further details regarding the Approved and Unapproved Executive Share Option Schemes can be found in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 32 to 40.

(i) Unapproved options granted up to and including August 2000 become exercisable in full three years after the date of grant (subject to the satisfaction of performance
conditions). Options granted between November 2000 and June 2002 inclusive become exercisable over a period of four years from the date of grant, with a quarter
vesting on each of the first, second, third and fourth anniversaries of grant (subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions), with the exception of the options
granted on 1 December 2000, which became exercisable in full three years after the date of grant, and those granted on 5 June 2002, which became exercisable in full
on 31 May 2004. Options granted since June 2002 become exercisable over a period of four years from the date of grant, with a third vesting on each of the second,
third and fourth anniversaries of grant (subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions). All approved options become exercisable in full three years after the date

of grant (subject to satisfaction of performance conditions).

(b) Sharesave Scheme Options
Options in existence at 30 June 2004 under the Sharesave Scheme are shown in the table below:

Number of Option price Exercisable
Date of grant Ordinary Shares £ from
2-Nov-96 506 4.620 1-Jan-04
27-0ct-97 19,596 3.720 1-Jan-05
28-Sep-98 54,248 3.780 1-Dec-05
18-0ct-99 139,932 4.620 1-Jan-05
18-0ct-99 21,227 4.620 1-Jan-07
3-0ct-00 15,989 9.710 1-Jan-04
3-0ct-00 48,067 9.710 1-Jan-06
3-0ct-00 15,465 9.710 1-Jan-08
28-Sep-01 446,672 6.112 1-Jan-05
28-Sep-01 115,984 6.112 1-Jan-07
28-Sep-01 30,643 6.112 1-Jan-09
30-Sep-02 1,220,179 4.750 1-Feb-06
30-Sep-02 447,130 4.750 1-Feb-08
30-Sep-02 112,822 4.750 1-Feb-10
3-0ct-03 756,808 5.300 1-Feb-07
3-0ct-03 222,486 5.300 1-Feb-09
3-0ct-03 43,287 5.300 1-Feb-11

3,711,041
Further details regarding the Sharesave Scheme can be found in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 32 to 40.
(c) LTIP Awards
Awards in existence at 30 June 2004 under the LTIP are shown in the table below:

Number of Option price Exercisable
Date of grant Ordinary Shares £ from
21-Nov-01 1,035,688 8.300 30-Jun-04
2-Aug-02 552,490 5.550 31-Jul-04
2-Aug-02 552,491 5.550 31-Jul-05
13-Aug-02 27,895 5.600 31-Jul-04
13-Aug-02 27,895 5.600 31-Jul-05
2-Jan-03 91,880 6.390 31-Jul-04
2-Jan-03 91,880 6.390 31-Jul-05
13-Aug-03 1,240,000 0.000 31-Jul-06
12-Feb-04 80,000 0.000 31-Jul-06

3,700,219
Further details regarding the LTIP can be found in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 32 to 40.
(d) KCP Awards
Awards in existence at 30 June 2004 under the KCP are shown in the table below:

Number of Option price Exercisable
Date of grant Ordinary Shares £ from
21-Nov-01 31,500 8.300 31-Jul-03
9-Aug-02 244,400 5.700 31-Jul-04
14-Aug-02 2,600 5.655 31-Jul-04
13-Aug-03 645,793 0.000 31-Jul-04
13-Aug-03 644,250 0.000 31-Jul-05

1,568,543
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Called-up share capital (continued)
Further details regarding the KCP can be found in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 32 to 40.

(e) EBP Awards
Awards in existence at 30 June 2004 under the EBP are shown in the table below:

Number of  Option price (i) Exercisable
Date of grant Ordinary Shares £ from
2-Aug-02 126,500 n/a 31-Jul-04
2-Aug-02 126,500 n/a 31-Jul-05
2-Jan-03 20,000 n/a 31-Jul-04
2-Jan-03 20,000 n/a 31-Jul-05
13-Aug-03 310,000 n/a 31-Jul-06
12-Feb-04 20,000 n/a 31-Jul-06
623,000
(i) Awards under the EBP take the form of a contingent right to acquire existing BSkyB shares at the vesting date.
Further details regarding the EBP can be found in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 32 to 40.
Reconciliation of movement in shareholders’ funds
Movement in shareholders’ funds for both Group and Company include all movements in reserves.
(a) Group
Total equity
shareholders’
Share Share Shares to ESOP Merger Special Profit and funds
capital premium be issued reserve reserve reserve loss account (deficit)
fm £m £m £m fm fm fm £m
At 1 July 2002 97 2,410 256 - 267 - (4,180) (300)
Issue of share capital 22 126 (253) - 111 - (1) 5
Profit for the financial year - - - - - - 190 190
Transfer from merger reserve - - - - (79) - 79 -
At 1 July 2003 - as previously stated 969 2,536 3 - 299 - (3,912) (105)
Prior year adjustment - - (35) - - (12) (47)
At 1 July 2003 - as restated 969 2,536 (35) 299 - (3,924) (152)
Issue of share capital 21 (3) - - - - 20
ESOP shares utilised - - - 27 - - 11 38
ESOP shares purchased - - - (22) - - - (22)
Profit for the financial year - - - - - - 322 322
Dividends - - - - - - (116) (116)
Share premium reduction - (1,120) - - - 14 1,106 -
Transfer from merger reserve - - - - (77) - 77 -
At 30 June 2004 971 1,437 - (30) 222 14 (2,524) 90
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Reconciliation of movement in shareholders’ funds (continued)

(b) Company

Total equity

Share Share Shares to Capital Special Profit and  shareholders’

capital premium be issued reserve reserve loss account funds

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 July 2002 947 2,410 256 844 - (1,177) 3,280
Issue of share capital 22 126 (253) - - - (105)
Profit for the financial year - - - - - 56 56
At 1 July 2003 969 2,536 3 8uL - (1,121) 3,231
Issue of share capital 2 21 (3) - - - 20
Share premium reduction - (1,120) - - 14 1,106 -
Profit for the financial year - - - - - 456 456
Dividends - - - - - (116) (116)
At 30 June 2004 971 1,437 - 8uL 14 325 3,591

Share premium reduction

On 10 December 2003, the High Court approved a reduction in the Company’s share premium account of £1,120 million, as approved by the Company’s shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting held on 14 November 2003. The reduction had the effect of eliminating the Company’s deficit on its profit and loss account as at 30 September
2003 of £1,106 million, and creating a non-distributable special reserve of £14 million, which represents the excess of the share premium reduction over the deficit.

Share option schemes
During the period the Company issued shares with a market value of £26 million (2003: £6 million) in respect of the exercise of options awarded under various share option
schemes, with £20 million (2003: £5 million) received from employees.

At 30 June 2004, the Group’s ESOP held 4,747,515 Ordinary Shares in the Company at an average value of £6.25 per share. The 4,339,497 shares utilised during the period
relate to the exercise of LTIP, KCP and Executive Share Option Scheme awards. As a result of the adoption of UITF 38, the Group’s ESOP shares, which were previously held
within investments, are now presented as a deduction from shareholders’ funds. In addition, the brought forward profit and loss reserve at 1 July 2003 was reduced by
£12 million. The impact of adopting UITF 38 was accordingly to reduce net assets at 1 July 2003 by £47 million, and to reduce profit for the year to 30 June 2003 by
£6 million (see note 1).

The movement in the ESOP shares held was as follows:

Number of Group

Ordinary Shares £m

Beginning of year 5,457,012 35
Share options exercised during the year (4,339,497) (27)
Shares repurchased by the Group during the year 3,630,000 22
End of year 4,747,515 30

Contingent consideration
On 30 September 2003, the Company issued 338,755 (2003: nil) Ordinary Shares to satisfy the remaining contingent consideration in respect of the acquisition of the
remaining 5% interest in WAPTV Limited which occurred in May 2001.

In the prior year, the Company issued 43.2 million shares with a fair value of £253 million to HSBC, Matsushita and BT (“the selling shareholders”) in respect of deferred
consideration for the acquisition of the remaining 67.5% of BiB in May and June 2001. The Group also agreed with the selling shareholders certain other terms relating to
the agreement reached on 15 July 2000 for the acquisition by the Group of the interest of the selling shareholders in BiB. These included the waiver of the selling
shareholders’ rights under the earn out provisions. The earn out provisions provided that if the valuation of BiB was £3 billion or more in January or July 2003, further
contingent consideration would have been payable to the selling shareholders. Additional Group merger reserve of £111 million was created in relation to 20.8 million
shares issued to BT in respect of deferred consideration for the acquisition of 19.9% of BiB.

Merger reserve
During the year, £36 million (2003: £35 million) relating to the amortisation of BiB goodwill and £41 million (2003: £44 million) relating to the amortisation of SIG goodwill
was transferred from the Group merger reserve to the Group profit and loss reserve.

Goodwill
At 30 June 2004, the cumulative goodwill written off directly to reserves by the Group amounted to £524 million (2003: £524 million).

Receipt of dividend in specie
On 24 October 2003, the Company received a dividend in specie of the Sky Brand at nil book value from British Sky Broadcasting Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary.
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Guarantees, contingencies and other financial commitments

(a) Future expenditure

Group Group
2004 2003
£m £m

Contracted for but not provided for in the accounts
Television programme rights (i) 2,489 1,618
Set-top boxes and related equipment 70 106
Third party payments (ii) 41 L6
Capital expenditure 17 3
Other purchase obligations 61 7
2,678 1,780

(i) Of the commitments for television programme rights, £766 million (2003: £692 million) related to commitments payable in US dollars for periods of up to nine years
(2003: ten years), £87 million (2003: £136 million) related to commitments payable in Swiss francs for periods of up to two years (2003: three years) and £6 million
(2003: nil) related to commitments payable in Euros for periods of up to two years.

To hedge a proportion of these commitments, at 30 June 2004, the Group had outstanding forward rate contracts to purchase, in aggregate, US$705 million
(2003: US$903 million) at an average rate of US$1.6227:£1 (2003: US$1.4925:£1) and CHF90 million (2003: CHF99 million) at an average rate of CHF2.2899:£1 and
CHF1.5099:Euro 1 (2003: CHF2.0834:£1 and CHF1.4844:Euro 1).

At 30 June 2004, the US dollar television programme rights commitments have been translated at the year end rate of US$1.8219:£1 (2003: US$1.6497:£1), except for
US$340 million (2003: US$566 million) covered by forward rate contracts where the average forward rate set out above has been used. The Swiss franc commitments
have been translated at the year end rate of CHF2.2743:£1 (2003: CHF2.2288: £1) except for CHF90 million (2003: CHF99 million) covered by forward rate contracts
where the average forward rates set out above have been used. The Euro commitments have been translated at the year end rate of Euro 1.5020:£1.

Certain of the US dollar commitments disclosed above are subject to price escalation clauses in accordance with the terms of certain of the movie programme rights
contracts and are for periods of up to six years (2003: six years). The extent of the escalation, and hence of the commitments, is dependent both upon the number of
DTH subscribers to the relevant movie channel and, in certain cases, upon inflationary increases. If subscriber numbers were to remain at 30 June 2004 levels, the
additional commitment in respect of subscriber escalation would be £265 million (US$483 million) (2003: £213 million (US$351 million)). The pounds sterling television
programme rights commitments include similar price escalation clauses that would result in additional commitments of £3 million (2003: nil) if subscriber numbers
were to remain at 30 June 2004 levels.

(ii) The third party payment commitments are in respect of distribution agreements for the television channels owned and broadcast by third parties, retailed by the Group
to DTH viewers (“Sky Distributed channels”) and are subject to price escalation clauses in accordance with the terms of certain of the distribution agreements and are for
periods of up to five years (2003: six years). The extent of the escalation, and hence of the commitments, is dependent upon the number of DTH subscribers to the relevant
Sky Distributed channels and, in certain cases, upon inflationary increases. If both the DTH subscriber levels to these channels and the rate payable for each Sky Distributed
channel were to remain at 30 June 2004 levels, the additional commitment in respect of subscriber escalation would be £844 million (2003: £799 million).

(b) Contingent liabilities
The Group has contingent liabilities by virtue of its investments in unlimited companies, or partnerships, which include Nickelodeon UK, The History Channel (UK),
Paramount UK and National Geographic Channel.

The Directors do not expect any material loss to arise from the above contingent liabilities.

(c) Contingent assets

Under the terms of one of the Group’s channel distribution agreements, British Sky Broadcasting Limited is entitled to receive a payment, between July and September
2006, equal to a proportion of the fair value of certain of the channels under that distribution agreement. The fair value of the channels is to be determined at the earlier
of contract termination and 30 June 2006. Accordingly, it is not yet possible to determine the value of the payment to be received.

(d) Guarantees
Two of the Group’s subsidiary undertakings, British Sky Broadcasting Limited (“BSkyB Limited”) and Sky Subscribers Services Limited, have given joint and several
guarantees in relation to the Company’s £600 million RCF and the US$650 million, US$600 million, US$300 million and £100 million Guaranteed Notes (see note 19).

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have undertaken, in the normal course of business, to provide support to several of the Company’s investments in both limited
and unlimited companies and partnerships, to meet their liabilities. Several of these undertakings contain financial limits. These undertakings have been given for at least
one year from the date of the signing of the UK statutory accounts of the related entity. A payment under these undertakings would be required in the event of an investment
being unable to pay its liabilities. The Company has provided parental company guarantees of £3 million to creditors of Sky Interactive. Additionally, BSkyB Limited has
provided letters of credit of £5 million to Sky Interactive Limited in respect of Sky Buy, which mature within four months of the year end.

The Company and various of its subsidiaries have agreed to provide additional funding to several of its investments in limited and unlimited companies and partnerships,
in accordance with funding agreements. Payment of this additional funding would be required if requested by the investees in accordance with the funding agreements.
The maximum potential amount of future payments which may be required to be made by the Company and various of its subsidiaries to its investments, in both limited
and unlimited companies and partnerships under the undertakings and additional funding agreements, is £9 million (2003: £15 million).
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Guarantees, contingencies and other financial commitments (continued)

(e) Leases and similar commitments
The minimum annual rentals under these arrangements are as follows:

Land and Plant and
buildings machinery Total
£m £m £m
Group
30 June 2004
Operating leases and similar arrangements which expire:
- within one year - 3 3
- between two and five years 3 52 55
- after five years 10 23 33
13 78 91
30 June 2003
Operating leases and similar arrangements which expire:
- within one year 1 b 5
- between two and five years 2 26 28
- after five years 8 35 43
11 65 76

Company
At 30 June 2004, the Company had minimum annual rentals for property under operating leases and similar arrangements which expire between two and five years of
£1 million (2003: £1 million).

Regulatory update

European Commission Investigation — Football Association Premier League Limited

On the basis of the performance by the Group of certain commitments given by the Group to the European Commission (concerning the future retailing and wholesaling
of the Group’s channels featuring live Premier League coverage), the European Commission has confirmed in a “comfort letter” that it has fully and finally settled its
investigations in connection with the Group’s bids for all rights in relation to Premier League matches throughout the 2004/05 to 2006/07 Football Association Premier
League (“FAPL”) seasons and any resulting agreements between the Group and the FAPL.

In accordance with its commitments to the European Commission, the Group conducted a tender process for a proposed sub-licence of six or eight live Premier League
matches per season to another broadcaster. On 12 May 2004, the Group announced that it had concluded the tender process and that none of the bids received had attained
the reserve price per match which the Group had previously agreed with the European Commission. The Group will not, therefore, sub-license those rights.

European Commission Investigation — Movie Contracts

The European Commission continues to investigate the terms on which movies produced by major US movie studios are supplied to distributors, including pay television
operators, throughout the European Union. The European Commission has not yet issued a Statement of Objections (the document in which it sets out the grounds on
which it considers the EU competition rules to have been breached) to the studios. The Group understands this has been delayed by procedural issues raised by a number
of the studios.

The Group is co-operating with this investigation. At this stage, the Group is unable to determine whether it will have a material effect on the Group.

European Commission Sector Inquiry - “New Media” Sports Rights

The European Commission has opened a sector inquiry regarding the conditions of provision of audio-visual content from sports events to internet and other “new media”
companies such as 3G mobile operators. The European Commission has stated that the purpose of its investigation is to gain as clear and wide a view as possible of the
availability of audio-visual sports rights in the European Union, so as to ascertain whether access by “new media” operators to such content is not unduly restricted.

The Group is co-operating with this investigation. At this stage, the Group is unable to determine whether it will have a material effect on the Group.
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26 Transactions with related parties and major shareholders

(a) Transactions with major shareholders
The Group conducts all business transactions with companies which are part of The News Corporation Limited group, a major shareholder, on an arm’s length basis:

- Fox Entertainment Group (“FEG”) supplied programming with a total value of £66 million in the year (2003: £63 million), the majority of which is supplied under
arrangements extending to December 2004, with a variable annual value dependent, among other things, on the number of films supplied. The Group also earned
£1 million (2003: £1 million) from FEG in respect of programming-related fees.

- NDS Limited (“NDS”) supplied smart cards and encryption services with a value of £55 million in the year (2003: £50 million) under a contract extending to September
2010. The Group also has a number of contracts with NDS for the supply of digital equipment, of which £3 million (2003: £4 million) was paid during the year.

- The Group earned £8 million from Broadsystem Ventures Limited (“BVL”") in respect of telephony services during the year (2003: £4 million). BVL and Broadsystem Limited
also supplied telephony services with a value of £1 million (2003: £3 million).

- News International plc provided media-based advertising services and rental premises at a cost to the Group in the year of £5 million (2003: £5 million). The Group also
earned £3 million (2003: £2 million) from News International plc for the provision of airtime.

- News America Incorporated recharged the Group for IT services with a value of £1 million in the year (2003: £1 million).

- Orbis Technology Limited and Visionik A/S supplied interactive and internet-based services of £4 million in the year (2003: £2 million).

- Rugby International Pty Limited, National Rugby League Investments Pty Limited and Global Cricket Corporation Pte Limited sold sports rights to the Group during the
year worth £5 million (2003: £4 million).

- Star Television Group (“Star”), Fox International Channels (UK) Limited (“Fox International”), Fox News Channel and Phoenix Chinese News and Entertainment paid the
Group £2 million during the year (2003: £1 million) for the provision of transponder capacity, uplinking and EPG facilities and marketing services. The Group paid Star
and Fox International £5 million (2003: £2 million) in respect of carriage fees for the supply of programming.

- ESPN Star Sports and Fancy A Flutter Limited paid the Group £1 million (2003: £1 million) of fees related to programming.

- The Group supplied consultancy services to Sky Italia during the year with a value of £1 million (2003: nil).

Balances payable to members of The News Corporation Limited group, analysed by activity:

2004 2003
£m £m
Programming 28 23
Telephony services 5 1
Supply of smart cards and encryption services 6 1
Advertising 1 -
L0 25
Balances receivable from members of The News Corporation Limited group, analysed by activity:
2004 2003
£m £m
Programming 1 -
Consultancy 1 -
2 -
(b) Transactions with joint ventures and associates
All transactions with joint ventures and associates are conducted on an arm’s length basis.
2004 2003
£m fm
Revenue 19 19
Operating costs 6L 64

Revenues are primarily generated from the provision of transponder capacity, and marketing and support services. Operating costs represent fees payable for channel carriage.

2004 2003

£m fm

Funding to joint ventures and associates (see note 13) 233 235
Amounts owed by joint ventures and associates (see note 17) 8 16
Amounts owed to joint ventures and associates (see note 18) 8 1

(c) Other transactions with related parties

Elisabeth Murdoch is the daughter of Rupert Murdoch, and sister to James Murdoch, both Directors of the Company, and has a controlling interest in Shine Entertainment
Limited, in which the Group also has a 3.5% equity shareholding. During the year, the Group incurred development and production costs for television of £5 million (2003:
£2 million) from Shine Entertainment Limited. At 30 June 2004, there were no outstanding amounts due to or from Shine Entertainment Limited (2003: nil).
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Notes to consolidated cash flow statement

(a) Reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows

Before
Before goodwill and

goodwill and  Goodwill and exceptional ~ Goodwill and 2003

exceptional exceptional 2004 items exceptional Total

items items Total as restated items as restated

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Operating profit 600 (119) 481 364 (116) 248

Depreciation 102 - 102 98 - 98

Amortisation of goodwill and other intangible fixed assets - 119 119 - 121 121

Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets 1 - 1 - - -

(Increase) decrease in stock (5) - (5) Ly - Ly

Decrease in debtors 17 - 17 88 - 88

Increase in creditors 170 - 170 66 - 66

Decrease in provision (3) - (3) (1) - (1)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 882 - 882 659 5 664

(b) Analysis of changes in net debt

At At

1 July 2003 Cash flow 30 June 2004

£m £m £m

Overnight deposits 33 40 73

Other cash 14 49 63

u7 89 136

Short-term deposits - 338 338

Commercial paper - 173 173

Cash and liquid resources 47 600 647

Debt due after more than one year (1,144) 75 (1,069)

Capital element of finance leases (8) 1 (7)

Total debt and capital element of finance leases (1,152) 76 (1,076)

Total net debt (1,105) 676 (429)
(c) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

2004 2003

£m £m

Increase (decrease) in cash 89 (3)

Increase (decrease) in short-term deposits 338 (1)

Increase in commercial paper 173 -

Cash outflow resulting from decrease in debt and lease financing 76 427

Decrease in net debt 676 423

Net debt at beginning of year (1,105) (1,528)

Net debt at end of year (429) (1,105)
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Notes to consolidated cash flow statement (continued)
(d) Major non-cash transactions
2004

Share premium reduction

On 10 December 2003, the High Court approved a reduction in the Company’s share premium account of £1,120 million, as approved by the Company’s shareholders at the
Annual General Meeting held on 14 November 2003. The reduction had the effect of eliminating the Company’s deficit on its profit and loss account as at 30 September
2003 of £1,106 million, and creating a non-distributable special reserve of £14 million, which represents the excess of the share premium reduction over the deficit.

WAPTV
On 30 September 2003, the Company issued 338,755 (2003: 169,375) Ordinary Shares to satisfy the remaining contingent consideration in respect of the acquisition of the
remaining 5% interest in WAPTV Limited which occurred in May 2001.

2003

Issue of shares - deferred consideration for BiB

On 11 November 2002, the Company issued 43.2 million shares with a fair value of £253 million to HSBC, Matsushita and BT in respect of deferred consideration for the
acquisition of the remaining 67.5% of BiB in May and June 2001.

Post balance sheet events

Potential legal claim

The Group anticipates issuing and serving a claim in the near future for a material amount against an information and technology solutions provider, which had provided
services to the Group as part of the Group’s investment in CRM software and infrastructure. The amount that will be recovered by the Group will not be finally determined
until resolution of the claim.

Capital investment programme

The Group intends to invest an additional approximately £450 million on capital expenditure over the four years to 30 June 2008, in order to support its long-term growth.
This is in addition to ongoing core maintenance capital expenditure which is expected to remain at about £100 million per annum over the same period. The additional
expenditure will principally relate to enhancements of Sky’s Osterley campus, a new call centre and training facility, and continuation of the current CRM and Advanced
Technology Centre projects.
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Notes to Financial Statements

continued

Principal Group investments

Name

Country of
incorporation

Description and proportion
of shares held (%)

Principal activity

Subsidiaries: Direct holdings

British Sky Broadcasting Limited
Sky Television Limited
Sports Internet Group Limited

British Interactive Broadcasting
Holdings Limited (a)

Subsidiaries: Indirect holdings

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

England and Wales

10,000,002 Ordinary Shares
of £1 each (100%)

13,376,982 Ordinary Shares
of £1 each (100%)
38,247,184 Ordinary Shares
of 5p each (100%)

651,960 Ordinary Shares
of £1 each (100%)

Operation of a pay television broadcasting service in the
United Kingdom and Ireland

Holding company

The provision of sports content, betting and e-commerce
services

The transmission of interactive services

Sky Subscribers Services Limited
Sky In-Home Service Limited
Hestview Limited

Sky Interactive Limited

Sky Ventures Limited

British Sky Broadcasting SA

Sky New Media Ventures Limited

Joint ventures

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales
Luxembourg

England and Wales

2 Ordinary Shares
of £1 each (100%)

1,576,000 Ordinary Shares
of £1 each (100%)

108 Ordinary Shares

of £1 each (100%)

2 Ordinary Shares

of £1 each (100%)

912 Ordinary Shares

of £1 each (100%)
12,500 Ordinary Shares
of £12 each (100%)
12,500 Ordinary Shares
of £1 each (100%)

The provision of ancillary functions supporting the satellite
television broadcasting operations of the Group

The supply, installation and maintenance of satellite
television receiving equipment

Licensed bookmakers

The provision of interactive television services
Holding company for joint ventures

Digital satellite transponder leasing company

Holding company for new media investments

Artsworld Channels Limited
Nickelodeon UK
The History Channel (UK)

Paramount UK (b), (e)
Australian News Channel Pty Limited

Granada Sky Broadcasting Limited (c), (f)
MUTV Limited (f)

National Geographic Channel (d)
Music Choice Europe plc (e)

Attheraces Holdings Limited (e)

Chelsea Digital Media Limited

England and Wales
England and Wales
England and Wales

England and Wales
Australia

England and Wales
England and Wales

England and Wales
England and Wales

England and Wales

England and Wales

630,315 Ordinary Shares
of £0.01 each (50%)

104 B Shares

of £0.01 each (50%)
50,000 A Shares

of £1 each (50%)
Partnership interest (25%)
1 Ordinary Share

of AUSS$1 (33.33%)

800 B Shares

of £1 each (80%)

100 B Shares

of £1 each (33.33%)
Partnership interest (50%)
44,001,120 Ordinary Shares
of £0.01 each (35.8%)

1,500 Ordinary Shares
of £1 each (50%),

20 Recoupment Shares

of £0.01 each

19,800 B Shares
of £0.01 each (20%)

and 5,360,174 football channel
redeemable preference shares

of £1 each

The transmission of arts programming

The transmission of children’s television channels

The transmission of history and biography television
programming

The transmission of general entertainment comedy channels
The transmission of a 24-hour news channel

The transmission of general entertainment channels

The transmission of the Manchester United football channel

The transmission of natural history and adventure channels
The transmission of audio music channels

The transmission of a horse racing channel and
related on-line activities

The production and marketing of the Chelsea Football
Club football channel

Notes

(a) 80.1% directly held by British Sky Broadcasting Group plc and 19.9% held by British Sky Broadcasting Limited.
(b) The registered address of Paramount UK is 180 Oxford Street, London W1D 1DS.

(c) The economic interest held in Granada Sky Broadcasting Limited is 49.5%.

(d) The registered address of National Geographic Channel is Grant Way, Isleworth, Middlesex TW7 5QD.
(e) These entities report their financial results for each 12 month period ending 31 December.

(f) These entities report their financial results for each 12 month period ending 30 September.
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Five Year Summary

Consolidated results

2003 2002 2001 2000
as restated as restated as restated as restated
2004 (i) (i) (i) (ii), (iii), (iv)
£m fm fm fm fm
DTH subscribers 2,660 2,341 1,929 1,537 1,189
Cable and DTT subscribers (i) 215 202 279 299 303
Advertising 312 284 251 271 242
Interactive 307 218 186 93 5
Other 162 141 131 106 108
Turnover 3,656 3,186 2,776 2,306 1,847
Operating expenses, net (ii) (3,056) (2,822) (2,590) (2,154) (1,762)
Goodwill amortisation (119) (121) (119) (44) -
Exceptional operating items - 5 (18) (23) (105)
Operating profit (loss) 481 248 49 85 (20)
Share of joint ventures’ and associates’ operating results (5) (76) (256) (122)
Joint ventures’ and associates’ goodwill amortisation, net 10 - (1,070) (101) (14)
Share of joint venture’s loss on disposal of fixed asset investments - - - (70) (14)
Profit (loss) on disposal of fixed asset investments 51 - 2 - (1)
Amounts written back to (written-off) fixed asset investments, net 24 (15) (60) (39) -
Release of provision (provision) for loss on disposal of subsidiary - - 10 (10) -
Net interest payable and similar charges (81) (114) (137) (132) (92)
Profit (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 480 122 (1,282) (523) (263)
Tax on profit (loss) on ordinary activities (iii) (158) 62 (107) (24) 65
Profit (loss) on ordinary activities after taxation 322 184 (1,389) (547) (198)
Statistics
Basic earnings (loss) per share 16.6p 9.6p (73.6p) (29.6p) (11.3p)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 16.6p 9.5p (73.6p) (29.6p) (11.3p)
Dividend per share
- interim 2.75p - - - -
- final 3.25p - - - -
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets (Em) 132 98 101 133 58
DTH subscribers ('000) 7,355 6,845 6,101 5,453 4,513
Cable subscribers ('000) (iv) 3,895 3,871 4,091 3,486 3,735
DTT subscribers ("000) (v) 3,084 1,510 - 1,105 740
Total subscribers ('000) 14,334 12,226 10,192 10,044 8,988
Average number of full-time equivalent employees 9,500 9,132 9,083 9,948 10,730
Capital employed £m £m fm £m £m
Fixed assets 828 956 1,087 2,392 1,859
Working capital (349) (202) (26) 8 32
Provisions, tax assets and creditors, and dividend creditor (iii) ()] 199 115 182 24
Net debt (429) (1,105) (1,528) (1,547) (1,145)
Net assets (liabilities) 90 (152) (352) 1,035 770

Notes
(i) From 2003, this relates solely to cable subscriber revenues.

(i) Operating expenses, net; operating profit (loss); profit (loss) on ordinary activities before taxation; profit (loss) on ordinary activities after taxation; fixed assets; working
capital and net assets (liabilities) for 2003, 2002, 2001 and 2000 were restated following the adoption by the Group of UITF 38, in the year ended 30 June 2004. Adoption
of UITF 38 also resulted in the recalculation of the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for 2003, 2002, 2001 and 2000.
(iii) The taxation credit for 2000 was restated following the adoption by the Group of FRS 19, “Deferred tax” in the year ended 30 June 2001. Adoption of FRS 19 resulted

in the recalculation of loss per share for 2000.

(iv) The cable subscribers disclosure for 2000 was restated in the year ended 30 June 2001 to include Ireland subscribers.
(v) From 2003, the Digital Terrestrial Television (“DTT”) subscriber number consists of BARB’s estimate of the number of homes with access to Freeview (the free DTT service
operating in the UK). Up until 2001, this subscriber number included all those subscribing to ITV Digital’s (previously On Digital’s) DTT service.
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Shareholder Information

Share price information

The Company’s share price is broadcast on SkyText on the Sky News channel on page
145, BBC Ceefax page 221 and on Channel 4 Teletext page 520, all under the prefix
BSkyB. It also appears in the financial columns of the national press.

The latest BSkyB share price is also available from the Financial Times Cityline
Service, on 0906 843 4816.

Shares on-line

Lloyds TSB Registrars provide a range of shareholder information on-line.
Shareholders can access their shareholdings and find advice on transferring
shares and updating their details at www.shareview.co.uk.

ShareGift

Shareholders who only have a small number of shares whose value makes it
uneconomic to sell them may wish to consider donating them to charity through
SharegGift, the independent charity share donation scheme (registered charity no.
1052686). Further information about ShareGift may be obtained from Lloyds TSB
Registrars or from ShareGift on 020 7337 0501 or at www.sharegift.org. There are
no implications for capital gains tax purposes (no gain or loss) on gifts of shares to
charity and it is also possible to claim income tax relief.

Shareholder enquiries

All administrative enquiries relating to shareholders, such as notification of change
of address or the loss of a share certificate, should be made to the Company’s
registrars, Lloyds TSB Registrars, whose address is given on the following page.

Dividends

Shareholders can have their dividends paid directly into a UK bank or building
society account with the tax voucher sent direct to their registered address. Please
contact Lloyds TSB Registrars for a dividend mandate form.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Company operates a Dividend Reinvestment Plan (“DRIP”) which enables
shareholders to buy the Company’s shares on the London stock market with their
cash dividend. Further information about the DRIP is available from Lloyds
TSB Registrars. The helpline number is 0870 241 3018 from inside the UK and
+414 1903 845 295 from overseas.

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

BREAKDOWN OF SHAREHOLDERS at June 2004
Fund Managers by Type

News UK Nominees Limited 35.33%
Fund Management Groups 34.28%
Other 11.32%

11.04%
4.06%
3.97%

Insurance Companies
Miscellaneous Banks
Pension Funds

BREAKDOWN OF SHAREHOLDERS at June 2004
Fund Managers by Location

News UK Nominees Limited 35.33%
London 27.86%
USA & Canada 15.01%
7.90%

Continental Europe
Other 7.79%

Scotland
Rest of UK and Eire

4.07%
2.04%

Board of Directors

Rupert Murdoch (Chairman)

Chase Carey

Jeremy Darroch (Chief Financial Officer) (i)

David DeVoe

David Evans

Nicholas Ferguson

Andy Higginson (ii)

Allan Leighton (Audit Committee Chairman)

James Murdoch (Chief Executive Officer)

Jacques Nasser (Remuneration Committee Chairman)

Gail Rebuck

Lord Rothschild (Deputy Chairman & Senior Independent Non-Executive Director)
Arthur Siskind

Lord St John of Fawsley

Martin Stewart (Chief Financial Officer) (iii)

Lord Wilson of Dinton (Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee Chairman)

(i) with effect from 16 August 2004
(i) with effect from 1 September 2004
(iii) until & August 2004

Company Secretary
David Gormley

Financial Calendar
Results for the financial year ending 30 June 2005

Q1 November 2004
Q2 February 2005
Q3 May 2005
Q4 August 2005
AGM November 2005

Company information
Registered office:

Grant Way

Isleworth

Middlesex TW7 5QD
Telephone 0870 240 3000

The Sky Website

The Sky website at www.sky.com details the Company’s product offering and provides
a link to BSkyB’s Corporate website where investor and media information can
be accessed.

Registrars

Lloyds TSB Registrars

The Causeway

Worthing

West Sussex BN99 6DA
Telephone 0870 600 3970
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Shareholder Information

American Depositary Receipts

BSkyB has an American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) programme. The ADRs trade
under the symbol BSY and each one is equivalent to four ordinary BSkyB shares.
The ADRs trade on the New York Stock Exchange.

For enquiries, please contact:

The Bank of New York

Investor Relations

P.0. Box 11258

Church Street Station

New York, NY 10286-1258

Telephone (US) 1-888-BNY-ADRS
Telephone (International) +1 (610) 382 7836
www.adrbny.com

Auditors

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Hill House

1 Little New Street
London EC4A 3TR

Principal Bankers
Royal Bank of Scotland
St. Andrew’s Square
Edinburgh EH2 2YB

Solicitors

Herbert Smith
Exchange House
Primrose Street
London EC2A 2HS

Company registration number
2247735

A large print or spoken version of this annual report is available.
If you would like to request a copy, please contact 08705 663333
(textphone 08702 401910).
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Glossary

Term Description

ACT Advance Corporation Tax

ARPU Average Revenue Per User: the average amount spent by the Group’s residential subscribers per year (excluding VAT)

Churn The rate at which subscribers relinquish their subscriptions, expressed as a percentage of total subscribers

CRM Customer Relationship Management

Digibox Digital satellite reception equipment

DTH Direct-to-Home: the transmission of satellite services with reception through a minidish

DTT Digital Terrestrial Television: digital signals delivered to homes through a conventional aerial, converted through a set-top box

EBITDA Earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation: calculated as operating profit before depreciation and
amortisation or impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

EPG Electronic Programme Guide

ESOP Employee Share Ownership Plan

Freeview The free DTT service operating in the UK

FRS Financial Reporting Standard

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standard

Minidish Satellite dish required to receive digital satellite television

Multichannel viewing share

Share of viewers of non-terrestrial television

Multiroom

Installation of a second digibox in the household of an existing subscriber

PVR Personal Video Recorder: satellite decoder which utilises a built-in hard disk drive to enable viewers to record without videotapes,
pause live television and record one programme while watching another

RCF Revolving Credit Facility

SAC Subscriber Acquisition Cost: the average amount invested when a new subscriber joins Sky Digital

SBO Sky Box Office: Sky’s pay-per-view service offering films, sporting events and concerts

Set-top box Digital satellite reception equipment

Sky British Sky Broadcasting Group plc and its subsidiary undertakings

Sky+ Sky’s fully integrated Personal Video Recorder (PVR) and satellite decoder

Sky Active The brand name for Sky’s transactional interactive television services, including e-mail / messaging, games, betting, shopping,
banking, travel services and ticket sales

Sky Bet Sky’s betting services, provided through digiboxes, the internet and the telephone

Sky Buy Interactive and internet shopping services

Sky Gamepad

Wireless digital television Games controller, enabling up to four people in a household to play simultaneously

Sky Gamestar

Interactive on-line games channel

Sky Talk

Low-cost home phone service provided exclusively for Sky digital subscribers

Terrestrial channels

Television channels which use analogue broadcasts to reach households via a conventional aerial. The UK currently has five terrestrial
channels: BBC 1, BBC 2, ITV, Channel &4 and five

Transmission costs

Costs of transmitting channels to subscribers

Transponder

Leased wireless communication devices on satellites which send programming signals to minidishes

UK GAAP

United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Principles

Viewing share

Percentage of audience viewing a channel
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Registered in England No. 2247735




